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Foreword 

We have been talking about the pressures on the NHS for many years now – rising levels of 

need, increasing costs, and shortages of staff. 

And we have also been wondering how the NHS responds to those pressures, as well as the 

changing expectations people have, including the potential of emerging technology. 

I’m pleased and proud to say that, during 2018/19, the conversation in Portsmouth changed. 

Instead of talking about why things must change, we have increasingly been talking about 

what we are actually doing to deliver the changes required instead. 

As this report will set out, this year has seen some key milestones passed in terms of turning 

the vision of our Health and Care Portsmouth blueprint – integrating services, and promoting 

independence - into tangible changes in the way that patients are cared for. 

I couldn’t possibly do justice, in a few words here, to all of the work that has been going on, 

but it is worth highlighting a few key achievements. The CCG plays a key role, of course, but 

it goes without saying that everything being achieved is only happening thanks to the skills 

and commitment of our wonderful partners across Portsmouth – in the NHS, the local 

authority, and the voluntary and community sector. 

Getting the IT right doesn’t usually hit the headlines, but it really matters, and across the city 

the NHS is in an infinitely stronger position than before. During this year, all GP practices 

and Solent NHS Trust (our community and mental health provider) have adopted the same 

system for storing patient information. With social care following suit in 2019/20 we are now 

at the point of delivering a single care record for people in the city, and that has big 

implications – patients not having to keep repeating their story over and over again, and staff 

able to make quicker, better decisions. A fundamental building block for everything we do in 

the future. 

That advance links to another key success – the city’s new integrated primary care service. 

This brings together home visiting, the out of hours provision, and the new enhanced access 

service, but it is not just a ‘tidying-up’. The shared IT record means frontline clinicians can 

instantly see the patient’s medical history, no matter who they are, so the service is better 

and safer, as well as more efficient. 

We have started to transform the way we support people living in care homes too – a pilot 

project is testing out a more integrated way of caring for this vulnerable group, and the early 

signs are encouraging. The new approach should be good for everyone – patients get better 

care, care home staff get better support, and the NHS faces fewer emergency situations. 

Just one more example for now – all city practices are now part of the new triage system for 

‘MSK’ problems – usually bad backs. Traditionally patients with back problems (and there 

are a lot of them!) wait to see a GP, only to be put on a new waiting list to see a physio – bad 

for the patient, and not great for the GP either. Now, patients from across Portsmouth can 

access physiotherapy directly – another practical solution which benefits patients and staff. 
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The pace of change will not drop in 2019/20. During the last 12 months we have been 

getting ready to test out better ways of supporting people living with long term conditions, 

and a new approach to helping people who are struggling to cope with life’s stresses and 

strains. Both should be up and running within months. 

Individual changes do not make the pressures we face simply disappear, but they show that 

we are working with partners to develop and deliver solutions. Helped by our continuing 

success in controlling finances, we can focus squarely on the essential tasks of building 

better relationships and improving services. 

During 2018/19 health and care services have been working together more closely, and the 

foundations are in place for that success to continue into 2019/20 and beyond.  

 

Dr Elizabeth Fellows 

Chair of Governing Board 

NHS Portsmouth CCG  
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SECTION 1 PERFORMANCE REPORT 

This section of the annual report provides an overview of our performance across our range 

of responsibilities between 1st April 2018 and 31st March 2019. These include our main areas 

of focus over the past year (section 1.3), our performance against important national targets, 

and actions we have taken to improve this (section 1.4). Later sections of the report provide 

updates on some of our other key statutory requirements and responsibilities including 

sustainability (1.5), quality (1.6), how we have engaged with patients, public and our key 

stakeholders (1.7), and reducing inequalities (1.8). 

1.1 Overview 

Established in April 2013, the CCG is responsible for commissioning (or planning, buying, 

and ensuring the quality of) healthcare services in Portsmouth including hospital care, 

primary care (provided in local GP surgeries), urgent and emergency care, and most 

community health services, including mental health and learning disabilities. We commission 

for a population of around 224,500 people spending around £319 million per annum. Our 

geographical boundaries match those of Portsmouth City Council. 

We are a membership organisation, led by five local GPs elected to represent all the GP 

practices in the city.  

In short, we want people who live in the city to be able to lead longer and healthier lives 

knowing that, when they need help, they can get it quickly and easily with the minimum of 

fuss. Our role is to ensure that, through working with every GP surgery in the city, as well as 

local organisations that provide, or support the provision of, health and care services and our 

public, Portsmouth people have access to the best possible NHS care as and when they 

need it 

1.2 The context in which we work – Health and Care Portsmouth 
 

Health and Care Portsmouth is an ambitious programme that is already changing the way 

we plan and provide health and social care in the city. It builds on the work that the NHS and 

the council have already undertaken together, to bring services together in a way that is 

positive and proactive. In effect, we want to support people to live healthy, safe and 

independent lives by offering health and social care services that are joined up and provided 

in the right place, at the right time. 

 

We are doing this because it matters to people locally and we know that it will make a 

measurable difference to their lives. Talking to those who use our services, there is one 

consistent message we hear – that we must continue to bring services together in a way that 

makes sense for the individual but also allows front-line professionals to deliver care in a 

way that is not restricted by professional, organisational or financial boundaries.  

 

A constant refrain from our Big Health Conversation engagement programme, carried out 

with individuals and groups locally, is for us to deliver services where people cannot see, or 

have to be concerned by, the join. Whether it is services relating to urgent care, mental 
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health, support from GP practices, care for the frail elderly or adult social care the most 

common themes we hear about are disjointed services, difficulties with communication 

between different parts of the system or gaps in the range of provision, and these are things 

we want to put right.  

 

We hear similar things from staff working locally too, both in primary care and in community 

services in particular, and, alongside this, we know there is much more that can be done to 

improve efficiency, so that we can continue to live within our means, and quality, so that 

people locally can receive the kind of safe, effective care that they would expect. 

 

So, our strategy is based on joining up (integrating) services around the care of each 

individual, building on the well-known, well-established services that Portsmouth people 

know and use. However, we are not afraid to significantly transform these where the 

evidence supports this.  

 

Primary and community care is at the core of our strategy. We recognise and value the 

contribution made by GPs and all primary care professionals to health & care in Portsmouth 

and understand they are highly valued by patients. GPs and pharmacists are the main point 

of contact for the majority of patients and their skills are essential for all aspects of health 

care, including health education and health promotion. 

 

It is an ambitious programme because we have set ourselves a five year target of ensuring 

that people will: 

 be able to access effective services to meet their goals to manage their own health 

and stay well and independent; 

 be able to plan ahead and keep control at times of crisis in their health and care; 

 spend less time in hospital and institutional care; 

 access responsive services which help them to maintain their independence; 

 have access to the right information and support about services available; 

 have access to simple, effective services when they have an urgent health, care or 

welfare need; 

 have a strong voice about how services are designed and delivered; 

 feel confident that their care is coordinated and that they only have to tell their story 

once; 

 benefit from the use of technology to help them stay well and independent. 

 

The aims of Health & Care Portsmouth fit with the guidance and recommendations outlined 

in the NHS Long Term Plan published early in 2019 (the successor plan to the Five Year 

Forward View), and the vision of our local Hampshire and Isle of Wight Sustainability & 

Transformation Programme (STP). 

 

Our single vision and blueprint for Health and Care Portsmouth is underpinned by shared 

teams and posts as well as pooled funds in some instances. 
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The CCG and Portsmouth City Council have a clear focus on improving the health and life 

experiences of the people of Portsmouth whilst recognising that in order to do this we must 

continue to work as part of wider care partnerships and systems.  

 

Across the Hampshire & Isle of Wight region all NHS and Local Authority partners are 

considering how they will need to change to further promote integrated delivery of services 

for their residents. This is already well established in Portsmouth and this places the city in a 

good position to continue to deliver improvements for residents and also be an active partner 

in shaping these wider regional reforms. 

 

The CCG and the Council already work closely together to deliver many health and care 

responsibilities, including:  

 Portsmouth Health and Well-being Board providing politically accountable, multi-

agency strategic governance 

 A single vision and blueprint for ‘Health & Care Portsmouth’ with an underpinning 

executive and work programmes  

 Health & Care Portsmouth Executive Group, providing senior officer input across 

NHS, public health, adults and children's services and community safety  

 Integrated commissioning team with single planning and programmes and pooled 

resources including a joint approach to the Better Care Fund programme which pools 

resources far beyond the minimum national requirement  

 A single shared continuing health care team for adults with shared staff, one process 

and pooled resources  

 Delivery of a number of enabling and support functions by the Council to the CCG  

 Integrated executive leadership through the appointment of a shared Chief of Health 

& Care Portsmouth who oversees the care systems working for the City and 

manages adult social care alongside CCG commissioning responsibilities. 

 

In the later part of the year the CCG and Council committed to advance our integration plans 

with the aim to further strengthen leadership for health & care in Portsmouth and achieve a 

better focus on outcomes for people in the City. This was set out in a revised operating 

model for health and care Portsmouth.  

 

Changes that will be implemented in 2019 include moving to a more integrated single 

executive team for the shared health and care responsibilities of the Council and CCG which 

will act as a single ‘voice of the City’. This will also see the establishment of a new strategic 

commissioning committee.  

 

But, the Health and Care Portsmouth approach is far more than just the Council and CCG 

working together more closely. The Portsmouth Primary Care Alliance (PPCA – a local body 

that represents the city’s GP practices), and our local providers Solent NHS Trust and 

Portsmouth Hospitals NHS Trust, are a vital component in all that we are trying to achieve. 

We continue to appreciate their co-operation, together with that of our member practices, our 

partners and stakeholders and the patients, carers and members of the public who have 

been willing to share their views on local services with us. This is really important in helping 
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us develop important and exciting new approaches to the way that health and care is 

delivered in the city.   

The NHS, locally and nationally, continues to face a great many challenges in terms of a 

growing and more complex demand on services, pressures on finance, and difficulties in 

recruiting skilled staff. There is much we must do if we are to deliver the requirements of the 

NHS Long Term Plan and our local Health and Care Portsmouth ambitions.  

Other partnership working 

In addition to the way we are forging partnerships through Health and Care Portsmouth, the 

CCG also works in a commissioning partnership with NHS Fareham and Gosport and NHS 

South Eastern Hampshire CCGs. This focuses mainly on shared approaches to working with 

Portsmouth Hospitals NHS Trust, as the provider of hospital-based services in our area. The 

three CCGs also share teams for the delivery of certain functions, notably: performance and 

planning, finance, communications and Emergency Planning Response & Resilience 

(EPRR). 

 

Portsmouth and South East Hampshire Integrated Care Partnership  

The three CCGs also work as part of a wider Integrated Care Partnership (ICP) for 

Portsmouth and South East Hampshire which includes all NHS providers (including primary 

care) delivering health services for people for the area. Both Portsmouth City Council and 

Hampshire County Council are members of this Integrated Care Partnership.  

 

The ICP has a clear improvement plan for the residents of Portsmouth and south east 

Hampshire within some clearly defined objectives. These are  

 

 To deliver long-term improvements in health and care outcomes, supporting 

residents to stay well, reducing inequalities and reducing avoidable illness.  

 

 To improve the quality and safety of health and care services, with all services 

assessed by the CQC and Ofsted to be ‘good’ or better, and increasing proportions 

of people reporting a positive experience of, and greater involvement in their care.  

 

 To deliver the agreed waiting time standards for health and care services, by 

making fast and tangible progress in urgent and emergency care reform, 

strengthening general practice, community and social care services, improving 

mental health and planned care services.  

 

 To manage services within the money available, delivering substantial system 

efficiencies and moderating the growth in demand for health and care services. 
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1.3 Reviewing our year 
This is our sixth annual report covering the work that we do in designing, developing and 

ensuring the delivery of health services for people who live in Portsmouth. 

 

This section highlights some of the primary areas of focus for us over the past 12 months as 

a CCG and working jointly within the Health and Care Portsmouth programme.  

Continuing to deliver our Health and Care Portsmouth programme 

As we have described earlier in this report, Health and Care Portsmouth is the name of our 

ambitious local programme which is already changing the way we plan and provide health 

and social care in the city. It aims to support people to live healthy, safe and independent 

lives by offering health and social care services that are joined up and provided in the right 

place, at the right time. In so doing it sets our intended future vision for services and fosters 

strong partnership working, bringing together organisations throughout the city and enabling 

them to work together to transform health and care services.  

Building on the effective working relationships that have been established over recent years, 

the Portsmouth Primary Care Alliance, Solent NHS Trust, the CCG and Portsmouth City 

Council (PCC) have made a commitment to work together to meet the challenges facing 

health and care services in the city.  

Organisations were given encouragement, initially through the NHS Five Year Forward View 

and more recently through the NHS Long Term Plan, to develop an approach by which we 

can deliver stronger, more robust services through a more ambitious integration of primary, 

community, social care and even some hospital services.  

Beginning to dissolve traditional boundaries between organisations enables us to use 

resources more effectively and harness new ways of working, for example making best use 

of digital technology, as our work with developing a system for integrating care records for 

Portsmouth residents has shown.  

Patients will benefit in other ways, too, as, with the right joint support around them, we can 

encourage people to become more engaged, willing and able to manage aspects of their 

conditions themselves, with the support of an extended primary care team, personalising 

their care to meet their needs.  

Over the past year we have made some really positive progress with some of our initial 

Health and Care Portsmouth programmes of work.  

We have shared our progress with primary care colleagues and staff from within the 

participating organisations at a series of workshop events and the illustration below identifies 

some of the posters used at these events to highlight the initiatives. We plan to do further 

engagement work, internally and with the public, during 2019/20. 
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Health and Care 
Portsmouth – 
our progress 
 
 
 
Examples of  
illustrative posters we 
have used to support 
events we have run 
with GPs and others 
to share some of our 
early work on our 
Health and Care 
Portsmouth schemes 
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Some of our Health and Care 

Portsmouth successes this year… 

 

One 

system for 

storing 

patient 

information 

 

Over the summer we were able to announce that all GP surgeries in 

Portsmouth now use the same IT system – paving the way for patients to 

get more joined-up, efficient care.  

 

This means they share a standard clinical system for everything from 

storing patient records to booking appointments. The community and 

mental health teams run by Solent NHS Trust also now use that same 

system, and adult social care staff have also recently followed suit. 

 

The IT overhaul has direct benefits for the quality of care that frontline 

teams can give to their patients, and should also reduce the frustrations of 

patients who have regularly had to explain their whole medical history every 

time they see a new doctor or nurse. In the past, city residents using the 

out-of-hours service would be seen or spoken to by a clinician who could 

not see their notes. Now they can immediately access the patient’s full 

record, no matter which practice they are registered with.  

 

GPs can now easily access records kept by other healthcare professionals, 

such as community nurses, to see – for example – whether their patients 

are waiting for test results, or have other appointments pending. In turn, 

community-based teams can also easily view a wider range of information 

about their patients.  

 

Getting all of our practices onto the same patient record system is a huge 

step forward, and will really open the door so that we can press ahead with 

joining up services for patients.  

 

Extended 

access 

scheme 

working for 

Portsmouth  

 

Our new 24/7 Integrated Primary Care Service (IPCS), launched in June, 

had already had more than 20,000 patient contacts in its first seven months 

of operation.  

 

The service offers people registered with a city GP practice improved 

choice and access to out-of-hours care. It has linked three services for 

patients needing urgent out-of-hospital care: 

 Acute visiting service (AVS) – a home visiting service for all 

Portsmouth GP registered patients needing urgent but non-

emergency care; 
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 The extended access service –

providing routine medical 

provision from Mondays to 

Saturdays to registered patients 

outside core hours until 8pm, and 

urgent, same-day appointments 

until 10pm every day; 

 Out-of-Hours provision – 

accessed through the NHS 111 

service, with GP care provided 

overnight from 10pm to 8am. 

 

We commission the service from the 

Portsmouth Primary Care Alliance Ltd 

(PPCA), which represents GP practices. 

 

Patients registered at a city GP practice can now not only access routine 

appointments in-hours at their own GP surgeries as usual - but now also 

make weekday evening and Saturday appointments at a GP hub at Lake 

Road Health Centre in central Portsmouth. 

 

New figures show that the number of people accessing the service is 

around 3,000 a month on average and feedback from patients has been 

very positive. 

 

Positive 

impact 

from new 

care 

homes 

team  

The work of our enhanced care home 

team continues to have a positive 

impact. The multi-disciplinary team 

provides each of the homes with 

proactive support to help manage the 

needs of residents and to assist staff in 

recognising any changing needs, which 

helps to reduce the likelihood of 

residents requiring urgent care. 

 

The team includes a GP, pharmacist, 

community nurse and member of the 

care home team, supported by a range 

of other professionals. Two homes were 

involved in the initial pilot phase of the 

programme but six more were due to 

join the programme before the end of 

March.  

 

Compared to last year, having the team in place has already led to a 

reduction in urgent calls to GPs of 70%, while the number of ambulance 

conveyances from the homes to A&E has reduced by half. The care homes 
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have also reported greater confidence amongst staff in being better able to 

support residents. 

 

Hub 

approach 

may 

benefit 

people with 

long-term 

conditions 

 

The CCG has been working with city 

partners on plans to develop a long-

term conditions ‘hub’ in Portsmouth in 

the spring of 2019. The approach will 

start as a trial, involving two GP 

practices (Portsdown and East Shore), 

and is intended to provide support to 

specific, defined groups of people who 

are living with diabetes and respiratory 

illness.  

 

We want this new approach to: 

 combine both clinical and 

wellbeing support, to recognise 

the importance of maintaining 

good emotional health for those 

living with long term illness;  

 deliver greater consistency in the quality of care;  

 support patients in giving them confidence to manage their 

condition; and also to  

 involve the voluntary sector in delivering holistic support.  

 

Staff from the practices will be involved in supporting the hub approach, 

alongside specialist staff from the Trusts. There have been several pieces 

of public engagement looking at the support of people living with long-term 

conditions in recent years, the results of which are informing the 

development of this initiative.  

 

Launching 

social 

prescribing 

in the city 

 

Our ‘Social Prescribing Portsmouth’ scheme opened its doors in November 

2018, and since then it has already helped more than one hundred people.  

 

Social prescribing and community-based support is part of the NHS Long-

Term Plan’s commitment to promote and endorse personalised care across 

the health and care system. Personalised care means people have choice 

and control over the way their care is planned and delivered, based on what 

matters’ to them and their individual strengths and needs.  

 

Social prescribing involves helping patients to improve their health, well-

being and social welfare by connecting them to community services which 

might be run by the council or a local charity through a link worker.  When 

social prescribing works well, people can be easily referred to local social 

prescribing link workers from a wide range of local agencies, including 

general practice. 
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Portsmouth has a huge variety of formal services and informal community 

groups that are all beneficial to our day to day lives and help to keep us 

well. Social prescribing plays a vital role in supporting people to take the 

first step, usually through the link worker, who can help people learn about 

what possibilities are available to them and design their own personalised 

solutions. By co-producing their ‘social prescription’, people with social, 

emotional or practical needs are supported to find solutions which will 

improve their health and wellbeing. 

 

  

 

Other initiatives we have been pursuing this year  

 Working together on urgent care services 

Health and care organisations across Portsmouth and South East Hampshire have been 

working closely together to manage demand pressures for urgent care services over the 

year, and particularly in preparation for winter.  

 

The planning work we undertook as a health and care partnership (involving all CCGs, 

provider Trusts and local authorities working in the Portsmouth and south east Hampshire 

area) began much earlier than in previous years and this enabled us to develop and agree a 

comprehensive plan for winter, with clear actions identified to be taken by all system 

partners working collaboratively. 

 

As a result, there have been encouraging signs of improvement on last year during 

November, December and the early part of January, although clearly we have a long way to 

go in terms of bringing our performance levels fully up to the standard required of us 

nationally and that patients, locally, should expect.  

 

Obviously the unstinting and collective efforts of our health and care staff has been a major 

factor in this improved position and we are, as always, very grateful to them for the 

contribution they have made.  

 

The plan set out a number of objectives which covered specific service delivery areas and 

included actions to address the issues that caused particular difficulty last year: capacity, 

discharge plans, four-hour wait performance and ambulance handover delays. It also sought 

to reduce the risks posed by flu for both our staff and our local communities.  

 

All NHS and care organisations had a role to play in the delivery of the winter plan, which 

was managed directly by system leaders and the A&E delivery board. A key aim within the 

plan was to reduce the capacity gap in acute hospital bed provision from its peak last year of 

144 beds, through improving the way complex discharges are achieved, in both the 

Portsmouth and Hampshire systems. 
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The specific Portsmouth element of this plan focused on the release of 23 acute beds, 

together with a reduction in the number of medically fit for discharge (MFFD) patients waiting 

from the weekly baseline position of 49 per week, down to a target of 30 per week. 

 

Funding received from a Department of Health and Social Care grant enabled adult social 

care services to support the winter plan by improving the social care response to Portsmouth 

residents through three specific schemes: 

 

 Increasing assessment capacity in social work within Queen Alexandra Hospital to 

prevent delays in medically fit for discharge patients being able to leave hospital 

 Investing in an additional 350 hours of domiciliary care locally to prevent delays for 

people being discharged into the community when in need of domiciliary care and 

 Increasing therapy capacity within the Portsmouth Rehabilitiation and Reablement 

Team to support the management of people being supported through the domiciliary 

care resource highlighted above. 

 

Whilst we cannot yet demonstrate a sustained and consistent reduction in the number of 

medically fit patients leaving hospital when ready to do so, the impact these initiatives had 

was to significantly reduce the overall length of stay for many patients, meaning they spent 

far less time in hospital than might otherwise have been the case.  

 

This meant, too, that there was less risk of people’s social care needs increasing while they 

waited to be discharged from hospital. 

 

Overall, the funding enabled the Council and the CCG to work together to better manage 

winter pressures this year. It helped to reduce the length of stay and allowed for sustained 

performance levels that helped the Council to meet an increase in demand that would not 

have otherwise been managed, whilst continuing to reduce residential and nursing home 

placements. 

 

Alongside this, Portsmouth Hospitals NHS Trust was able to demonstrate: 

 a significant reduction in the number of 12 hour trolley waits over the winter period  

 a bed occupancy rate noticeably lower over the Christmas period than the previous 

year 

 a significant reduction in the number of bed days lost to medically fit patients 

remaining in hospital, from a summer peak of 51 Portsmouth patients and 583 bed 

days in early August 2018 to 41 patients and 231 bed days seven months later in 

February. 

 

Clearly we are keen to ensure that the encouraging early signs of progress with the plan 

continue, but the challenges remain significant for this area.  

 

The Health & Care Portsmouth proposal for 2019/20 is to sustain current levels of 

performance and achieve a greater reduction in numbers of medically fit patients remaining 

in the QA hospital as 2019 progresses.   
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The collaborative working and relationships across health and social care have been really 

positive but we recognise the areas where we can improve further and planning for next 

winter has already begun. 

 

It was also particularly encouraging to hear that Portsmouth Hospitals NHS Trust is set to 

receive around £58m of Government funding to redevelop its A&E and urgent care facilities 

at Queen Alexandra Hospital, which will transform the way services are delivered in the 

area.  

 

It provides the opportunity to offer a much higher quality environment to improve the 

experience of patients and, indeed, staff who work in the various services there. 

 

 Home First – safe discharge for assessment at home 

The CCG has been working with a range of partners to implement a Home First programme 

which aims to help patients to get home from hospital sooner. 

  

Similar approaches across the country have clearly demonstrated that patients who no 

longer have medical or nursing needs that require acute hospital care can be safely 

discharged to their own home for assessment of their longer term health and care support 

needs. 

 

This approach sees hospital staff working collaboratively with colleagues in community and 

social care to enable patients to be discharged with enough support to meet their immediate 

care needs and for any assessments required to determine longer term needs to be 

undertaken in the patient’s home. 

   

The programme launched in September 2018 across all acute and community hospital 

wards in the Portsmouth and South East Hampshire area. 

 

When in hospital, older adults can quickly lose mobility and ability to complete everyday 

tasks such as washing and dressing. In fact, ten days in hospital (acute or community) can 

lead to the equivalent of ten years ageing in the muscles of people aged over 80 years of 

age.  

 

Home First enables the right level of support to be in place so patients can feel confident, 

independent and supported in making decisions about their long term care, and future, at 

home.  

 

 Mental health services joining forces to support wellbeing and crisis initiatives  

The CCGs in Portsmouth, Fareham and Gosport and South Eastern Hampshire have agreed 

a fundamental change with Southern Health NHS Foundation Trust and Solent NHS Trust to 

the way mental health crisis services will be delivered.  

 

This has followed several months of careful observation around the way teams are currently 

working, examination of processes and records, and over 150 hours of workshops and 

consultation involving hundreds of patients/service users, carers and staff discussing how 
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services should look in the future and particularly how people would access community 

mental health services.  

 

The new service will combine the Southern and Solent crisis teams into a single service 

model that improves responsiveness and consistency for adults of all ages. The service is 

due to be up and running by summer 2019 and will deliver benefits such as:  

 24/7 needs led crisis service with response time standards  

 Self-referral to support self-determination of crisis  

 Support for carers  

 Peer support to promote hope and recovery  

 

A supported workforce with the right skills to deliver person centred support and empower 

self-care. 

 

Meanwhile, within the city, work between the CCG, Solent NHS Trust, Portsmouth City 

Council, and Solent Mind, is well-advanced in the development of a centre for better 

emotional and mental health in the city.  

 

The centre will bring NHS and voluntary and community sector services together under one 

roof, offering booked appointments and drop-in sessions, individual consultations and group 

discussions.  

 

It aims to help city residents who are facing a wide range of challenges – from bereavement 

to work-related stress, from isolation and loneliness to the fall-out from a relationship 

breakdown. The local NHS has already heard a great deal of feedback from patients and 

service users in recent years about how services should be – easy to access, helping people 

before they reach crisis rather than after they become more ill, being able to talk to people 

who have lived through similar problems. 

 

And so this service is part of the drive not just to improve mental health support in the city, 

but also the wider effort to build a stronger network of services, designed to keep people 

healthy and resilient. 

 

We want people to feel that there is somewhere they can go to, when they are feeling under 

pressure, that is open, welcoming, and there to help. We wanted to bring teams, services 

and organisations together in a new way, and we hope that the new centre will give 

Portsmouth residents a new way of getting support which works for them.  

 

 eConsult scheme speeds up patient access to their GP practice 

A significant number of Portsmouth’s GP practices are offering patients a new ‘fast 

response’ online consultation – in a bid to improve access to services. 

 

They have introduced eConsult which involves the GP practice responding to online 

enquiries – usually within forty eight hours, often saving patients the need to book routine 

appointments. 
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Patients simply go on to their GP practice website, visit the online services and choose an 

option about whether they want help for their condition, admin help or general advice – 

which may involve online advice direct from their GP. 

 

The questions are the same ones a GP would ask in a face-to-face appointment. 

 

The practice will assess to see if they can give the patient self-care advice, or whether an 

appointment is required or the patient needs a prescription which could be sent to direct to 

the local pharmacist. 

 

Whilst it’s early days for the scheme in Portsmouth, it is helping to ease pressure on GPs by 

reducing requests for face-to-face appointments. More than 75% of patients who have used 

the service in Portsmouth have said they are very satisfied with it.  

 

The approach allows a GP to plan investigations prior to a consultation to shorten the time it 

takes to sort some problems out, and often people have a simple question that can be 

answered by email so that no-one has to be available to answer their phone during a 

working day.  

 

It is hoped that eConsult will be one way we can ease pressure on GPs by reducing the 

number of patients who are asking for appointments, often because they just need 

reassurance over an issue. 

 

 Encouraging signs as antibiotic prescriptions fall 

Nearly 9000 fewer prescriptions for antibiotics were issued in Portsmouth this year. In the 

year from November 2016 to October 2017, 132,168 antibiotic prescriptions were issued by 

GPs in the city, but from November 2017 to October 2018, this fell to 123,376. 

This is really positive news and highlights the work undertaken by our medicines 

optimisation team and local GP practices in supporting a national drive to reduce antibiotic 

use. The fall in prescribing also suggests that we are all gaining a better understanding of 

when antibiotics should – and should not - be prescribed. 

Antibiotics are essential to medical treatment and help treat bacterial infections, such as 

pneumonia and meningitis. We want to keep antibiotics working so that they are effective 

when they are needed to treat serious bacterial infection such as pneumonia and meningitis, 

and we also need them to prevent and treat infections during chemotherapy and certain 

surgeries.  

Common infections such as colds, flu, most sore throats, coughs and some ear infections 

are inconvenient, but they are often due to viruses – put simply, antibiotics are of no use in 

treating viral illnesses. A pharmacist can suggest things you can do yourself to help with 

symptomatic relief and provide useful advice. 

 Medicines optimisation 

Medicines play a crucial role in maintaining health, preventing illness, managing chronic 

conditions and treating disease. It is crucial that patients get the best quality outcomes from 
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medicines, yet a considerable body of evidence suggest that medicines optimisation (safety, 

efficiency and cost) needs to be improved.  

The Kings Fund published a paper highlighting the issue of poly-pharmacy (taking multiple 

medicines) which may be either inappropriate or problematic. Apart from the benefits and 

risks to patients, there is also the financial implication. This shift in medicines use is a 

national priority but the principle reasons for change are mirrored locally. The third Global 

Patient Safety Challenge from the World Health Organisation, ‘Medication Without Harm’, 

will increase the national drive to improve medication safety and the CCG’s Medicines 

Optimisation Team is linked in with NHS Innovation work in this area. 

Practice visits: The CCG’s support pharmacists and technicians have been working closely 

with the GP prescribing leads on a programme of practice prescribing visits, accompanied by 

data and analysis tailored to each practice.  

Engagement with GP practices: As well as practice-based support, the Medicines 

Optimisation Team provides GP Prescribing evenings, where each practice prescribing lead 

attends educational sessions led by local specialists. These are valuable forums for allowing 

GPs to discuss prescribing issues, encourage peer support and review performance. In 

addition, we have attained excellent engagement with the many GP practice clinical 

pharmacists that are employed in the majority of Portsmouth practices.  

Examples of work programme outcomes in 2018/19 include: 

Access to innovation: such as National Institute for Health and Care Excellence approved 

medicines and supporting National Institute for Health and Care Excellence guidance 

implementation. 

Successful adoption of recommendations: from the Portsmouth and South East Hampshire 

Area Prescribing Committee and the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence 

Technology Appraisals. 

Patients taking their medicines correctly: Highlighting the opportunity available to patients to 

have a free medicine use review or a new medicine service provided by their regular 

Community Pharmacist. We are also looking to introduce the Transfer of Care Around 

Medicines (TCAM) programme within the area over the next year or so. Promoting self-care 

among the CCG’s communities is a key theme across all of its work, including medicines 

management. 

Avoiding taking unnecessary medicines, reduced wastage of medicines, improved medicines 

safety: GP practices have worked with the CCG to identify patients at risk from potentially 

inappropriate polypharmacy by undertaking medication reviews. The patients identified for 

the reviews were prompted by reviewing the practices’ relative performance in national 

polypharmacy comparisons. Areas included were anticholinergic burden, drugs harmful to 

renal function, multiple antiplatelet / anticoagulant use as well as high polypharmacy. 

Reduction and appropriate use of all general antibiotics: GP practices have worked closely 

with the CCG team to audit antibiotic prescribing in primary care and implement 

Antimicrobial Stewardship. In 2018/19 the CCG’s overall position for prescribed antibiotics 
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has achieved all national targets. The CCG aims to continue to work collaboratively across 

the system with all our health care providers to implement Antimicrobial Stewardship.  

Care home medication reviews: Moving on from previous year’s work undertaking 

medication reviews in care homes; the Medicines Optimisation team are now providing 

polypharmacy reviews as part of a Multidisceplenary team. This work is having great 

success in reducing admissions to hospital and also reducing the need for the Care Home to 

contact GP practices.  

 Emergency Preparedness, Resilience and Response (EPRR) 

We plan for, and respond to, a wide range of incidents that could impact on health or patient 

care. These could be anything from a prolonged period of severe pressure on services, 

extreme weather conditions, an outbreak of an infectious disease, a major transport accident 

or industrial action.  

We share Emergency Preparedness Resilience and Response (EPRR) responsibilities 

across six CCGs (Portsmouth, South Eastern Hampshire, North Hampshire, Fareham & 

Gosport, Isle of Wight and West Hampshire).  

We work together (through a service level agreement) to deliver the CCGs’ responsibilities 

as ‘category 2’ responders under the Civil Contingencies Act 2004. We have 24/7 on call 

rotas and incident response plans which has been formally agreed by each 

organisation.  We are required to self-assess against the NHS core standards, including 

Business Continuity Plans, and this report forms part of our formal reporting process. 

Amongst the responsibilities we must fulfill collectively are: 

 Working with the Hampshire & Isle of Wight Local Health Resilience Partnership 

(LHRP).  This is a strategic emergency planning meeting of all the NHS organisations 

from across Hampshire and the Isle of Wight. It is co-chaired by the Operations and 

Delivery director for NHS England South (South East) and the Hampshire Director of 

Public Health; the CCGs have attended meetings throughout the year. The LHRP 

has produced a strategy and work plan for the year and has carried out an annual 

review of progress 

 Participating in training and testing exercises which are used to test response plans 

 Assisting with the local co-ordination of emergencies in partnership with NHS 

England South (South East) 

 Ensuring a 24 hour, seven days a week on-call system 

 Ensuring compliance with the national core standards for EPRR for both CCG 

and NHS funded healthcare providers. 

Together with our NHS provider organisations we completed a self-assessment of 

compliance with the NHS EPRR core standards. The CCGs have incident response plans in 

place, which are fully compliant with the NHS Commissioning Board Emergency 

Preparedness Framework 2015. The CCGs regularly review and make improvements to 

their plans and there is a programme for testing, the results of which are reported to the 

Governing Body.  
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During 2018/19 the CCGs supported the local health systems and wider multi-agency 

partners in several incidents. These included severe weather events – both the heatwave 

and snow, and incidents that occurred elsewhere in Hampshire, including a significant power 

failure at an acute trust, and a warehouse fire in Andover.   

The CCGs have also been working closely with multi-agency partners in planning for the 

impact on patients and health services in the event of the UK leaving the European Union 

without a deal, as well as many large public events including music festivals, such as 

Victorious, and the commemoration events planned for the 75th anniversary of D-Day later 

this year. 

1.4 How we performed this year  

As a CCG, we monitor our performance using a broad range of measures in order to provide 

as complete a view as possible of how we are delivering on behalf of our population. 

 

Performance and progress is monitored against delivery of: 

 

 key NHS Constitutional Standards – ensuring the CCG rights and pledges are 

delivered. 

 CCG operating plan commitments. 

 an overview of those performance elements linked to the CCG’s strategic 

objectives. 

  

Performance and progress is captured through the CCG’s Integrated Performance and 

Quality Report and Governing Board Assurance Framework Report. These reports are used 

to provide the Governing Board with an overview of: 

 Overall CCG performance against key constitutional targets and other standards 

that define an effective commissioner. 

 The CCG’s current financial position.  

 A summary of Programmes and Projects supporting the CCG strategic priorities 

and plans. 

 A summary of current Quality and Safeguarding issues for the CCG. 

 A summary of current risks and mitigating actions where applicable. 

In parallel, we use a performance and planning tool, in real time, to provide the organisation 

with an up to date overview: 

 Latest performance statistics. 

 Status of current programmes and projects the supporting delivery of 

performance standards. 

 Latest risks, controls, assurance and mitigating actions.  

In addition, performance discussions with provider organisations occur through: 

 Provider contract review meetings. 
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 Board to board meetings. 

 Wider system discussions as part of the Integrated Care Partnership (ICP). 

 Joint analytics discussions evaluating current performance, emerging trends and 

risks. 

Key issues and risks 

Over the past 12 months, the CCG has managed a number of important risks in the following 
areas. More information about our approach to managing and mitigating risk can be found in 
our Governance Statement (section 2.14) and in our  

The CCG identified the following strategic risks on the Governing Board Assurance 
Framework::  

 Delays in assessment and treatment for planned care 

 Financial sustainability of health partners 

 Safety of patients who require mental health provision (Children and Adults) 

 Public Health budget cuts 

 Governance of commissioned services 

We report risks regularly to our Governing Body and these papers are available to the public 

on the CCG’s website. 

The CCG also uses its performance and planning tools to provide us with an oversight on 

performance and to give early warning of any issues that may impact on future performance.  

System wide trend data is analysed and reviewed to understand cause and effect and is 

used as a starting point for conversations with provider colleagues to understand and 

address any potential issues before they are realised. 

To ensure that all the services we commission deliver the outcome we want for our 

population, we have a number of processes and approaches in place to help us manage 

contract performance and these include: 

 Working as part of an Integrated Care Partnership to design and develop 

solutions which provide the best possible experience for our patients and 

partners. 

 Providing consistent information and themes across the system on issues 

impacting on performance to ensure the system act together as one in tackling 

these issues. 

 A&E Delivery Board providing oversight and accountability of delivery of 

unscheduled care standards. 

 Accountability at contract review meetings (monthly) and executive contract 

review meetings (quarterly) with key providers including: South Central 

Ambulance, Portsmouth Hospitals and Solent NHS Trusts and Care UK. 

 Using attendance at existing meetings where necessary to discuss any matters 

that may arise and need resolution. 
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The above processes support our aim to commission excellent, integrated patient care for 

our populations within our financial budget.  

Performance against NHS Constitution Standards 

As with last year, 2018/19 has been a challenging year with the CCG experiencing 

significant increase in demand across a number of services. That said we continue to 

perform strongly against many of the NHS constitution standards and other key performance 

indicators (KPIs).  

Ambulance Response Times - South Central Ambulance Service (SCAS) only met two of the 

six national ambulance response time targets for March 2019. Below are the details of the 

Trust’s performance against all the six national standards: 

 People with life threatening injuries and illnesses (Category 1 - average) waited 7 

minutes 11 seconds against a threshold of 7 minutes. x 

 People with life threatening injuries and illnesses (Category 1 – 90th percentile) 

waited 12 minutes 59 seconds against a threshold of 15 minutes. ✔ 

 People with emergency calls (Category 2 – average) waited 18 minutes 15 

seconds against a target of 18 minutes. x 

 People with emergency calls (Category 2 – 90th percentile) waited 37 minutes 

against a target of 40 minutes. ✔ 

 People with urgent calls (Category 3 - 90th percentile) received a response within 

2 hours, 11 minutes  and 56 seconds against a target of 2 hours. x 

 People with less urgent calls (Category 4 - 90th percentile) received a response 

within 3 hours 17 seconds against a target of 3 hours. x 

Cancer Care – As at the end of 2018/19 we continue to perform strongly against the national 

cancer targets and are achieving all the eight national targets: 

 96.4% of patients waited no more than 2 weeks to see a specialist following a 

referral for suspected cancer against a target of 93%. ✔ 

 95.9% of patients referred for investigation of breast symptoms were seen within 

2 weeks against target of 93%. ✔ 

 87.47% of patients received their first treatment within 62 days following a GP 

referral against a target of 85%.✔ 

 98% of cancer patients waited less than 31 days from the date a decision to treat 

was made to their first definitive treatment. ✔ 

 96% of cancer patients waited no more than 31 days for subsequent treatment 

where the treatment was surgery against a standard of 94%. ✔ 

 100% of patients waited no more than 31 days wait for subsequent treatment 

where the treatment was an anti-cancer drug against a target of 98%. ✔ 

 95.8% of patients waited no more than 31 days for subsequent treatment where 

the treatment was Radiotherapy against a target of 94%. ✔ 

 93.2% waited no more than 62 days for their first treatment following a referral 

from a screening service against a target of 90%. ✔ 
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Mental Health – As at the end of 2018/19 the CCG continued to provide prompt access, 

treatment and support to more people with mental health need as shown in our performance 

against the following performance standards: 

 69.5% of the estimated dementia prevalence rate in persons aged 65 and over of 

our population received confirmed dementia diagnosis against a national target of 

66.7%.✔ 

 81.3% of people received early intervention in psychosis against a target of 50% 

✔ 

 60.3% of people that entered psychological therapy moved to recovery against a 

standard of 50%. ✔ 

 4.8% of people entered treatment for psychological therapy against a target of 

4.75%. ✔ 

 92.8% of people who sought psychological therapy waited less than 6 weeks 

against standard of 75%. ✔ 

 99.7% of people requiring psychological therapy waited less than 18 weeks 

against target of 95% ✔ 

 

Whilst performance against many of the key indicators outlined above is being achieved, 

there are a number of standards where performance is below the expected standard: 

 NHS111 Calls answered within 60 seconds. 

 A&E 4 Hour Wait. 

 18 Week Referral to Treatment Waiting Times.  

 6 weeks diagnostic waiting time. 

 Out of Area Placements. 

NHS111 Calls – We are working closely with our provider, NHS South Central Ambulance 

Services NHS Foundation Trust, to improve performance and address the underlying root 

causes. The Trust is working to an agreed Recovery Action Plan (RAP) which is aimed at 

meeting the 95% standard sustainably from the end of June 2019. The provider is currently 

on track to deliver the target in line with the recovery plan. 

Accident & Emergency – In common with the national position, delivery of the A&E four hour 

wait standard remains a significant challenge across the system. 

 

System performance continues to be impacted by increases in urgent care demand and 

difficulties with patient flow at Portsmouth Hospitals NHS Trust. 

Operating as part of the Integrated Care Partnership (ICP), the CCG is supporting a number 

of different programmes aimed at reducing A&E demand and non-elective admissions. To 

address the challenge of hospital flow, the system is focused on improving discharge 

processes and efficiency as well as increasing the levels out of hospital capacity to match 

the increased levels of need. 

Referral to Treatment (RTT) – The 2018/19 operating plan requires CCGs to ensure their 

waiting list size at the end of the financial year is no larger than the March 2018 out turn 
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position. Despite being currently off target, our waiting list size is continuing to reduce with a 

further reduction in list size forecast for the end of the year. 

 

Performance continues to be impacted by a demand and capacity mismatch across a 

number of specialties at our main acute provider, Portsmouth Hospitals NHS Trust. 

Operating as part of the Integrated Care Partnership, the CCG is working with the Trust and 

other providers to ensure that pathways are managed in the most efficient way ensuring that 

patients are seen in an appropriate setting and timeframe through:  

 Making better use of community services. 

 Streamlining pathways to improve patient experience and remove duplication by 

utilising principles of 'Making Every Contact Counts' (MECC). 

 Increased utilisation of e-referrals in line with the NHS England mandate to 

streamline the referral process and reduce duplication. 

 Trial communications of results via ‘virtual clinics’ to reduce follow up attendances. 

 Trial new ways of working such as all referrals via consultant triage, advice and 

guidance, and implementation of straight to test pathways. 

 Reviewing management of patients on long term follow-ups with a view to moving 

towards self-management rather than a medicalised model of care. 

6 Weeks Diagnostic Waits – The CCG’s commitment to ensure that 99% of patients who 

require diagnostic test wait no more than 6 weeks remains a challenge.  

 

Increases in demand for Magnetic Resonance Imaging (MRI), Computerised Tomography 

(CT) and Non Obstetric Ultrasound and the reallocation of resources to meet the increases 

in Urgent Care demand has resulted in a deterioration in performance. We are working 

closely with our main acute provider, Portsmouth Hospitals NHS Trust, to better understand 

the current demand and capacity constraints and develop joint sustainable plans to address 

these.  

 

Out of Area Mental Health Placements - The CCG continues to perform well against the out 

of area placement target for our Mental Health patients. In the last 4 months no resident has 

been place out of area for mental health treatment. The CCG continues to support a system 

wide plan which provides opportunities to use a wider pool of beds across local providers to 

mitigate the risk of out of area placements in the future. 

 

The following table provides an overview of our performance and that of applicable providers 

against key constitutional standards: 
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NHS CONSTITUTION 

INDICATORS 

18/19 

Targets 

Reporting 

Level 
Period 

End of 

Year 

position* 

Referral to Treatment (RTT) waiting times for non-urgent consultant-led treatment 

RTT: % of incomplete 

pathways (people who did not 

complete the course of 

treatment) 

92% CCG 
Year 

end 
84.88% 

RTT: patients waiting more 

than 52 weeks 
0 CCG 

Year 

end 
6 

Diagnostic test waiting times 

Diagnostic waiting: % of 

patients waiting over 6 weeks 
99% CCG 

Year 

end 
97.5% 

A&E waits 

Total time spent in A&E under 

4 hours  
95% PHT 

Year 

end 
77.5% 

Cancer 2 week waits 

Cancer patients seen <14 

days after urgent GP referral 
93% CCG 

Year 

end 
96.4% 

Breast cancer referrals seen 

<2 weeks 
93% CCG 

Year 

end 
95.9% 

Cancer waits – 31 days 

Cancer diagnosis to treatment 

<31 days 
96% CCG 

Year 

end 
98% 

Cancer patients receiving 

subsequent surgery <31 days 
94% CCG 

Year 

end 
96% 

Cancer patients receiving 

subsequent Chemo/Drug <31 

days 

98% CCG 
Year 

end 
100% 

Cancer patients receiving 

subsequent radiotherapy <31 

days 

94% CCG 
Year 

end 
95.8% 

Cancer waits – 62 days 

Cancer urgent referral to 

treatment <62 days 
85% CCG 

Year 

end 
87.47% 

Cancer patients treated after 

screening referral <62 days 
90% CCG 

Year 

end 
93.2% 

Ambulance calls 

Category 1 (7 minutes 

response) 
7 mins 

SCAS 

Mar 19 
7 mins  

11 sec 

Category 2 (18 minutes 

response)  
18 mins Mar 19 

18 mins 

15 secs 

Category 3 (120 minutes 

response)  

120 

mins 
Mar 19 

2 hours 

11 mins 

27 secs 
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Category 4 (180 minutes 

response) 

180 

mins 
Mar 19 

3 hours 

17 

minutes 

56 secs 

NHS111 calls 

Calls answered within 60 

seconds 
          95% SCAS 

Year  

end 
78.3% 

Mixed sex accommodation 

Mixed sex accommodation 

breaches 
0 CCG 

Year 

end 
11 

Mental Health  

IAPT: people entering 

treatment 
4.75% CCG 

Year 

end 
4.8% 

IAPT: people moving into 

recovery as a %age of those 

finishing treatment 

50% CCG 
Year 

end 
60.3% 

IAPT: first appointment within 

6 weeks of referral 
75% CCG 

Year 

end 
92.8% 

IAPT: first appointment within 

18 weeks of referral 
95% CCG 

Year 

end 
99.7% 

Early intervention in psychosis 

– started treatment 
50% CCG 

Year 

end 
81.3% 

Out of area placements for 

mental health active at period 

end 

0 CCG 
Year 

end 
20 

Healthcare Associated Infections  

HCAI: Clostridium Difficile 

(C.Diff) 
49 CCG 

Year 

end 
47 

HCAI: Incidence of MRSA 0 CCG 
Year 

end 
6 

Dementia  

Dementai diagnosis rate 66.7% CCG 
Year 

end 
69.5% 

Audiology 

Audiology: incomplete waiting 

list performance 
95% CCG 

Year 

end 
59% 
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Performance against the CCG Improvement and Assessment Framework 

 

The CCG’s overall rating against the NHS England Improvement Assessment Framework 

was ‘good’ for 2017/18 – the most recently published data. 

Table: Portsmouth CCG IAF ratings (2017/18) 

Cancer Maternity 
Learning 

Disability 
Mental Health Dementia Diabetes 

Good 
Requires 

improvement 

Requires 

improvement 
Good 

Requires 

improvement 

Requires 

improvement 

 

More information about these ratings is available in the Improving Quality section of this report 

(section 1.6)  or from the My NHS website.  

 

1.5 Ensuring we develop in a sustainable way  
We are committed to improving working conditions, tackling climate change and protecting 

the environment. 

 

Sustainability has become increasingly important as the impact of people’s lifestyles and 

business choices are changing the world in which we live. The Climate Change Act 2008 

sets a legally binding framework to reduce carbon emissions, mitigate and adapt to climate 

change. The latest carbon reduction targets became law in June 2011 and require the 

reduction of carbon emissions by 34% by 2020 from a 1990 baseline, 50% by 2025 and 80% 

by 2050.  

 

The NHS Sustainable Development Unit (SDU) has estimated that, as at 2004, the NHS in 

England was responsible for 25% of England’s public sector emissions and 2.6% of total UK 

emissions. As such, the NHS has a significant role to play in carbon reduction. 

 

As a CCG, we believe we can support sustainable development in the local area by focusing 

on three areas: 

 in our commissioning of health care services – ensuring we support 

environmental and social sustainability in our processes and approaches; 

 in our relationship with our member practices – to promote sustainable development 

across all our member practices. 

 as an organisation – taking actions to be a responsible organisation in respect of 

environmental and social sustainability. 

  
More broadly we continue to work with our local partners to support sustainable approaches 

within the city and the Portsmouth and south east Hampshire health and care system. 

  
We work as part of Health and Care Portsmouth to support our local authority partner, 

Portsmouth City Council, to improve working conditions, tackle climate change, and protect 

https://www.nhs.uk/service-search/Performance/Search
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the environment. We work as a member of the Health and Wellbeing board and in 

partnership with our local Public Health colleagues in taking forward this approach within the 

city. 

In acknowledging our responsibility towards creating a sustainable future, we will help 

achieve that goal by running awareness campaigns that promote the benefits of 

sustainability to our staff. Climate change brings new challenges to our business both in 

direct effects to the healthcare estate, but also to patient health. Examples in recent years 

include the effects of heatwaves and extreme temperatures, such as prolonged periods of 

cold. We recognise the need to plan appropriately for these eventualities and to ensure 

resources are in place when they are needed and that risks have been suitably assessed 

and managed.  

We developed a Sustainable Development Management Plan (SDMP) as part of our 

authorisation process. Through this plan and our partnership work we contribute to the 

delivery of Portsmouth’s Climate Change Strategy and its four key priorities: 

 Reduce Portsmouth’s carbon footprint; 

 Adapt to climate change; 

 Community involvement; 
 Energy strategy for the city. 

 

Even as a small organisation, we still have a responsibility to ensure we behave in a 

responsible, ethical and sustainable manner. As a part of the NHS, public health and social 

care system, it is our duty to contribute towards the level of ambition set in 2014 of reducing 

the carbon footprint of the NHS, public health and social care system by 34% (from a 1990 

baseline), equivalent to a 28% reduction from a 2013 baseline by 2020.  

As a commissioner of health care services we manage a commissioning budget in 

excess of £300m and with these funds we need to ensure we are taking a sustainable 

approach. As part of our plans we continue to: 

 Seek to approach procurement in a sustainable way both in terms of procurement 

processes but also including sustainability as part of our criteria when relevant in our 

reviews of pathways of care; 

 Ensure our providers share with us their monitoring and reporting on sustainability 

matters as part of our approach to quality (also reviewed via their annual reports); 

 Implement our Estates Strategy alongside our local health and care partners.  The 

work to date includes: 

o Development and finalisation of Phase 2 of the reconfiguration of the St 

Mary’s and St James’ sites, which will enable the sale of the main St James’ 

hospital building with Solent NHS Trust now having secured capital funding to 

enable the development of a vacant site at the St Mary’s campus; 

o Continuing to review services (alongside our current providers), which will 

include efficient utilisation of the estate with a view to rationalisation, where 

possible, and minimising void space (see void space below); 
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o A review of leased estate – to ensure a process is in place to critically review 

requirements prior to any lease renewal; 

o Applications to the Estate and Technology Transformation Fund - which will 

enable primary care at scale in line with the national and local five year 

forward view plans, i.e. hubs; with the CCG being successful in being 

awarded transformational funding for primary care development; 

o The successful allocation of capital funding to facilitate the redevelopment of 

the Emergency Department and urgent care services delivered on the Queen 

Alexandra Hospital site present an opportunity to provide more sustainable 

and efficient ways of working; 

o Ensuring that any void space has a future plan to utilise or close down the 

accommodation; 

o Understanding the implications of the Strategic Transformation Plans and 

ensuring the CCG plays an active role in development of the plans.   

 
We continue to work with our member practices to raise their awareness and consider 

their practices to improve efficiency and reduce carbon emissions in the future.  Many 

carbon savings initiatives also have a positive impact on health and wellbeing of practice 

staff and their patients as well as offering productivity and financial benefits to the 

practice. Our focus includes: 

 
 All practices now share the same patient record system (SystmOne) to allow 

electronic sharing of information and reduce the transfer of paper records; 

 Solent community services and adult social care agreement to adoption of  ‘system 

one’ leads to greater increase efficiencies of a shared system across health and care 

in Portsmouth and the use of direct referrals to community teams through SystmOne; 

 Continuing to broaden the scope of services available under ‘advice and guidance’ 

and promoting their use to avoid outpatient attendance and to reduce footfall to the 

hospital; 

 Significant increase in the uptake and use of e-referrals to enable direct booking of 

appointments; 

 Supporting practices to adopt other electronic alternatives to paper referrals in 

addition to e-referrals - for example to the new social prescribing team; 

 We will support practices to meet the aspiration from NHS England of no fax 

machines from April 2020; 

 Promoting the roll out of telephone triage, web consultations and other IT solutions 

avoiding the need for all patients to attend surgery. E-consultations are now available 

to around 170,000 patients in the City (75% of our population) as an alternative to 

making an appointment; 

 Embedding  of the Electronic Prescribing System (EPS) and the additional 

functionality of repeat dispensing within EPS; 

Being a sustainable organisation - Although we do not own any property we still want to 

ensure we behave in a responsible, ethical and sustainable manner.  Our lease for our 

headquarters and associated costs for energy, water and waste usage is now managed by 

Portsmouth City Council as our landlord (following our move in February 2016).  
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Our carbon footprint for our headquarters accommodation projects that in 2018/19 we will 

consume 61.3 tonnes of carbon per year (relating to heat and light) which represents a 14% 

decrease from the previous year.  

Actions taken, and being taken, to achieve reductions in our carbon footprint in relation to 

our headquarters accommodation include: 

 Our work with the City Council to introduce as many sustainable devices and 

approaches as possible; 

 Major refit works have been completed focused on reducing the amount of power 

utilised by PCC including the installation of Installation of 100kWp PV system, 

comprising 400 panels and the Installation of LED lighting and controls throughout 

the Civic Offices – which has significantly positively impacted carbon usage; 

 improved waste and recycling facilities; 

 Building Management System upgrades have now been completed including 

additional field devices, sensors, maintenance on equipment, anti-dry cycling 

strategy to boilers, heat recovery and improved monitoring; 

 New boilers have been installed; 

 New chillers have been installed;   

 Reduced occupancy times on light sensors; 

 Work is currently ongoing to review temperature sensors and systems to regulate 

temperature controls across the Civic Offices. 
 

In addition as an organisation we have taken a number of actions including: 

 Continue to promote sustainable travel options available for staff and visitors 

including public transport links (bus and train); park and ride; as well as for staff being 

offered the opportunity to purchase a bicycle through a salary sacrifice scheme;   

 The CCG offices have showering and changing facilities as well as personal lockers 

for the use by staff; 

 Rationalising the number of printers and photocopier resources we have on site as 

well as seeking to reduced our photocopier resources by half, reminding staff to ‘think 

before they print’ and to avoid printing wherever possible; 

 Worked with our staff forum to seek further ideas and suggestions for sustainable 

practices; 

 Provided recycling bins in the kitchen area and elsewhere in the offices; 

 Ceased, except in exceptional circumstances, the sending of mail and payslips to 

employees’ home addresses – using electronic mail or delivering to office base 

instead. 

 Implementing self-service access to ESR system allowing staff to access information 

about them electronically and to update personal details directly; 

 Promoting the use of teleconference, Skype and video conferencing as a means to 

do business to prevent unnecessary travel. 
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The chart below sets out carbon footprint split by heat and light consumption for each of the 

years of statutory operations of the CCG.  

 
 

 

Consumption in CO
2
 tonnes 

 

This shows a decrease over the five year period of around 39%.  This has particularly been 

achieved by our headquarters relocation into the Civic Offices with Portsmouth City Council.  

 

1.6 Improving Quality  

The NHS Constitution clearly articulates that patients have a right to high quality care. Under 

the Health and Social Care Act 2014, the CCG holds the responsibility for ensuring continual 

quality improvement of all locally commissioned NHS services.  

 

A quality service is one that recognises the individual needs and circumstances of the 

patient and ensures services are accessible, appropriate and effective for all and that 

workplaces support and empower staff to deliver high-quality care which is safe, clinically 

effective and delivers a positive experience for patients.  

 

The requirements for quality from our providers are set out in their contracts, which include a 

quality dashboard of key indicators with thresholds set for acceptable levels of care. Our 

quality assurance system ensures that we have early warning of any concerns and can 

address issues with providers to drive improvement. Scrutiny of the quality of care includes a 

number of processes to collate and triangulate information gathered from regular inspections 

and quality walk rounds from within the system and by external bodies such as; Care Quality 

Commission, NHS England and NHS Improvement.  
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The CCG Quality and Safeguarding Executive Committee (QSEC) receive a monthly report 

on the work carried out by the Quality and Safeguarding Team. Through review and 

discussion at the QSEC meeting the report supports the committee in meeting its terms of 

reference, primarily, to assure the Governing Board that the services the CCG commissions 

on behalf of the people of Portsmouth are safe, of high quality and that any quality concerns 

and risks are monitored and managed effectively.  

 

QSEC review quality exceptions, risks relating to commissioned services (including GP 

Practices), directing and mandating the Quality and Safeguarding team to undertake further 

actions to ensure required improvements are made, risks are mitigated and progress is 

evidenced. The committee will ensure exceptions and risks are formally escalated to the 

Governing Board where it deems necessary.  Additionally the committee receives annual 

updates on children & adults continuing healthcare, Transforming Care, Mental Capacity Act 

& Prevent agendas. 

 

Clinical Quality Review Meetings are help with each organisation commissioned to provide 

services. The purpose of this meeting is to seek assurance that providers deliver high quality 

care that is safe and clinically effective. The patient voice and staff feedback play an integral 

role in the information reviewed.  

 

Quality assurance site visits consist of speaking to managers, staff, patients and visitors, 

observing practices and processes and examining pertinent records and documents. 

Feedback is given to the staff present at the time and in writing shortly after. All quality 

assurance site visit reports are subject to discussion at the Quality & Safeguarding Executive 

Committee.    

 

Safeguarding: The CCG publishes an annual report covering adults and children which is 

published on our website.  This is addition to the annual safeguarding reports published by 

the Portsmouth Safeguarding Children’s Board and Portsmouth Safeguarding  Adults Board.   

 

Increasingly the CCG is adopting a collaborative, partnership approach to assuring quality 

with providers by joining up processes through attendance at provider quality boards and 

serious incident panels, joint posts and reducing reporting requirements.  This is being 

advanced further by the development of a Portsmouth and South East Hampshire system 

approach to quality assurance.   

 

In response to concerns about the quality of residential and nursing care in the city, the CCG 

and Portsmouth City Council have recruited a joint team to work proactively with care 

providers to support quality improvement.  This work is augmented by a small team of lay 

visitors who provide vital insights on the experience of care home residents.   

 

Better care: Included in the quality oversight process for the CCG is the Better Care Data 

which is collected nationally. An example of some of the data currently published for the 

CCG is given below. This provides a benchmark from which we can monitor year on year 

improvements but also understand how we compare with other clinical commissioning 
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groups.  More information can be found on the My NHS website www.nhs.uk/mynhs. This is 

data published in 2018/19 but relating to the previous year. 

 

Better Care Data – NHS Portsmouth CCG 

Primary care  

Patient experience of GP services 81.4% of people rated their experience as 
good 

Primary care access – percentage of 
registered population offered full 
extended access 

100% of practices in the CCG offering 'full 
provision' 

Primary care workforce – direct patient 
care staff per 1000 population 

0.9 full time equivalent per 1,000 weighted 
patients 

Cancer  

Cancers diagnosed at an early stage 54.4% of all newly diagnosed cases of 
cancer are diagnosed at an early stage 

People with urgent GP referral having 
1st definitive treatment for cancer within 
62 days of referral 

81.2% of people treated within 62 days 

One-year survival from all cancers 71.2% 

Cancer patient experience 8.9 is the average score given by patients 
asked to rate their care on a scale from 1 
to 10 (10 being best) 

Overall rating  Green 

 

We continue in our aim to deliver a strong and effective quality function which, in increasing 

measures, is working more closely with patients, carers, voluntary groups, our communities 

and strategic health and social care commissioners and providers to deliver effective care 

and treatment and to minimise variation in the quality of services.  

With that in mind it was very encouraging to learn that in February 2019 Solent NHS Trust 

received some very encouraging news from the Care Quality Commission following its 

inspection visit the previous November. The Trust was rated ‘Good’ overall, and received an 

‘Outstanding’ rating for the care it provides. It was also recognised as ‘Good’ in four other 

key domain areas – ‘safe’, ‘effective’, ‘responsive’ and ‘well led’. The improvement in rating is 

a tribute to the work that everyone has put in across the Trust. 

The Trust was also praised for areas where it performs amongst the best in the country 

including: the take up for the National Child Monitoring Programme and its results in the 

National Institute of Health Research’s annual league tables. Meanwhile, the work of the 

http://www.nhs.uk/mynhs
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Children’s Team, to involve young people in the development of services through its ‘Young 

Shapers’ programme, was noted as exemplary.  

Principles for Remedy – complaints handling 

We have in place policies for handling complaints and claims management (principles for 

remedy) that adhere to the six principles of good practice outlined in the HM Treasury 

Guidance on Managing Public Money (October 2007) as well as Health Services 

Parliamentary Ombudsman guidance on ‘Principles of Remedy’ (2010). These are: 

 getting it right; 

 being customer focused; 

 being open and accountable; 

 acting fairly and proportionately; 

 putting things right; 

 seeking continuous improvement. 

This ensures that effective and timely investigations and response can be instigated for any 

claim, including allegations of negligence, public liability or personal injury and also works to 

reduce the occurrence of incidents and events, which may give rise to future claims. 

Gosport War Memorial Hospital/Gosport Independent Panel 

In June the Gosport Independent Panel published its report about historic concerns about 

care at Gosport War Memorial Hospital, between the late 1980s and early 2000s. The 

Government provided a full response to the report in November.  

It is evident that the Gosport Independent Panel Report is a challenging read and while there 

is no doubt that the NHS has changed over the last 20 years, it is imperative that we take 

this opportunity to review the actions that have been taken and ensure that improvements 

have been and, where necessary, continue to be made, and that these are embedded into 

the culture and the way we do things.  

Part of this ongoing work is to ensure that actions included in the Government response to 

the Gosport Independent Panel report are carried out, which we are doing collectively as a 

CCG working with the Hampshire and Isle of Wight Partnership of CCGs. To support this, a 

Gosport Learning and Assurance Oversight Board, which includes representatives from the 

CCGs, NHS England, NHS Improvement, Healthwatch and clinical leads has been 

established. 

The board is overseeing a thorough self-assessment process that each CCG is conducting, 

linked to the key themes and recommendations highlighted in the report, linked to three 

domains of governance that are now established in the NHS – patient safety, clinical 

effectiveness and patient experience. This ensures that we can attend to any areas that 

might require further assurance, but it also enables us to highlight areas of good practice, 

too. An action plan is being developed to ensure the organisations cover everything that will 

be required from the report.  
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1.7 Engaging people and communities (Patient and Public 

Involvement) 
 

We have a duty under the Health and Social Care Act 2012 (section 14Z2) to involve 

patients and members of the public in the planning, development and delivery of services 

that we commission.  

 

We take our responsibilities under this provision seriously and have undertaken a significant 

programme of engagement with local people over the past 12 months. We are committed to 

seeking people’s views and feedback on local health services as this enables us to develop 

plans and proposals for future development that fully take the experience of patients into 

account. We support the recommendations set out in Transforming Participation in Health 

and Care – ‘The NHS belongs to us all’, in letting local people know how we have gathered 

their views and taken them into account in our commissioning decisions.  

 

This not only applies to formal consultations on service changes, but to any activity where 

patients or the public are asked for their views on particular proposals or issues before a 

decision is made. We also recognise, and work to, the new guidance on Patient and public 

participation in commissioning health and care: Statutory guidance for CCGs and NHS 

England published in April 2017. 

 

We are committed to continuing our dialogue with local people and sharing how we have 

listened to their feedback to improve local services and we are grateful to everyone who 

takes time to feed back their views to us, whether it is responding to one of our surveys, 

being a member of one of our engagement committees or engaging with us in other ways. 

 

To support our approach we have developed clear communications routes from the Patient 

Participation Groups run by each GP practice, through to the CCG’s Governing Board.  

 

Involving our general practice members, our patients, partners, health service providers and 

members of the public is central to our work. We involve patients, the public and 

stakeholders to inform and develop our plans through consultation and engagement. We try 

to find the most appropriate way of doing this either face-to-face or, for example, using 

online surveys that can be made available in hard copy, other formats and alternative 

languages.  

 
Our member practices have Patient Participation Groups (PPGs) which patients from the 

practice are able to join to share their views about their practice as well as wider health 

services. Each Patient Participation Group is invited to be a member of our PPG network 

and we hold regular meetings between the CCG and the network with an agenda set by 

PPG members. The meetings are chaired by our lay member for patient engagement who is 

then able to feedback to the Governing Board. Board level responsibility for engagement 

rests with the Chief of Health and Care Portsmouth. 
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We also value our links with Healthwatch Portsmouth who act as the independent champion 

for health and social care in the city making sure people can have their views and 

experiences heard by those who run, plan and watch over health and social care services. 

We have greatly appreciated the support and assistance offered by Healthwatch over the 

past year. We have also welcomed the work undertaken by the organisation to work with 

patient participation groups to deliver consistent standards in our primary care settings. 

We recognise the importance of finding the most appropriate ways of communicating with 

our different audiences to ensure we share our vision, plans and progress in a way that local 

people can fully understand and respond to. We routinely ask people to complete equality 

monitoring at our consultation and engagement events and as part of our surveys to help us 

understand how well we are reaching all communities.  

 

This has been a busy year for us in terms of seeking the views of our patients and residents 

about local services.  

Engagement 

programme 

Your Big 

Health 

Conversation 

–Phase 2 

 

 

To ensure that we embed the views of our patients and public in the work 

we are doing to develop and deliver new models of care, we have, along 

with Fareham and Gosport and South Eastern Hampshire CCGs, sought 

the views of local people on how health services could and should change 

to ensure we meet the challenges the NHS is facing.  

Our intention behind this phased engagement programme, which we call 

‘Your Big Health Conversation’ is to do two specific things. Firstly, to 

begin a ‘plain English’ conversation about the challenges in this area and 

secondly to start the process of gathering feedback about potential 

changes to services in the future. 

The first phase was conducted as an online survey that provided us with 

lots of useful information about what local people want to see from their 

local NHS.  

This second phase, which started in February 2018, focused on 

discussing four scenarios with people about how care is delivered now, 

and what it might look like in future, for four different profile types: 

 A person with one or more long term illnesses; 

 A person with a long term mental health condition; 

 A person who is particularly frail – elderly, vulnerable to 

sudden health crisis and at risk of needing emergency hospital 

care; 
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 A person who is usually healthy, with only occasional health 

problems, who may need to access help quickly. 

 

These were chosen because they are relevant to large numbers of 

people, and are likely to be the areas where we could see the biggest 

changes.  

We wanted Phase 2 to have more of an emphasis on focus groups and 

discussions with a range of different patients’ groups. We were 

particularly keen to ask patients with first-hand experience of services 

their views on possible future developments around the services they 

used.  

In all we heard from patients and carers from over 20 group discussions, 

with attendance ranging from 5/6 people to 15 upwards. These were 

structured conversations – setting out the issues faced today in delivering 

services effectively, and sketching an outline picture of how services 

could change in future to try to maintain the best possible outcomes for 

people. 

We are currently developing the full report into our findings from Phase 2 

but some of the recurring themes we have heard so far include: 

Key themes for mental health included: lack of out-of-hours access; gaps 

in the range of provision, for people who are struggling but short of full-

blown crisis; inflexible support which requires people to fit into the service 

model, rather than fitting the service model to people’s needs.  

 

Key themes for long-term condition support included: burdensome and 

inflexible systems which often put the onus on the patient to chase and 

organise; continued duplication, poor communication and inefficiencies 

between different services; easy access to clinicians – particularly 

specialist staff – was prized; the need for holistic care, not just specific 

symptom management. 

 

Key themes for same-day care included: a focus on the importance of 

access to primary and community services, not just the Emergency 

Department and 999; the importance of stronger out of hours services; the 

potential for technology; the need for better information and signposting. 

 

Key themes for frailty included: the importance of non-medical services to 

promote mental/emotional wellbeing as well as physical health; the need 

for greater integration/ joining up of services; preference for ‘in-house’ 

provision as opposed to agency. 

 

There were also a number of general concerns expressed about whether 

the local NHS has the money or the staff it really needs to deliver plans 

around urgent care, however positive these plans are. 
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How this information helps us 

The findings will help us as we seek to build a comprehensive picture of 

people’s experiences, perceptions and expectations of their local health 

services as we embark on a period of transformation. We now have, from 

phase one, an understanding of people’s general views and experiences 

which we can now feed into our planning process for new services and 

models of care. From phase two, we have a wealth of information on 

specific services and approaches provided by people who know and use 

these services on a regular basis.  

There is much to digest from all the feedback we have received and, 

when it is completed, we will be making the full report publicly available on 

our website. It will also be shared with all of the groups of people who 

were so generous in giving up their time to talk about their experiences, 

and their thoughts. 

The findings are also already informing work which is beginning to get 

underway now – including some of the developments we have included in 

this report, such as our work around the long term conditions hub and 

mental health crisis services.  

As our plans are developed and new ways of working tested we can 

further engage with people on the more detailed pictures as they emerge. 

There is also likely to be a Phase 3 – taking what we have learned, and 

then moving into much more specific issues, looking in more detail about 

where services could be located, and how they could work. 

Engagement 

programme 

Co-

production 

workshop  

The CCG and Portsmouth City Council have developed a strategic co-

production working group. Co-production brings in people with ‘lived in’ or 

direct experience of physical or mental health issues to help shape the 

way a new service is formed and delivered. Traditional engagement 

involves organisations forming an idea and then talking to the public about 

this, however co-production very much puts those with first-hand 

experience around the table with clinicians and decision-makers to shape 

and influence a service. 

 

The CCG has been identified as a pilot site to trial this due to our work in 

personalised care and personal health budgets. The CCG is receiving 

support from NHS England to help develop the strategic co-production 

group, which typically has around six to 12 members. An expression of 

interest letter was sent to different patient groups with a specific interest in 

long-term conditions and mental health conditions. Two projects have 

been identified for the group to start developing ideas and working with 

project managers – these are the long term conditions hub and the 

wellbeing house.  
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To date three meetings have been held with the highest attendance being 

16 people. The group have agreed to meet each month and a mutual 

expectations document is being developed that outlines how the group 

will work with the CCG and the council. 

 

Engagement 

programme  

Improving 

wheelchair 

services 

The CCG, working with South Eastern Hampshire and Fareham and 

Gosport CCGs, are reviewing how wheelchair services for long-term 

users are delivered in the area. Currently the service is run by Millbrook 

Healthcare and the contract with them runs until the end of March 2020. 

The CCGs have a strong desire to provide services in a different way and 

have been asking local people for their views on what works well with the 

current service, but also where it can be enhanced. 

As this service relates to long-term wheelchair users, for example those 

with a degenerative disease, a long-term condition and children who need 

continuous use of a wheelchair, the target group for engagement were 

those who already use the service. 

A survey was created which focused on three main areas which sought to 

find out information about the wheelchair users themselves, the type of 

service they would want to see (in terms of appointments, referrals and 

travel) and what they felt about a voucher scheme for buying and 

maintaining chairs. 

Nearly 400 people responded to the survey and engagement is ongoing 

but initial analysis has helped us understand that there is: 

 A strong desire for there to be a single point of contact for the 

coordination of the service 

 No strong feeling on the ability to book into evening or weekend 

appointments 

 Low awareness of the NHS voucher scheme. 

 

As well as writing directly to service users registered, the survey was also 

promoted via the CCG websites, on social media, and shared with 

community support groups such as the Portsmouth Disability Forum, the 

MS Society and schools for children who have additional needs. 

Focus groups for people to give more of a qualitative view were offered, 

however these did not prove as popular. To date a handful of individual 

interviews have been conducted. 

How this information helps us 

A full analysis will be carried out of all the feedback we have received and 

this will inform the CCGs’ next steps in the contract renewal process. 
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Engagement 

programme  

Health and 

Care 

Portsmouth 

website 

Working with Portsmouth City Council and local partners, we have 

launched a website, with supporting social media channels, in support of 

our Health and Care Portsmouth programme. 

 

The site is deliberately designed around providing information in a simple, 

accessible way with a particular emphasis on improving our engagement 

opportunities with members of the public and service users in the city. It is 

a useful means of supporting our Big Health conversation engagement 

work and encouraging people to get involved with the many projects 

taking place across Portsmouth.  

 

The site will increasingly provide a focal point for our joint engagement 

activity within the city which will increasingly come to the fore as the 

Health and Care Portsmouth programme evolves. You can find it at 

www.healthandcare.portsmouth.gov.uk and it is supported by Facebook 

and Twitter channels (facebook.com/HCPortsmouth or @HCPortsmouth) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Engagement 

programme  

Winter health 

and care 

event and 

urgent care 

guide 

The CCG co-ordinated a winter health and wellbeing drop-in event in 

January which took place in the Cascades Shopping Centre in 

Portsmouth. The purpose of the day was to take a market stall information 

and engagement event out and about to test an approach that might be 

used on a regular basis, essentially bringing together a range of different 

organisations working in the Portsmouth area, all with an interest in a 

particular topic, offering an opportunity for people to engage with a range 

of different services all in one place at one time. 

A number of different organisations supported the event on the day and 

we were able to demonstrate some of the joint working approaches that 

are happening locally. The local NHS, Age UK, Remind Dementia 

Support, Healthwatch, and The Hive, the central point of contact for 

services and community connection in Portsmouth were all involved.  

By far the biggest concern that people fed back about on the day related 

to being able to get a GP appointment and so it was helpful to be able to 

distribute copies of the CCGs’ joint urgent care guide, which was 

revamped in 2018, to support messages around alternative treatment 

options. 

The event overall provided us with plenty of food for thought, and some 

http://www.healthandcare.portsmouth.gov.uk/
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useful insight into how we can improve things next time round with plans 

for a summer event in an outdoor venue. 

Engagement 

programme  

Acting on 

patient 

feedback – 

our PPG 

network 

We continue to meet with representatives from many of the Patient 

Participation Groups in the city at our regular PPG Network. This provides 

an opportunity for PPG members to set the agenda and find out more 

about health topics and interests, with the agenda largely set by them. 

The events in the past year have been held in May and November and 

gave members the opportunity to hear about, and ask questions and give 

feedback on: 

 Plans we are developing for a mental health wellbeing service in 

the city 

 Services that are available to which patients can self-refer 

 Social prescribing 

 The HIVE – an update on a new coordination service for voluntary 

organisations in the city 

 Health and Care Portsmouth and the Big Conversation 

engagement programmes. 

 

Every year we publish a Listening to our Patients report into our engagement activity in 

response to our Health and Social Care Act duty and this is available on our website. 

Staff engagement within the CCG 

Our staff who make up ‘Team Portsmouth’ are one of our greatest assets and the CCG has 

endeavoured to take an inclusive approach to engaging and involving them, recognising that 

it is only through them that we will achieve our vision and strategic objectives.  

 

In order to enable the work programme to be owned and driven by our staff a ‘Team 

Portsmouth’ staff engagement group has been established with volunteers from across the 

CCG.  

 

The Staff Engagement Group continues to oversee and input into the review of key policies 

and procedures relating to workforce matters prior to them being approved and launched to 

staff. This has included: 

 Whistleblowing and freedom to Speak Up policy 

 Substance misuse policy 

 Recruitment an selection policy 

 Individual Performance Review and Personal Development Plan Policy 

 Flexible Working policy and guidance 

 Overpayment policy 

 Special leave policy 

 

An updated and refreshed staff handbook has been produced by the group. It was decided 

this should become an electronic handbook in order that it can be kept up to date more 

easily and is available via our intranet for all staff to access as and when they wish. 



 Page 45  

 
 

 

 

The group also oversaw arrangements for: the establishment of self-service access to parts 

of the Electronic Staff Record (so that individuals can amend certain details on their records 

themselves); development of team photoboards which are now displayed in our reception 

area; proposals for introduction of emergency text messaging system; and the buying annual 

leave scheme.  

       . 

We have held a number of off-site corporate events during the year including our 

anniversary event celebrating NHS 70. In addition to celebrate NHS 70 in July we hosted, 

with the Lord Mayor, an event in the Guildhall Square which included wellbeing information 

stands, vehicles and a keep fit session. Members of staff based at the civic offices (health 

and local authority), members of the public and school children participated in the event. 3 

members of the CCG, including Dr Collie, also attended a national celebration event held at 

Westminster Abbey. 

 

In October 2018 we introduced a new team brief approach. This is a short focused session 

to provide information to staff. These have been well attended and positively received so we 

will continue with this format for 2019.  

 

We continue to use our intranet to publish several articles a week. These focus on a range of 

matters covering CCG business, individual news such as charity fundraising, local and 

national news. These are summarised in a weekly digest email.  

 

We have also provided staff with access to flu vaccinations clinics.  

 

The CCG runs a locally developed staff survey, co-ordinated by our staff engagement group. 

The most recent concluded in January 2019 with the results being considered by the staff 

engagement group, an action plan developed which was then reviewed and supported by 

the Executive team. The results and actions have now been shared with staff across the 

CCG.  

 

The results were very positive with high level of satisfaction with working life, work-life 

balance, relationships and professional support.  The survey response rate has dropped 

from previous year (45% vs 60% last year) although it has been questioned whether timing 

impacted this. This will be reviewed for future surveys.  

 

Some specific headlines include: 

 Just under 90% of respondents said they would recommend the CCG as a place to 

work  

 Almost 96% of respondents agreed that the CCG was making a difference for 

patients. 

 Whilst 90% agree that the CCG is a clinically led-organisation the number 'strongly 

agreeing has reduced.    

 

A number of actions have been identified related to: accommodation matters, increasing the 

visibility of our clinical leaders within the CCG offices, new format for team brief 
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arrangements and more opportunities to learn about colleagues and their work in other 

teams.  

 

It is important to note that the staff survey is not the only way in which staff can express their 

views. The CCG is keen to hear feedback from colleagues throughout the year, and the staff 

survey is just one element of that process, albeit an important one. Staff are invited to make 

suggestions and comments either directly to staff engagement group members or via a 

suggestion box scheme and these are considered by the staff engagement group each time 

it meets.  

 

Staff engagement representatives continue to review arrangements with their teams on a 

regular basis and have been feeding back issues for discussions and solutions. Over the 

course of the year we have been able to introduce a range of change and improvements that 

have originated from suggestions or ideas from our staff, and these have included: 

 

 Accommodating the Health and Care Portsmouth commissioning team within the 

CCG offices after making changes to our office layout and use of hot desks 

 Making the mandatory training policy easier to use 

 Advertising jobs on the intranet 

 Clarity of fire evacuation arrangements. 

 

The CCG has supported a number of charities during the course of the year through a 

variety of ways including regular dress down days – this has meant we have raised just over 

£800 during this year.  

 

1.8 Reducing health inequality 
Equality and diversity is central to our work in ensuring equality of access to, and treatment 

by, the services that we commission on behalf of the population of Portsmouth. 

Our commitment to equality and diversity is driven by the principles of the NHS Constitution, 

the Equality Act 2010 and the Human Rights Act 1998, and also the duties of the Health and 

Social Care Act 2012 (section 14T) to reduce health inequalities, promote patient 

involvement and involve and consult with the public.  

The specific duties of the Equality Act 2010 require public bodies to publish relevant 

proportionate information showing how they meet the General Equality Duty by 31 January 

each year.  In addition, they require public bodies to set specific measurable equality 

objectives by 6 April every four years from 2012.  Both general and specific duties are known 

as the Public Sector Equality Duties (PSED).   

As a statutory public body, we must ensure we meet these legal obligations and, by 

publishing annual equality information, demonstrate how the organisation has used the 

Equality Duty as part of the process of decision making in relation to service delivery, 

provision of information and communication and engagement.   
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Our workforce 

The CCG completes an annual assessment against the NHS Workforce Race Equality 

Standard (WRES).   

This is in line with the CCG Assessment and Improvement Framework and demonstrates 

good leadership to the organisations from which the CCGs commission services.  Owing to 

the size of the workforce and in accordance with data protection legislation, this information 

is not in the public domain.   Actions are identified and taken forward internally and 

information relating to the annual completion of the Workforce Race Equality Standard is 

reported to NHS England. 

Each member of staff can self-administer their record on the Electronic Staff Record (ESR) 

system, and is encouraged to do so. This is because the CCGs recognise that individual 

circumstances can change and people may begin or cease to identify with certain 

characteristics.  This may relate to pregnancy or maternity or because an individual has 

become disabled.   

The information is used collectively and anonymously to inform internal workforce monitoring 

and ensure no protected characteristic is disadvantaged in the experience of the workforce.  

Protected characteristics that are recorded in all cases are age and sex.  The option is also 

available for staff to record disability, ethnicity, religion, sexual orientation and marital status.   

Our Human Resources Policies govern our employees’ rights not to be discriminated against 

at work. These policies include: Adoption Leave, Disciplinary Flexible Working, Grievance, 

Bullying and Harassment, Health and Safety, Maternity Leave, Paternity Leave and Pay, 

Recruitment and Selection, Re-deployment, Redundancy, Relocation, Shared Parental 

Leave and Special Leave. Organisational policies are available for staff to access easily on 

our intranet.  

On recruitment, staff undertake essential training on equality and diversity through an 

elearning programme. Managers are encouraged to promote a culture where equality and 

diversity is part of the everyday business of the CCG.  

Embedding equality in the commissioning cycle 

All projects are required to complete equality impact assessments (EIAs) and this is 

embedded in the overall planning and project development process.  An integrated care 

system-wide approach has been adopted into the commissioning cycle for 2019/20.  The 

CCG’s equality and diversity lead, who also provides support to the Hampshire Partnership 

of CCGs, has worked with the equality leads at West Hampshire CCG and East Berkshire 

CCG to agree provider reporting requirements on equity of access and non-discrimination in 

the NHS Standard Contract (full and shorter form).   

This approach will benefit providers by having uniform submission dates of equality reporting 

to each CCG that commissions their services. This will reduce duplication and ensure 

providers receive a uniform response and requests for any action through a co-ordinated 

response from equality leads in the CCGs that commission their services.   
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Our equality objectives 

We have identified four objectives to support our approach to equality and diversity. The 

information below provides an update on progress to meet these objectives. 
  

Objective 1:  Improve 

access to healthcare for 

everyone routinely and 

when they need medical 

help fast but it is not a life-

threatening situation.   

 

During 2018 initiatives have been rolled out to improve 

access for all patients: 

 New models of Care are being developed to 

remove the traditional boundaries between primary 

care, community health, social care and hospital 

services. A number of programme work-streams 

have shown that these require efficient access 

processes and the effective clinical assessment at 

the first point of contact. Projects of particular 

importance in meeting these requirements are 

integrated 24/7 care and community care.  

 We have awarded a contract to the Portsmouth 

Primary Care Alliance (PPCA) to provide a single 

integrated primary care service. This covers Out of 

Hours services, an Acute Visiting Service and GP 

Enhanced Access. The integrated model will 

improve access to care making it easier for people 

to have same day and routine appointments at their 

surgery. This means that people with complex 

health problems will have more input from their GP. 

It will also improve the way different agencies who 

support the same people to work together. The 

intended outcome will be specialist care closer to 

home facilitating prevention and self-management.  

 To support seamless patient care, all GP surgeries 

in Portsmouth now use the same IT system. All 16 

practices in the city are using SystmOne software. 

This means they all share a standard clinical 

system for everything from storing patient records to 

booking appointments. Community and mental 

health teams run by Solent NHS Trust also use 

SystmOne, and adult social care is following in April 

2019. 

Objective 2: Strengthen our 

consultation and 

engagement to ensure all 

protected characteristics 

have a voice in our work.   

 

During 2018 the CCG has: 

 Considered impact on the nine protected 

characteristics as part of Equality Impact 

Assessments and how any negative impacts may 

be mitigated or removed. 

 Completed detailed Equality Impact Assessments 

with evidence of patient and public engagement, 

working in partnership with local people to transform 

and develop healthcare services that meet the 
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needs of the communities we serve.   

 Encouraged local people to complete equalities 

monitoring as part of our engagement work. 

 Built on how engagement mechanisms to ensure 

local people from all communities are able to share 

their views.  This includes: 

 Proactive reference to the availability of alternative 

formats in engagement materials, including surveys.  

These include:  Easy Read, audio format (CD or 

MP3) and languages other than English. 

 Proactive reference to the availability of 

communication support at engagement events, 

including loop systems, British Sign language 

interpreters and Deaf/Blind interceptors.  

Objective 3:  Strengthen 

commissioning and 

partnership working so that 

the communities we service 

feel informed and supported 

to be as involved as they 

wish to be in decisions 

about their care. 

 

We have made progress in the past year in a number of 

areas: 

 

 Mental Health. We have had a joint visit to a 

wellbeing house in Bath with representatives from 

Solent MIND to understand what works well and 

what we can learn from them.  

 Children and Young People’s Mental Health. We 

have co-produced three guides, each with the 

relevant stakeholders on services and support 

available. One guide is for professionals, another 

for young people and the third for parents.  

 Project Bridge. Project Bridge is a problem solving 

methodology and has the simple objective of 

“collaborating to form better outcomes”. It has 

brought together key stakeholders of CCG, City 

Council and voluntary and community social 

enterprise sector to share their understanding of the 

issues facing the city’s population and to identify 

opportunities for working together to find solutions.  

 Portsmouth Home Innovation, Valuing Everyone 

(HIVE). This is a development of stakeholders to 

deliver better outcomes and build strong 

communities to improve the health and wellbeing of 

the city’s population. Representatives of Portsmouth 

HIVE provide a central point of contact for people to 

access information, advice and guidance and to be 

linked with appropriate community support.  

 Social Prescribing Service. This service was 

delivered by the YOU Trust. GPs, surgery staff and 

other health and care professionals are able to refer 

patients who would benefit from a little extra non-
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medical support to the new services. This builds on 

the signposting project previously delivered by 

Action Portsmouth. YOU Trust community Health 

and Wellbeing partners will support referred 

patients on a one-to-one basis, helping them to 

explore and define what is important for their 

wellbeing, identify issues they would like to address 

and connecting them to local activities, services or 

sources of community support, such as benefits or 

housing advice, befriending, carers groups and 

activity clubs. 

Objective 4: Ensure staff 

are aware of the availability 

of family friendly 

arrangements in line with 

the Equality Act 2010 and 

the range of HR 

mechanisms and support 

available to ensure 

everyone feels fee from 

abuse, harassment, bullying 

and violence from any 

source. 

The Staff Engagement Group oversaw communications via 

a number of ways to ensure staff were aware of the policies 

and mechanisms in place for members of their teams. This 

included: intranet, updating of the CCG staff handbook and 

induction checklist, HR session on policy updates. HR 

offered to attend team meetings. The staff survey is used to 

collect feedback from the team about these matters. 

 

Monitoring contracts with NHS provider organisations 

Compliance with the Public Sector Equality Duty is an important element in the monitoring of 

our contracts with NHS organisations from which we commissioning services for our 

population. Equality metrics are included in annual review of contracts and reports and 

updates are received and discussed as part of formal monthly and quarterly contract review 

meetings. These metrics cover provision of appropriate assistance and reasonable 

adjustments, completion of the NHS EDS2  the NHS equality delivery system) which helps 

local NHS organisations, in discussion with people and partners, review and improve their 

performance for people with characteristics protected by the Equality Act 2010.) The main 

providers are:  

 Portsmouth Hospitals NHS Trust  

 Solent NHS Trust  

 South Central Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust.  

 Care UK who run St Mary’s NHS Treatment Centre. 

 

1.9 Health and wellbeing strategy  
Portsmouth’s Health and Wellbeing Board sets the strategic outcomes for the city’s health 

and social care. These outcomes incorporate the findings from our ongoing Joint Strategic 

Needs Assessment (JSNA) and take account of feedback from people in the city, users of 

our services and their representatives as well as national and local evidence. We are an 
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active equal partner within the Health and Wellbeing Board and this has included ensuring 

our joint health and wellbeing strategy remains current and relevant. We work closely with 

members of the Health and Wellbeing Board in developing and implementing the Health and 

Care Portsmouth programme, our joint strategic plan for everyone in the city to live healthy, 

safe and independent lives with the right support for individual needs provided in the right 

place and at the right time. 

 

The Health and Wellbeing Board, and its membership, has also taken a keen interest in the 

Sustainability and Transformation Plan for Hampshire and the Isle of Wight, which sets the 

framework through which the Health and Care Portsmouth programme can be delivered and 

also shares a number of goals with the Board’s Health and Wellbeing Strategy. This was 

reviewed in 2017/18 and a ‘refreshed’ version approved at the Health and Wellbeing Board 

in February 2018. The strategy is built around four themes, each with a set of priorities: 

 

Health and Wellbeing Board strategy priorities 

Theme Priorities 

Support physical good health - Reduce the harms from tobacco and other 
substances 

- Reduce the harms from physical inactivity and 
poor diets 

- Focus on good physical health in children and 
young people 

Support social, emotional, mental 
and economic health 

- Promote positive mental wellbeing across 
Portsmouth 

- Reduce the drivers of isolation and exclusion 

Make improvements for 
marginalised groups fastest 

- People with complex needs 
- People in the armed forces community 
- Children and people with special educational 

needs and disabilities and their families 
- Looked after children and care leavers 

Improve access to health and social 
care support in the community 

- Implementation of the Portsmouth Blueprint 
for health and care. 

 

Members of the Health and Wellbeing Board are also involved in our CCG business. Some 

are members of our Governing Board and Primary Care Commissioning Committee which 

enables us to involve them formally in our planning and reporting procedures including this 

report, in accordance with Section 14Z15 of the NHS Act 2006. 

 

1.10 Social matters, human rights, anti-corruption and anti-bribery 
The CCG is committed to making progress on all social and environmental matters, and 

human rights and their associated regulations and guidance. The CCG is also committed to 

reducing the level of fraud, bribery and corruption within the NHS to an absolute minimum 

and maintaining it at that level. By doing this, valuable resources can then be used where 

they should be, delivering better patient care. 

The CCG is a GP-led organisation, responsible for planning, commissioning and designing 

many of the health services needed by the population in its own area.  
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The CCG makes decisions about health services based on the feedback we receive from 

patients and carers. This ensures the services we purchase and re-design are the ones local 

residents inform us that they need and are able to access. 

The CCG is committed to making sure that there is equality and inclusion in everything that 

we do, but more specifically: 

 How we commission services on behalf of the population we serve 

 How we recruit and support the development of all of our staff 

 How we proactively engage and support everyone who uses our services, especially 

given the diversity of our population. 

Our work on embedding equality into the commissioning of health services is underpinned 

by regularly engaging with our stakeholders. We believe that engagement with, and drawing 

on the expertise of, residents, patients, services providers and third sector organisations, is 

critical.  This interaction helps us to shape top quality, value for money services that satisfy 

the needs of our diverse population. 

Anti-corruption and bribery 

The CCG is committed to reducing the level of fraud, bribery and corruption within the NHS 

to an absolute minimum and keeping it at that level, freeing up public resources for better 

patient care. The CCG has a zero tolerance policy of any fraud, bribery or corruption and 

aims to eliminate all such activity as far as possible. 

The Local Area Counter-Fraud Team is active in the prevention and deterrence of fraud, 

bribery and corruption through its attendance at the Audit and Risk Committee, involvement 

in policy-setting and sharing of information through newsletters and attendance at CCG 

meetings.  

The CCG has established a positive training and awareness culture to ensure all staff 

receive regular training and newsletters provided by the Local Counter-Fraud Team.  

There were no cases of fraud brought to the attention of the committee during the year. 

1.11 Conclusion to performance report 
In my opinion this report gives an accurate perspective of the performance of the CCG 

between 1st April 2018 and 31st March 2019. 

 

 

Dr Linda Collie 

Chief Clinical Officer  

22 May 2019 
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SECTION 2 ACCOUNTABILITY REPORT 

This Accountability Report has two main sections: 

 

PART A Corporate Governance Report – including Members’ Report and 
Governance statement 

PART B Remuneration and Staff Report 

 
The CCG is not required to produce a Parliamentary Accountability and Audit Report.  

 

Disclosures on remote contingent liabilities, losses and special payments, gifts, and fees and 

charges are included as notes in the Financial Statements of this report. 

 

An audit certificate and report is also included in this Annual Report at Page 96 

 
 

Dr Linda Collie 

Chief Clinical Officer  

22 May 2019 
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SECTION 2 PART A:  

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT 
This Corporate Governance Report includes our Members’ report, the Statement of 

Accountable Officer’s Responsibilities (xx) and our Governance Statement (xx). 
 

2.1 Members’ report 
This section of the report contains information about our membership, the way we work as a 

CCG and some of our legal responsibilities. 

 

2.2 Member profiles 
The CCG is the clinically led commissioning organisation for Portsmouth City, working to 

boundaries coterminous with Portsmouth City Council, and with a registered population of 

around 224,500. We were authorised in December 2012 and started our first full year of 

operation on April 2013 fully authorised, without conditions. 

 

The CCG is constituted by its 16 member GP Practices and is run on their behalf by a 

Governing Body (known locally as a Governing Board). We are strongly clinically led by a 

team of elected GPs, with a Clinical Leader Dr Linda Collie, who is also substantively 

appointed as our Accountable Officer, and a Clinical Chair, Dr Elizabeth Fellows. 

 

Information about our leadership team can be found in the following sections. 

 

2.3 Our membership 
At the end of 2018/19 we had 16 member practices. The table below shows our membership 

position as at 31st March 2019. 
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Member (Contract) Provider & Provider Address Providing services at: 

Derby Road Group 

Practice 

Derby Road Group Practice 

27-29 Derby Road North End PO2 8HP 

27-29 Derby Road 

358 Copnor Road  

Sunnyside Medical 

Centre 

Sunnyside Medical Centre 

The Pompey Centre Fratton Way PO4 8TA 

Sunnyside Medical Centre 

East Shore 

Partnership 

East Shore Partnership  

St Cuthbert’s Church Hayling Ave PO3 6BH 

St Cuthbert’s Church 

Milton Road  

John Pounds Medical 

Centre 

John Pounds Medical Centre 

3 Aylward Street Portsea PO1 3DU 

3 Aylward Street 

Lake Road Practice Lake Road Practice 

Nutfield Place PO1 4JT 

Lake Road Practice 

 

Trafalgar Medical 

Group Practice 

Trafalgar Medical Group Practice  

25 Osborne Road PO5 3ND 

25 Osborne Road 

Eastney Health Centre  

The Drayton Surgery The Drayton Surgery 

280 Havant Road PO6 1PA 

280 Havant Road 

1 Wootton Street 

Southsea Medical 

Centre 

Southsea Medical Centre 

Carlisle Road PO5 1AT 

Southsea Medical Centre  

The University 

Surgery 

Drs Lawson & Alalade  

The Nuffield Centre St Michael’s Road PO1 2BH 

The Nuffield Centre 

Hanway Group 

Practice 

Hanway Group Practice 

2 Hanway Road PO1 4ND 

2 Hanway Road 

81 Stubbington Avenue 

Kirklands Surgery Kirklands Surgery 

111 Copnor Road PO3 5AF 

111 Copnor Road 

North Harbour Medical 

Group 

North Harbour Medical Group 

The Cosham Health Centre Vectis Way PO6 

3AW 

The Cosham Health 

Centre 

Portsdown Group 

Practice 

Portsdown Group Practice 

92 Kingston Crescent North End PO2 8AL 

Cosham Park House 

Surgery 

Crookhorn Surgery 

3 Heyward Road  

92 Kingston Crescent  

194 Allaway Avenue 

Somerstown Central 

Health Centre 

Guildhall Walk 

Healthcare Centre  

Partnering Health Limited (PHL) 

27 Guildhall Walk PO1 2DD  

27 Guildhall Walk  

The Devonshire 

Practice 

The Devonshire Practice 

262 Devonshire Avenue PO4 9EH 

262 Devonshire Avenue  

Craneswater Group 

Practice 

Craneswater Group Practice  

34-36 Waverley Road PO5 2PW 

34-36 Waverley Road 

Salisbury Road  

 

2.4 Composition of Governing Body 
The Governing Board has had the following composition from 1 April 2018 to 31st March 

2019: 

 Dr Linda Collie, Clinical Leader and Accountable Officer (Chief Clinical Officer) 

 Dr Elizabeth Fellows, Chair of the Governing Board (also a clinical executive) 

 Karen Atkinson. Registered Nurse Representative – from 20 March 2019 

 Dr Julie Cullen, Registered Nurse Lay Representative – left 30 September 2018 

 Dr Annie Eggins, Clinical Executive – left 24 October 2018 
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 Margaret Geary, Lay Member 

 Dr Jason Horsley - Director of Public Health, Portsmouth City Council 

 Dr Jonathan Lake, Clinical Executive– left 31 January 2019. 

 Graham Love, Lay Member 

 Denise Matthams, Registered Nurse Representative – 1 September – 31 December 

2018. 

 Dr Nick Moore, Clinical Executive as representative of member practices 

 Jackie Powell, Lay Member 

 Innes Richens – Chief of Health & Care Portsmouth 

 David Scarborough, Practice Manager representative of member practices  

 Andy Silvester, Lay Member 

 Michelle Spandley - Chief Finance Officer 

 Tahwinder Upile -  Secondary Care Specialist Doctor Lay Representative 

 David Williams - Chief Executive, Portsmouth City Council 

 

The gender split of the Governing Board at the start of the year:  

Females = 7, Males = 9  

The gender split of the Governing Board at the end of the year:  

Females = 6, Males = 8 

 

Statutory Committee information 

Audit committee 

Audit Committee 1 April 2018 – 31 December 2018: 

 Andy Silvester, Lay Member (and Audit Committee Chair) 

 Jackie Powell, Lay Member 

 Graham Love, Lay Member 

 Dr Julie Cullen/Denise Matthams, Registered Nurse 

 Dr Nick Moore, Clinical Executive 

 

Audit Committee membership 1 January 2019– 31 March 2019 

 Andy Silvester, Lay Member (and Audit Committee Chair) 

 Jackie Powell, Lay Member 

 Graham Love, Lay Member 

 Karen Atkinson, Registered Nurse (20 March 2019)  

The Remuneration Committee membership 1 April 2018 – 31 March 2019: 

 Graham Love, Lay Member (and Remuneration Committee Chair) 

 Jackie Powell, Lay Member 

 Andy Silvester, Lay Member  

 Mr Tahwinder Upile, Secondary Care Doctor on the Governing Board 

 Dr Elizabeth Fellows, Clinical Chair of the Governing Board 
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Primary Care Commissioning Committee 

In keeping with the Delegation Agreement between NHS England and the CCG, a Primary 

Care Commissioning Committee was established in previous years and continues to 

oversee the work outlined within the Delegation Agreement. 

 

A number of CCG Clinical Executives (GPs) were originally members of this Committee 

however, in order to facilitate the management of conflicts of interests, all of these members 

(with the exception of the CCG Chair, herself a GP) were removed from the membership in 

November 2018. Primary Care representation was provided by the Local Medical 

Committee, a Practice Manager, and with a standing invitation for NHS England as a regular 

attendee. CCG staff, including the deputy directors of; transformation, primary care and 

medicines optimisation provide a strategic overview. There are two Lay Members on the 

Committee, one of whom is the Chair. 

 

Primary Care Commissioning Committee 1 April 2018 – 31 December 2018 

 Dr Linda Collie, Clinical Leader 

 Mark Compton, Deputy Director of Transformation 

 Dr Julie Cullen, Registered Nurse (Board member) (left 30 September 2108) 

 Dr Annie Eggins, Clinical Executive (left 24 October 2018) 

 Margaret Geary, Lay Member 

 Dr Jason Horsley, Director of Public Health 

 Dr Jonathan Lake, Clinical Executive 

 Jackie Powell, Lay Member 

 Innes Richens, Chief of Health & Care Portsmouth 

 Terri Russell, Deputy Director of Primary Care 

 Suzannah Rosenberg, Director of Quality & Commissioning 

 Andy Silvester, Lay Member 

 Michelle Spandley, Chief Finance Officer 

 Jo York, Director of New Models of Care 

 

Primary Care Commissioning Committee 1 December 2018 – 31 March 2019 

 Mark Compton, Deputy Director of Transformation 

 Margaret Geary, Lay Member 

 Dr Jason Horsley, Director of Public Health 

 Jackie Powell, Lay Member 

 Terri Russell, Deputy Director of Primary Care 

 Suzannah Rosenberg, Director of Quality & Commissioning 

 Andy Silvester, Lay Member 

 Michelle Spandley, Chief Finance Officer 

 Jo York, Director of New Models of Care 

 Jason Eastman, Associate Director of IM&T 

 Simon Cooper, Deputy Director Medicines Optimisation 

 David Scarborough, Practice Manager Representative 

 Nigel Watson, LMC Representative 
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Further details about our Governing Board and Senior Managers, including membership of, 

and attendance at, committees can be found in our Governance Statement along with 

information on the purpose of each committee. 

 

2.5 Members’ report statements and disclosures 

Register of Interests 

The CCG maintains two Registers of Interest, one detailing committee membership 

(including administrative support) which is published on the CCG website on a quarterly 

basis. The other, includes all remaining staff employed by the CCG and is published on the 

website on an annual basis. These can be found at the following link. 

https://www.portsmouthccg.nhs.uk/About-Us/What-we-do/lists-and-registers.htm 

Personal data related incidents 

There have been no personal data related incidents reported to the information 

commissioner’s office during the 2018/19 financial year. 

Statement of Disclosure to Auditors 

Each individual who is a member of the CCG Governing Board at the time of writing the 

Members’ Report has confirmed:  

 so far as the member is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the 

CCG’s auditor is unaware that would be relevant for the purposes of their audit report  

 the member has taken all the steps that they ought to have taken in order to make 

him or herself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the CCG’s 

auditor is aware of it.  

Modern Slavery Act 

The CCG fully supports the Government’s objectives to eradicate modern slavery and 

human trafficking but does not meet the requirements for producing an annual Slavery and 

Human Trafficking Statement as set out in the Modern Slavery Act 2015.  

 

 

 

Dr Linda Collie 

Chief Clinical Officer  

22 May 2019 

 

 

  

https://www.portsmouthccg.nhs.uk/About-Us/What-we-do/lists-and-registers.htm
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2.6 Statement of Accountable Officer’s Responsibilities 
The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) states that each Clinical 

Commissioning Group shall have an Accountable Officer and that Officer shall be appointed 

by the NHS Commissioning Board (NHS England).  NHS England has appointed the Chief 

Clinical Officer to be the Accountable Officer of the CCG. 

The responsibilities of an Accountable Officer are set out under the National Health Service 

Act 2006 (as amended), Managing Public Money and in the Clinical Commissioning Group 

Accountable Officer Appointment Letter.  They include responsibilities for:  

 The propriety and regularity of the public finances for which the Accountable Officer 

is answerable,  

 For keeping proper accounting records (which disclose with reasonable accuracy at 

any time the financial position of the Clinical Commissioning Group and enable them 

to ensure that the accounts comply with the requirements of the Accounts Direction),  

 For safeguarding the Clinical Commissioning Group’s assets (and hence for taking 

reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities). 

 The relevant responsibilities of accounting officers under Managing Public Money, 

 Ensuring the CCG exercises its functions effectively, efficiently and economically (in 

accordance with Section 14Q of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended)) 

and with a view to securing continuous improvement in the quality of services (in 

accordance with Section14R of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended)), 

 Ensuring that the CCG complies with its financial duties under Sections 223H to 223J 

of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended). 

Under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), NHS England has directed each 

Clinical Commissioning Group to prepare for each financial year financial statements in the 

form and on the basis set out in the Accounts Direction. The financial statements are 

prepared on an accruals basis and must give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the 

Clinical Commissioning Group and of its net expenditure, changes in taxpayers’ equity and 

cash flows for the financial year. 

In preparing the financial statements, the Accountable Officer is required to comply with the 

requirements of the Group Accounting Manual issued by the Department of Health and in 

particular to: 

 Observe the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England, including the relevant 

accounting and disclosure requirements, and apply suitable accounting policies 

on a consistent basis; 

 Make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis; 

 State whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the Group 

Accounting Manual issued by the Department of Health and Social Care have 

been followed, and disclose and explain any material departures in the financial 

statements; and, 

 Prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis. 
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To the best of my knowledge and belief, and subject to the disclosures set out below, I have 

properly discharged the responsibilities set out under the National Health Service Act 2006 

(as amended), Managing Public Money and in my Clinical Commissioning Group 

Accountable Officer Appointment Letter. 

Disclosures: Nil 

I also confirm that:  

 as far as I am aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the CCG’s 

auditors are unaware, and that as Accountable Officer, I have taken all the steps that I 

ought to have taken to make myself aware of any relevant audit information and to 

establish that the CCG’s auditors are aware of that information.  

 that the annual report and accounts as a whole is fair, balanced and understandable 

and that I take personal responsibility for the annual report and accounts and the 

judgments required for determining that it is fair, balanced and understandable  

 

 

 

Dr Linda Collie 

Chief Clinical Officer  

22 May 2019 
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GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 

2.7 Introduction and context 

NHS Portsmouth CCG is a body corporate established by NHS England on 1 April 2013 

under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended). 

 

The clinical commissioning group’s statutory functions are set out under the National Health 

Service Act 2006 (as amended).  The CCG’s general function is arranging the provision of 

services for persons for the purposes of the health service in England.  The CCG is, in 

particular, required to arrange for the provision of certain health services to such extent as it 

considers necessary to meet the reasonable requirements of its local population.   

   

As at 1 April 2018, the CCG has not been subject to any directions from NHS England 

issued under Section 14Z21 of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended). 

Details about the CCG can be found at: http://www.portsmouthccg.nhs.uk/ 

 

2.8 Scope of responsibility 

As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of internal 

control that supports the achievement of the clinical commissioning group’s policies, aims 

and objectives, whilst safeguarding the public funds and assets for which I am personally 

responsible, in accordance with the responsibilities assigned to me in Managing Public 

Money. I also acknowledge my responsibilities as set out under the National Health Service 

Act 2006 (as amended) and in my Clinical Commissioning Group Accountable Officer 

Appointment Letter. 

 

I am responsible for ensuring that the clinical commissioning group is administered prudently 

and economically and that resources are applied efficiently and effectively, safeguarding 

financial propriety and regularity. I also have responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of 

the system of internal control within the clinical commissioning group as set out in this 

governance statement. 

 

2.9 Governance arrangements and effectiveness 

The main function of the governing body is to ensure that the group has made appropriate 

arrangements for ensuring that it exercises its functions effectively, efficiently and 

economically and complies with such generally accepted principles of good governance as 

are relevant to it. 

The governance framework comprises the systems, processes, culture and values by which 

the CCG is directed and controlled. Governance arrangements are identified within the 

CCG’s Constitution and associated documents including the Scheme of Reservation and 

Delegation, Standing Orders, Financial Policies and corporate policies. Collectively these 

documents detail the role and responsibility of Governing Board members and employees of 

the CCG along with the arrangements for conducting business through the Governing Board, 

its Committees and sub-committees. 

http://www.portsmouthccg.nhs.uk/
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Whilst there are a number of elected Governing Board GP members, additional roles have 

been developed by the members, enhancing and shaping the CCG’s accountability 

framework. These roles include: 

 Practice Commissioning Lead GPs 

 Practice Prescribing Lead GPs 

 Practice Lead Managers 

In this way the CCG has continued to gain involvement from a broader membership of 

primary care in developing and delivering its work programme than just those members 

involved in the work of the Governing Board. 

The CCG continues to abide by, and amend its Constitution to reflect the changing NHS 

landscape. 

Member practices oversee the work of the CCG through the Practice Members Forum which 

provides a mandate for the Governing Board to conduct CCG business and duties on behalf 

of its members. Terms of reference are in place and kept under review for each of the 

Governing Board’s committees and sub committees. Each Governing Board, committee and 

sub-committee meeting has formal minutes which set out both the attendance of members 

and the coverage of their work. It is through this structure that the CCG continues to: 

 agree its commissioning strategies, financial strategies and supporting operating 

plans; 

 ensure the CCG meets its statutory duties in respect of such requirements of the 

management of Conflicts of Interest, equality and diversity, information governance 

and working in partnership with the Local Authority via the Health and Wellbeing 

Board and jointly funded posts sitting across both the CCG and City Council; 

 put in place and monitor effectiveness of the CCG’s policies and procedures; and 

 develop plans for service review and transformation and oversee their 

implementation and evaluation. 

During 2018, a review of the CCG Committee governance arrangements was undertaken. 

This was in order to support and strengthen system working, maximise the time and input of 

both clinical and lay members and support the management of conflicts of interests. A 

number of changes were introduced during the final quarter of the 2018/19 financial year. 

Terms of Reference reflecting these changes were reviewed and approved by the Governing 

Board at their meeting in public in November 2018. 

Information about the Committees of the CCG is detailed in the following sections. 
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2.10 Summary of the Coverage of the Work of the CCG Governing Board and Committees 

Governing Board 
 

The Governing Board has delegated authority from its members to undertake the full range of functions required of a CCG, reporting to its 

members via the Practice Members Forum.  

 

It has a focus on corporate and financial governance, risk management as well as setting vision and strategy and approving commissioning 

plans prepared for it. It also ensures the CCG meets its legal and statutory requirements. The constitution sets out the following functions:  

 ensuring that the CCG has appropriate arrangements in place to exercise its functions effectively, efficiently and economically and in 

accordance with the CCG’s principles of good governance (its main function); 

 ensuring that the CCG has appropriate arrangements in place to exercise any functions formally delegated to it by NHS England under 

section 13Z of the 2012 Act as set out in agreed delegation agreements; 

 determining the remuneration, fees and other allowances payable to employees or other persons providing services to the CCG and the 

allowances payable under any pension scheme it may establish under paragraph 11(4) of Schedule 1A of the 2006 Act, inserted by 

Schedule 2 of the 2012 Act; 

 approving any functions of the CCG that are specified in regulations; 

 leading the setting of vision and strategy; 

 developing and approving joint commissioning plans, with our local authority colleagues, including the production of annual plan; 

 monitoring performance against plans and producing an annual report; 

 ensuring that expenditure and use of resources do not exceed the limits set; 

 providing assurance of strategic risk; 

 producing an annual report; 

 oversight of declaration and registration of interests and management of conflicts of interest; 

 working with NHS England to improve the quality of primary medical services, particularly to take account of need and unexpressed 

demand; 

 working with NHS England to improve the quality of specialist services; 

 working with the Local Authority on health promotion, prevention and protection matters and as part of the Health and Wellbeing Board. 
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Audit Committee Remuneration 

Committee 

Quality & Safeguarding Committee Primary Care Commissioning 

Committee 

The audit committee supports the 

Governing Board in discharging 

its functions related to overseeing 

efficiency, effectiveness, 

economy and governance. The 

committee reviews the 

establishment and maintenance 

of an effective system of 

integrated governance, risk 

management and internal control, 

across the whole of the CCG’s 

activities that support the 

achievement of the CCG’s 

objectives.  

 

This includes providing the 

Governing Board with an 

independent and objective view of 

the CCG’s financial systems, 

financial information and 

compliance with laws, regulations 

and directions governing the CCG 

in so far as they relate to finance. 

The remuneration 

committee makes 

recommendations to the 

Governing Board on 

determinations about the 

remuneration, fees and 

other allowances for 

employees and for 

people who provide 

services to the CCG and 

on determinations about 

allowances under any 

pension scheme that the 

CCG may establish as 

an alternative to the NHS 

pension scheme. 

The Quality and Safeguarding 

Committee supports the Governing 

Board in commissioning effective and 

safe services that provide a positive 

experience of healthcare for patients. 

 

The Committee supports the Governing 

Board in fulfilling its responsibilities to 

safeguard vulnerable adults and 

children including the use of the Mental 

Capacity Act 2005 and the Deprivation 

of Liberty and Safeguards (DoLS) 

2009. 

 

Furthermore, the Committee reviews 

and escalated issues and risks relating 

to quality and safeguarding through 

systems and processes which enable 

the CCG to deliver its strategic 

framework for quality and 

safeguarding. 

The Primary Care Commissioning 

Committee has been delegated the 

exercise of the following functions by 

NHS England: 

 GMS, PMS and APMS contracts 

(including the design of PMS and 

APMS contracts, monitoring of 

contracts, taking contractual action 

such as issuing branch remedial 

notices and removing a contract) 

 Newly designed enhanced 

services (Local Enhanced Services 

and Directed Enhanced Services) 

 Design of local incentive schemes 

as an alternative to the Quality 

Outcomes Framework (QOF) 

 The establishment of new GP 

practices in the geographical area 

 Approving practice mergers 

 Making decision on ‘discretionary’ 

payment. 

 

The Governing Board reviews its effectiveness, in partnership with its Membership Body during the course of the year as set out within its 

governance strategy and plans and through its programmes of audit and scrutiny. In addition, internal audits have been undertaken to seek 
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further assurance regarding the CCG’s arrangements for the discharge of its statutory duties and to ensure it is legally compliant. The 

Governing Board has kept under review its performance and effectiveness during the year involving members, stakeholders and the public 

through a range of mechanism including surveys and face to face contact. 

 

2.11 Attendance at meetings 2018/19 
The table below shows participation and attendance for the year at the CCG’s Governing Board and supporting Committees; the CCG’s Audit 

Committee, Remuneration Committee, Quality and Safeguarding Committee, Primary Care Commissioning Committee and Clinical Strategy 

Committee.  

Key: 

 In attendance D Deputy Attendance A Apologies N/A No longer attends or left organisation  No Meeting 

 

Governing Board - Attendance Log 

Member Name Position 
May 
18 

Jul 
18 

Sep 
18 

Nov 
18 

Jan 
19 

March 
19 

Karen Atkinson Registered Nurse - - - - -  

Dr Linda Collie Chief Clinical Officer/Clinical Leader       

Dr Julie Cullen Registered Nurse A   N/A N/A N/A 

Dr Annie Eggins Clinical Executive    N/A N/A N/A 

Dr Elizabeth Fellows Chair of Governing Board/Clinical Executive  A A    

Margaret Geary Lay Member       

Dr Jason Horsley Director of Public Health, Portsmouth City 
Council 

     
 

Dr Jonathan Lake Clinical Executive  A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

Graham Love Lay Member       

Denise Matthams Registered Nurse N/A N/A N/A  N/A N/A 

Dr Nick Moore Clinical Executive       

Jackie Powell Lay Member       

Innes Richens Chief of Health and Care Portsmouth       
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Member Name Position 
May 
18 

Jul 
18 

Sep 
18 

Nov 
18 

Jan 
19 

March 
19 

David Scarborough Practice Manager Representative   A    

Andy Silvester Lay Member  A     

Michelle Spandley Chief Finance Officer       

Dr Tahwinder Upile Secondary Care Specialist Doctor  A     

David Williams Chief Executive, Portsmouth City Council A  A    

 
Audit Committee - Attendance Log 

Member Name Position 
May 
18 

Sept 
18 

Dec 
18 

March 
19 

Dr Julie Cullen Registered Nurse  A N/A N/A 

Graham Love Lay Member     

Dr Nick Moore Clinical Executive A  A N/A 

Jackie Powell Lay Member     

Andy Silvester Lay Member     

 
 
Remuneration Committee - Attendance Log 

Member Name Position 
Jul 18 Jan 

19 

Dr Elizabeth Fellows Chair of Governing Board/Clinical Executive A A 

Graham Love Lay Member   

Jackie Powell Lay Member   

Andy Silvester Lay Member A  

Dr Tahwinder Upile Secondary Care Specialist Doctor   
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Quality and Safeguarding Committee - Attendance Log 

Member Name Position 
Feb 
19 

March 
19 

Karen Atkinson Registered Nurse N/A  

Dr Linda Collie   Chief Clinical Officer/Clinical Leader A  

Margaret Geary Lay Member   

Katie Hovenden  Clinical Associate   

Suzannah Rosenberg Director of Quality and Commissioning   

Tina Scarborough Deputy Director of Quality and Safeguarding A  
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Primary Care Commissioning Committee - Attendance Log 
 

Member Name Position 
May 
18 

Jul 
18 

Sept  
18 

Nov 
18 

Feb 
19 

Dr Linda Collie Chief Clinical Officer/Clinical Leader     N/A 

Mark Compton Deputy Director of Transformation   A   

Simon Cooper Deputy Director, Medicines Optimisation N/A  N/A   

Dr Julie Cullen Registered Nurse A    N/A 

Jason Eastman Associate Director of IM&T N/A  N/A   

Dr Annie Eggins Clinical Executive     N/A 

Margaret Geary Lay Member      

Dr Jason Horsley Director Public Health, Portsmouth City Council     A 

Dr Jonathan Lake Clinical Executive   A   N/A 

Jackie Powell  Lay Member      

Innes Richens Chief of Health and Care Portsmouth A    N/A 

Terri Russell Deputy Director of Primary Care      

Suzannah Rosenberg Director of Quality and Commissioning      

David Scarborough Practice Manager Representative N/A  N/A   

Andy Silvester Lay Member A    A 

Michelle Spandley Chief Finance Officer     D 

Dr Nigel Watson LMC Representative N/A  N/A   

Jo York Director of New Models of Care     A 
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Clinical Strategy Committee - Attendance Log 
 

Member Name Position 
Apr 
18 

May 
18 

Jun 
18 

Jul 
18 

Aug 
18 

Sep 
18 

Oct 
18 

Nov 
18 

Dec 
18 

Jan 
19 

Dr Linda Collie  Chief Clinical Officer/Clinical Leader    A   A  A A 

Jane Cole Deputy Chief Finance Officer      A   A A 

Simon Cooper Deputy Director, Medicines Optimisation       A  A  

Michael Drake Director of Planning and Performance           

Alison Edgington Director of Delivery SE Hampshire & F&G CCG    A  A   N/A N/A 

Dr Annie Eggins Clinical Executive    A   A  N/A N/A 

Dr Elizabeth Fellows Chair of Governing Board/Clinical Executive A   A  A A  A A 

Margaret Geary Lay Member           

Dr Jason Horsley Director Public Health, Portsmouth City Council A   A      A 

Dr Jonathan Lake Clinical Executive A   A N/A N/A N/A  N/A N/A 

Graham Love Lay Member     A      

Dr Nick Moore  Clinical Executive      A     

Dr Jonathan Price Clinical Commissioning Lead           

Innes Richens Chief of Health and Care Portsmouth    A     A  

Terri Russell Deputy Director of Primary Care    A  A    A 

Suzannah Rosenberg Director of Quality and Commissioning      A A    

David Scarborough Practice Manager Representative A          

Michelle Spandley Chief Finance Officer    A  A   A  

Dr Tahwinder Upile Secondary Care Specialist Doctor A   A A A A  A A 

Dr Kevin Vernon Clinical Commissioning Lead           

Jo York Director of New Models of Care A    A A    A 
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2.12 UK Corporate Governance Code 

The CCG is not required to comply with the provisions of the UK Corporate Governance 

Code.  

 

2.13 Discharge of Statutory Functions 

In light of recommendations of the 2013 Harris Review, the clinical commissioning group has 

reviewed all of the statutory duties and powers conferred on it by the National Health Service 

Act 2006 (as amended) and other associated legislative and regulations.  As a result, I can 

confirm that the clinical commissioning group is clear about the legislative requirements 

associated with each of the statutory functions for which it is responsible, including any 

restrictions on delegation of those functions. 

Responsibility for each duty and power has been clearly allocated to a lead Director.  

Directorates have confirmed that their structures provide the necessary capability and 

capacity to undertake all of the clinical commissioning group’s statutory duties. 

2.14 Risk management arrangements and effectiveness  

a) Capacity to Handle Risk and Risk Assessment  

The CCG has outlined its approach to risk and has a supporting risk management 

framework.  The approach to risk recognises that living with, and understanding risk is an 

everyday part of our commissioning responsibilities. Risk is an inevitable part of managing 

healthcare but it must be managed in such a way that the consequences of commissioning 

decisions can be properly understood before they are made.  

 

The CCG’s approach is to develop a balanced and proportionate approach to risk 

management which is substantively robust whilst not unnecessarily bureaucratic – balancing 

the CCG’s obligations to exercise safely, efficiently and economically, with its duties to drive 

improvements in services, promote innovation, and reduce inequalities. Our risk 

management framework sets out our risk appetite which is driven by the values and 

behaviors agreed by the Governing Board with our members. From the Governing Board, 

through our committees and onwards to our staff we have clearly understood protocols for 

the reporting and management of risk. The CCG’s Governing Board reviews its risk appetite 

on an annual basis. 

 

The Governing Board retain oversight of the Assurance Framework however risks are now 

also identified, reported and scrutinised as part of the Integrated Performance & Quality 

Report and Governing Board Assurance Framework (GBAF) which is presented at 

Governing Board and operational management groups at each of their meetings, thus 

ensuring that the identification and management of risk is ‘live’ and continues to remain a 

high priority for the organisation. Committees and groups oversee risk registers and named 

individuals have responsibility for the day to day management of risks within their portfolio.  

 

Risk management is recognised as being everybody’s business and is embedded in all the 

CCG’s activities. Equality impact assessments are incorporated into all relevant 

commissioning plans and policies. Consultation and engagement is undertaken with staff, 
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subject matter experts and stakeholders in the development of individual’s aspects of the 

CCG’s work. Incident reporting in relation to both the CCG as a statutory organisation and 

employer as well as a commissioner of services is encouraged from staff and other 

stakeholders in line with the CCG policies and approach to risk. 

 

Staff receive training and support as part of induction, through ongoing staff activities and 

communications (including staff bulletins, specific training events and the staff handbook) 

and the development and promotion of the CCG’s policies and procedures to understand 

and manage risk and to feel supported in reporting risks of any kind. The CCG’s technology 

system continues to be used to monitor and assist in managing risks alongside the planning 

and performance functions of the CCG.  

 

Our approach to risk recognises that in order to commission healthcare successfully we 

need to work with many stakeholders and as part of this we explain our approach to risk, 

keep them informed of our risk position and seek their input in to our plans and risk 

management actions. This is most visible through the Governing Board’s regular review and 

ratification of the GBAF.  

 

The control mechanisms contained within our Risk Management Framework were chosen as 

the best to support our approach to risk and our values, whilst meeting our responsibilities 

with regards risk management and were informed by external legal and risk management 

expertise and advice. 

 

b) The Governing Board Assurance Framework  

There is an on-going well defined process to assessing risk. Risks are assessed as part of 

the development of any individual plan, work programme or business case and are a 

requirement of our planning and performance approach and integrated into our planning and 

performance process.  

 

The Governing Board sets the CCG’s strategic objectives. The Executive then identifies, on 

its behalf, the strategic risks related to delivering these and incorporates these into the 

GBAF. Teams are required to review and update their team risk registers on a regular basis 

which are then reviewed through the CCG’s committee structures and included within the 

strategic risks where felt appropriate. The GBAF is reviewed by the Audit Committee, the 

Governing Board and its sub-committees as detailed above. 

 

Throughout the 2018/19 financial year, the CCG has identified a number of key risks to the 

achievement of its strategic objectives. These include meeting constitutional targets, 

pressure on partners, transformation and financial pressures including the requirement for 

savings. Controls have been put in place in order to mitigate these risks and factors 

influencing these risks along with scores are reported through the Integrated Performance & 

Quality Report and Governing Board Assurance Framework (GBAF) at the Governing Board 

and its sub-committees. 

 

The CCG identified the following strategic risks on the GBAF:  

 Delays in assessment and treatment for planned care 

 Financial sustainability of health partners 
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 Safety of patients who require mental health provision (Children and Adults) 

 Public Health budget cuts 

 Governance of commissioned services 

 

The CCG’s ability to comply with its licence and actions taken to identify any principal risks 

identified to compliance are included as part of the CCG’s Governing Board Assurance 

Framework and risk management processes. Effectiveness and performance is overseen by 

the Governing Board and through its committees and sub committees as well as via the 

Clinical Executive. Review of effectiveness of the CCG’s operating model and structures are 

overseen by the Governing Board and development needs identified are included within its 

strategies and underpinning plans.  
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2.15 Other sources of assurance  

Internal Control Framework 

A system of internal control is the set of processes and procedures in place in the clinical 

commissioning group to ensure it delivers its policies, aims and objectives.  It is designed to 

identify and prioritise the risks, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised and the 

impact should they be realised, and to manage them efficiently, effectively and economically. 

The system of internal control allows risk to be managed to a reasonable level rather than 

eliminating all risk; it can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of 

effectiveness. 

The Audit Committee has oversight on behalf of the Governing Board of the internal control 

mechanisms of the CCG. The Accountable Officer, supported by the Clinical Executive and 

wider executive team, oversees the management and delivery of the internal control 

mechanisms.  The Audit Committee bases its assessments, and therefore assurance, on the 

effectiveness of the controls of the CCG upon: 

 Assurance provided by the Governing Board and committees work programmes; 

 A review of the CCG’s policies and procedures; and 

 With assurance from internal audit, external audit and other identified sources of 

assurance. 

Annual audit of conflicts of interest management  

The revised statutory guidance on managing conflicts of interest for CCGs (published June 

2016) requires CCGs to undertake an annual internal audit of conflicts of interest 

management. To support CCGs to undertake this task, NHS England has published a 

template audit framework.  

The CCG has undertaken a Conflicts of Interests review through their Internal Audit Service 

during quarter four of the 2018/19 financial year. The CCG achieved ‘substantial’ assurance 

for the Management of Conflicts of Interest from the Internal Auditors. 

Data Quality 

The CCG’s Commissioning Support Provider (NHS South, Central and West Commissioning 

Support) acts as the Data Services for Commissioners Regional Offices (DSCRO). Staff 

processing and providing data to the CCG follow strict rules on accessing, analysing and 

processing data. NHS South, Central and West Commissioning Support Unit provides the 

CCG with its data on which the CCG conducts its business.  

This data is regularly reviewed by the Governing Board and its committees and data is 

adapted to meet their needs. The Governing Board finds the data acceptable. The CCG in 

partnership with the Commissioning Support Unit has quality control processes in place to 

assure itself of the quality of data used to ensure it is acceptable and improvement plans are 

in place where needed.  
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Information Governance 

The NHS Information Governance Framework sets the processes and procedures by which 

the NHS handles information about patients and employees, in particular personal 

identifiable information.  The NHS Information Governance Framework is supported by an 

information governance toolkit and the annual submission process provides assurances to 

the clinical commissioning group, other organisations and to individuals that personal 

information is dealt with legally, securely, efficiently and effectively. 

We place high importance on ensuring there are robust information governance systems and 

processes in place to help protect the information we are ultimately responsible for.  We 

have an established information governance management framework which is accompanied 

by a suite of information governance and information security policies.  These are 

complemented by additional guidance and procedures in line with the information 

governance toolkit and good information management practice.  We have ensured all staff 

receive a face to face induction regarding their responsibilities and undertake annual 

information governance training with all staff.  We continue to review and utilise our staff 

information governance handbook to ensure staff are aware of their information governance 

roles and responsibilities. 

There are processes in place for incident reporting and investigation of serious 

incidents.  We have embedded an information risk assessment and management 

programme to enhance an information risk culture throughout the organisation.  Through a 

process of regular review we continue to identify opportunities for improvement as part of the 

annual information governance action plan.  

The introduction of the General Data Protection Regulation provided an opportunity to 

refresh and review the CCG’s policies and procedures. The Governing Board and a number 

of its committees received training on the GDPR and its impact on the work of the CCG. The 

Head of Governance was appointed to the Data Protection Officer role. 

The CCG has submitted information in support of its “standards exceeded” compliance 

against the Data Security and Protection Toolkit and has received a ‘substantial assurance’ 

score for the Internal Audit undertaken. 

Business Critical Models 

In line with best practice recommendations of the 2013 MacPherson review into the quality 

assurance of analytical models, the CCG has an appropriate framework and environment is 

in place to provide quality assurance of business critical models. 

The CCG’s Business Continuity Plan is updated and reviewed on a regular basis. 

In addition, the CCG submitted assurance of compliance with the Emergency Preparedness, 

Resilience and Response Core Standards to NHS England. The CCG tested internal and 

external cascade arrangements and the Emergency Planning Officer attended and 

Governing Board Development Session to discuss business continuity arrangements.  
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Third party assurances 

The CCG has arrangements in place with Portsmouth City Council for the provision of 

complaints, freedom of information requests, learning & development and Human Resources 

(HR) services. Assurance is overseen by the Executive. Regular reports are reviewed by 

committees of the Governing Board. 

The CCG also has an agreement in place with NHS South, Central and West CSU for the 

provision of Contracting, Information Governance and Business Intelligence services. 

Assurance is provided by Service Audit Reports and overseen by the CCG’s Audit 

Committee. 

Work of the Local Counter Fraud and Security Service is overseen by the Audit Committee 

which includes an annual report and the annual self-assessment by this service to NHS 

Protect. 

NHS Shared Business Services provide payroll services for the CCG. External Audit 

undertakes an audit each year in respect of the financial management of the CCG. The 

outcome of this audit is included and forms part of the CCG’s Annual Report and Accounts. 

2.16 Control issues 
No control issues were highlighted. 

2.17 Review of economy, efficiency and effectiveness of the use of 

resources 
The CCG’s Constitution sets out how the CCG will act effectively, efficiently and 

economically. It describes how responsibility for this is delegated to the Governing Board 

and the Audit Committee with advice from the Chief Finance Officer and through the use of 

value for money reviews, benchmarking, audit assurance processes and other tools 

ensuring the best use of resources. The Constitution also sets out how the CCG meets its 

general financial duties. The CCG’s supporting Prime and Detailed Financial Policies set out 

the controls in place for managing the CCG’s use of resources to ensure good corporate 

governance, internal control and management of risks.  

 

As part of the 2017/18 Improvement and Assurance Framework, the CCG received a 

‘required improvement’ under the Quality of Leadership domain. This was in part due to not 

meeting constitutional standards. In the 2018/19 financial year, the CCG undertook an 

evidence-based self-assessment against this domain where it scored itself green (good),  

 

The self-assessment was reviewed by NHS England who confirmed their support of this 

score at the following assurance meeting. NHS England suggested that additional evidence 

could be provided to them which was submitted in March 2019. 

 

The 2017/18 overall rating of CCG of the Improvement and Assessment Framework was 

‘good’ It is anticipated that the 2018/19 ratings will be released from May 2019.  

The Governing Board monitor financial planning and in-year financial performance via the 

Integrated Performance and Governing Board Assurance Framework report. The CCG has 

achieved its control total including the required savings. 
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2.18 Delegation of functions 

The CCG has not delegated any of its functions or duties. 

2.19 Counter fraud arrangements 

NHS Counter Fraud Authority has responsibility for policy and operational matters relating to 

the prevention, detection and investigation of fraud, bribery and corruption in the NHS. The 

Hampshire and Isle of Wight Counter Fraud Service are contracted to work with the CCG in 

determining appropriate systems and process for the prevention of, identification of, 

managing the risks, and investigation of possible fraud. Their work is overseen by the CCG’s 

Chief Finance Officer. 

 

Activity of the Local Counter Fraud Specialists undertaken on behalf of the CCG is reported 

to, and reviewed by the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee also oversee compliance 

with the NHS Counter Fraud Standards for Commissioners: Fraud, Bribery and Corruption 

though reports provided at least annually and the implementation of action plans addressing 

any areas for improvement. 

 

During the 2018/19 financial year, there were no reports of fraud requiring investigation.  

The CCG continues to work with the Local Counter Fraud Service to ensure that all relevant 

policies are reviewed by the service and provide the most up-to-date guidance and 

requirements for CCG staff. 

 

The CCG’s Anti Bribery statement can be found at: http://www.portsmouthccg.nhs.uk/About-

Us/who-we-are-and-what-we-do.htm 

 

 

 

  

http://www.portsmouthccg.nhs.uk/About-Us/who-we-are-and-what-we-do.htm
http://www.portsmouthccg.nhs.uk/About-Us/who-we-are-and-what-we-do.htm
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2.20 Head of Internal Audit Opinion 

Following completion of audit work for the financial year for the clinical commissioning group, 

the Head of Internal Audit issued an independent and objective opinion on the adequacy and 

effectiveness of the clinical commissioning group’s system of risk management, governance 

and internal control. The Head of Internal Audit concluded that: 

 Substantial assurance can be given that there is a generally sound system of 

internal control, designed to meet the organisation’s objectives, and that controls are 

generally being applied consistently. 

 

Basis of opinion 

The basis for forming my opinion is as follows: 

1. An assessment of the design and operation of the underpinning Assurance 

Framework and supporting processes; and 

2. An assessment of the range of individual opinions arising from risk-based audit 

assignments, contained within internal audit risk-based plans that have been 

reported throughout the year. This assessment has taken account of the relative 

materiality of these areas and management’s progress in respect of addressing 

control weaknesses. 

Additional areas of work that may support the opinion will be determined locally but are not 

required for Department of Health purposes e.g. any reliance that is being placed upon Third 

Party Assurances. The ISAE3402 report produced by PWC covering NHS Shared Business 

Services (SBS) Finance and Accounting and associated general IT controls for the period 1 

April 2018 to 31 March 2019, is unqualified in respect of all 20 control objectives tested. 

During the year, Internal Audit issued the following audit reports:  

Area of Audit Level of Assurance Given  

Continuing Healthcare Reasonable 

Data Security and Protection Toolkit Substantial 

Primary Care Commissioning Carried forward to 2019/20 plan 

Delivery of QIPP Workstreams Carried forward to 2019/20 plan 

STP – Local Delivery Systems Carried forward to 2019/20 plan 

Payroll and Human Resources Substantial 

Financial Accounting Systems Substantial 

Conflicts of Interest Substantial 

Assurance Framework and Risk Management Reasonable 

Partnership Working – s75 arrangements Substantial 
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2.21 Review of the effectiveness of governance, risk management 

and internal control 

My review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is informed by the work of the 

internal auditors, executive managers and clinical leads within the clinical commissioning 

group who have responsibility for the development and maintenance of the internal control 

framework. I have drawn on performance information available to me. My review is also 

informed by comments made by the external auditors in their annual audit letter and other 

reports.  

 

Our assurance framework provides me with evidence that the effectiveness of controls that 

manage risks to the clinical commissioning group achieving its principles objectives have 

been reviewed.  

 

I have been advised on the implications of the result of this review by:  

 The Governing Body; 

 The audit committee; 

 The quality and safeguarding committee; 

 Internal audit; 

 Regular Assurance meetings with NHS England/NHS Improvement. 

 

Conclusion 

I can conclude that no significant internal control issues have been identified. 

 

 

Dr Linda Collie 

Chief Clinical Officer  

22 May 2019 
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SECTION 2 PART B:  

REMUNERATION AND STAFF REPORT 

2.22 Remuneration Committee 

The membership and attendance at the CCGs Remuneration Committee is set out within our 

Governance Statement.  

In addition to members of the Governing Body, the Committee notably received support 

during the course of the year from the CCG’s Human Resources support provider 

(Portsmouth City Council) for which the CCG had a contract for services in place. The Chief 

Clinical Officer, Chief Finance Officer, Chief of Health & Care Portsmouth, and Managing 

Director, Deputy Chief Finance Officer and Head of Governance were also variously in 

attendance at meetings to provide support and answer specific questions of the Committee. 

The Committee was satisfied that the advice received was objective and independent. 

2.23 Policy on the remuneration of senior managers  

We have adopted Agenda for Change terms and conditions for all our staff including senior 

managers and Governing Board members. Spot salaries for senior managers have been 

established by the Remuneration Committee in line with NHS England guidance published in 

2012 (‘Clinical Commissioning Groups: Remuneration for Chief Officers and Chief Finance 

Officers’.)  These are reviewed annually. We intend to continue this approach for the 

foreseeable future. Remuneration awarded to Governing Board members as the senior 

managers of the organisation are set out below. 

 

We do not currently operate performance related pay.  

 

A summary of duration of contracts, and notice periods is contained within the following 

table. In line with UK Corporate Governance Code, the majority of Governing Board 

members are appointed for a fixed term and subject to re-appointment/re-election. The 

duration of contracts has been agreed with member practices as part of the agreement of 

our Constitution. Contracts do not provide for early termination but do provide for either party 

to give and receive paid notice for early termination. 
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2.24 Summary of contract and notice periods for Governing Board & Senior Managers  
 

 

Name Role CCG Start Date Unexpired term Notice Period 

Dr Linda Collie Clinical Leader & Chief Clinical 
Officer 

1 April 2013 Substantive appointment as Chief Clinical 
Officer 
31 March 2022 as Clinical Executive & therefore 
Clinical Leader 

3 months 

Dr Elizabeth Fellows Clinical Executive & Chair of 
Governing Board 

1 April 2013 31 March 2021 3 months 

Karen Atkinson Registered Nurse 20 March 2019 19 March 2022 3 months 

Margaret Geary Lay Member 1 October 2017 30 September 2020 3 months 

Graham Love Lay member 1 October 2017 30 September 2020 3 months 

Dr Nick Moore Clinical Executive 1 May 2017 30 April 2020 3 months 

Jackie Powell Lay member 1 April 2013 31 March 2022 3 months 

Innes Richens Chief of Health and Care 
Portsmouth 

1 April 2013 Substantive 12 weeks 

Tracy Sanders Managing Director 1 September 
2013 

Substantive 4 weeks 

David Scarborough Practice Manager 
Representative 

1 April 2018 31 March 2021 3 months 

Andy Silvester Lay member & Deputy Chair of 
Governing Board 

1 February 2014 31 August 2020 3 months 

Michelle Spandley Chief Finance Officer  1 April 2013 Substantive 12 weeks 

Mr Tahwinder Upile Secondary Care Doctor 1 April 2013 31 March 2022 3 months 

 

In addition David Williams (Chief Executive) and Dr Jason Horsley (Director of Public Health) are voting members of the CCGs Governing 

Board by virtue of their appointment to their roles with Portsmouth City Council. They are not employed by the CCG. 
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2.25 Remuneration of Very Senior Managers 

The remuneration of our Governing Board members and other very senior managers is set out in the table below. We can confirm no individual 

within the CCG is paid more than £150,000 per annum.  

2.26 Senior manager remuneration (including salary and pension entitlements) 2018/19  
This table is subject to Audit 2018/19 

Name Title 

Full Salary & Fees 
Full Performance 

Pay & Bonuses 

NHS Portsmouth CCG 

Salary & Fees 
Performance Pay 

& Bonuses 

All Pension-

related benefits 
Total 

(Bands of £5,000) (Bands of £5,000) (Bands of £5,000) (Bands of £5,000) (Bands of £2,500) 
(Bands of 
£5,000) 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Dr Linda Collie 
Clinical Leader & Accountable Officer 
(Chief Clinical Officer)   70-75 - 70-75 - 22.5-25 95-100 

Innes Richens Chief of Health and Care for Portsmouth i) 115-120 - 55-60 - 35-37.5 90-95 

Michelle Spandley Chief Finance Officer 
 

115-120 - 115-120 - 30-32.5 145-150 

Tracy Sanders Managing Director 
 

95-100 - 95-100 - - 95-100 

Dr Elizabeth Fellows 
Clinical Executive & Chair of Governing 
Board ii) 60-65 - 60-65 - 15-17.5 75-80 

Dr Jonathan Lake Clinical Executive iii) 10-15 - 10-15 - - 10-15 

Dr Anne Eggins Clinical Executive iv) 15-20 - 15-20 - - 15-20 

Dr Nick Moore Clinical Executive 
 

25-30 - 25-30 - 5-7.5 35-40 

Dr Julie Cullen Registered Nurse Lay Member v) 0-5 - 0-5 - - 0-5 

David Scarborough Practice Manager Representative vi) 5-10 - 5-10 - - 5-10 

Denise Matthams Nurse Clinical Executive vii) 0-5 - 0-5 - - 0-5 

Jackie Powell Lay Member 
 

10-15 - 10-15 - - 10-15 

Andy Silvester Lay Member 
 

10-15 - 10-15 - - 10-15 

Graham Love Lay Member 
 

10-15 - 10-15 - - 10-15 

Margaret Geary  Lay Member 
 

10-15 - 10-15 - - 10-15 

Dr Tahwinder Upile Secondary Care Doctor 
 

5-10 - 5-10 - - 5-10 

Karen Atkinson Nurse Clinical Executive viii) - - - - - - 

This table has been subject to external audit. 
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i)  Innes Richens continued to undertake a joint role of Chief of Health and Care Portsmouth for NHS Portsmouth CCG and Portsmouth City Council 

ii) Dr Elizabeth Fellows, in her role of Clinical Executive and Chair of Governing Body for NHS Portsmouth CCG, increased her sessions from 4 (16 hours)upto and including the 31st December 2018, to 5 (20 hours) for 

the 1st January 2019 upto 31st March 2019. 

iii) Dr Jonathan Lake took an unpaid Sabbatical from his role as Clinical Executive with NHS Portsmouth CCG from 1st August 2018 to 31st January 2019. Subsequently on the 1st February 2019 he left the Governing 

Body. 

iv) Dr Anne Eggins, in her role of Clinical Executive for NHS Portsmouth CCG, left the Governing Body on 24th October 2018. 

v) Dr Julie Cullen’s last day in her role of Registered Nurse Lay Member on the NHS Portsmouth CCG Governing Body was 30th September 2018. 

vi) David Scarborough, Practice Manager Representative for NHS Portsmouth CCG, joined the Governing Body on 1st April 2018, replacing Paul Cox. 

vii) Denise Matthams, in her role of Nurse Clinical Executive sat on the NHS Portsmouth CCG Governing Body for the period 27th September 2018 to 31st December 2018. 

viii) Karen Atkinson, joined the NHS Portsmouth CCG Governing Body in the role of Practice Representative, on 20th March 2019.  No payroll or pension information available at the time of report. 
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2.27 Senior manager remuneration (including salary and pension entitlements) 2017/18 comparator 
This table is subject to Audit 2017/18_Comparator 

Name Title 

Full Salary & 
Fees 

Full 
Performance 

Pay & Bonuses 

NHS Portsmouth CCG 

Salary & Fees 
Performance Pay 

& Bonuses 

All Pension-
related 
benefits 

Total 

(Bands of 
£5,000) 

(Bands of 
£5,000) 

(Bands of 
£5,000) (Bands of £5,000) 

(Bands of 
£2,500) 

(Bands of 
£5,000) 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Dr Jim Hogan 
Clinical Leader & Accountable Officer (Chief 
Clinical Officer) 

i 
10-15 

- 
10-15 - - 10-15 

Dr Linda Collie 
Clinical Leader & Accountable Officer (Chief 
Clinical Officer) 

ii 
70-75 

- 
70-75 - 22.5-25 90-95 

Innes Richens Chief of Health and Care for Portsmouth iii 105-110 - 50-55 - 35-37.5 90-95 

Michelle Spandley Chief Finance Officer   105-110 - 105-110 - 27.5-30 135-140 

Tracy Sanders Managing Director iv 85-90 - 85-90 - - 85-90 

Dr Elizabeth Fellows Clinical Executive & Chair of Governing Board   55-60 - 55-60 - 45-47.5 100-105 

Dr Jonathan Lake Clinical Executive v 25-30 - 25-30 - N/A 25-30 

Dr Anne Eggins Clinical Executive vi 20-25 - 20-25 - N/A 25-30 

Dr Nick Moore Clinical Executive vii 25-30 - 25-30 - N/A 25-30 

Paul Cox Practice Manager   5-10 - 5-10 - - 5-10 

Dr Julie Cullen Registered Nurse Lay Member   5-10 - 5-10 - - 5-10 

Jackie Powell Lay Member   10-15 - 10-15 - - 10-15 

Tom Morton Lay Member viii 0-5 - 0-5 - - 0-5 

Andy Silvester Lay Member   10-15 - 10-15 - - 10-15 

Graham Love Lay Member ix 5-10 - 5-10 - - 5-10 

Margaret Geary  Lay Member x 5-10 - 5-10 - - 5-10 

Dr Tahwinder Upile Secondary Care Doctor   5-10 - 5-10 - - 5-10 

This table has been subject to external audit. 
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2.28 Pension benefits as at 31 March 2019  

Name Title 

(a) (b) (c) (d) (e) (f) (g) (h) 

Real increase 
in pension at 
pension age 

Real increase 
in pension 

lump sum at 
pension age 

Total accrued 
pension at 

pension age 
at 31 March 

2019 

Lump sum at 
pension age 
related to 
accrued 

pension at 31 
March 2019 

Cash 
Equivalent 

Transfer 
Value a 1 
April 2018 

Real increase 
in Cash 

Equivalent 
Transfer 

Value 

Cash 
Equivalent 

Transfer 
Value at 31 
March 2019 

Employers 
contribution 

to 
stakeholder 

pension 
(Bands of 
£2,500) 

(Bands of 
£2,500) 

(Bands of 
£5,000) 

(Bands of 
£5,000)         

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Dr Linda Collie 

Clinical Leader & 
Accountable Officer (Chief 
Clinical Officer)   0-2.5 (2.5)-0 

 
 

15-20 35-40 202 34 253 

 
 

N/A 

Innes Richens 
Chief of Health and Care 
for Portsmouth   0-2.5 (2.5)-0 30-35 75-80 515 77 623 

 
N/A 

Michelle 
Spandley Chief Finance Officer   0-2.5 (2.5)-0 45-50 135-140 899 104 1,045 

 
N/A 

Dr Anne Eggins Clinical Executive i) (2.5)-0 (2.5)-0 20-25 65-70 404 45 464 N/A 
Dr Elizabeth 
Fellows 

Clinical Executive & Chair 
of Governing Board ii) 0-2.5 0-2.5 0-5 10-15 65 14 90 

 
N/A 

Dr Jonathan 
Lake Clinical Executive iii) (2.5)-0 (2.5)-0 10-15 30-35 175 24 205 N/A 
Dr Nick Moore Clinical Executive   0-2.5 (2.5)-0 10-15 30-35 158 24 191 N/A 
 

This table has been subject to external audit. 

 

Notes 

         

  
i) Dr Anne Eggins, in her role of Clinical Executive for NHS Portsmouth CCG, left the Governing Body on 24th October 2018. 

     ii) Dr Elizabeth Fellows, in her role of Clinical Executive and Chair of Governing Body for NHS Portsmouth CCG, increased her sessions from 4 (16 hours)upto and including the 31st December 2018, to 5 (20 hours) for the 1st January 2019 upto 31st March 2019. 
iii) Dr Jonathan Lake took an unpaid sabbatical from his role as Clinical Executive with NHS Portsmouth CCG from 1st August 2018 to 31st January 2019. Subsequently on the 1st February 2019 he left the Governing Body. 
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2.29 Cash equivalent transfer values  

A cash equivalent transfer value (CETV) is the actuarially assessed capital value of the 

pension scheme benefits accrued by a member at a particular point in time. The benefits 

valued are the member’s accrued benefits and any contingent spouse’s (or other allowable 

beneficiary’s) pension payable from the scheme. 

A CETV is a payment made by a pension scheme or arrangement to secure pension 

benefits in another pension scheme or arrangement when the member leaves a scheme and 

chooses to transfer the benefits accrued in their former scheme. The pension figures shown 

relate to the benefits that the individual has accrued as a consequence of their total 

membership of the pension scheme, not just their service in a senior capacity to which 

disclosure applies. 

The CETV figures and the other pension details include the value of any pension benefits in 

another scheme or arrangement which the individual has transferred to the NHS pension 

scheme. They also include any additional pension benefit accrued to the member as a result 

of their purchasing additional years of pension service in the scheme at their own cost. 

CETVs are calculated within the guidelines and framework prescribed by the Institute and 

Faculty of Actuaries.  

2.30 Real increase in CETV  

This reflects the increase in CETV effectively funded by the employer. It does not include the 

increase in accrued pension due to inflation or contributions paid by the employee (including 

the value of any benefits transferred from another scheme or arrangement). 

2.31 Compensation on early retirement of for loss of office  

There have been no payments in the current or previous financial year for loss of office.  

2.32 Payments to past members  

There have been no payments to past members.  

2.33 Pay multiples  
Reporting bodies are required to disclose the relationship between the remuneration of the 

highest paid director/member in their organisation and the median remuneration of the 

organisation’s workforce. 

The banded remuneration of the highest paid director/member in the CCG in the financial 

year 2018/19 was £140,000 - £145,000 (2017/18 £145,000 - £150,000).  This was 3.19 

times (3.10 in 2017/18) higher than the median remuneration of the workforce, which was 

£45,000-£50,000 (2017/18 £45,000 - £50,000). 

In 2018/19, no employees received remuneration in excess of the highest-paid 

director/member during either 2017/18 or 2016/17.  Remuneration ranged from £18,600 to 

£144,000 (2017/18 £18,200 to £146,000.) 
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Total remuneration includes salary, non-consolidated performance-related pay, benefits-in-

kind, but not severance payments.  It does not include employer pension contributions and 

the cash equivalent transfer value of pensions. 

STAFF REPORT  

2.34 Number of senior managers 

As at 31st March 2019 our Governing Board (the senior managers of the CCG) compromised 

of eight voting members who were male, and six voting members who were female. All 

Governing Board members are paid local spot rates as determined by our Remuneration 

Committee.  

There is one other individual paid on local senior manager spot rate as agreed by the 

Remuneration Committee and she is female.  

All 15 senior managers are paid on local spot rates.  

Band 
Number 

Permanent Other 

Local Spot Rates 10 9 

 

2.35 Staff numbers and costs 

Staff costs 

Description 
Number 

Permanent Other* 

Salaries & wages 3,292 51 

Social security costs 366   

NHS pension costs 450   

Apprenticeship Levy 5   

Total staff costs 4,112 51 
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Staff numbers 

Description 
Number 

Permanent Other* 

General Medical Practitioner   7 4 

Senior Manager - Central Functions 18 4 

Manager - Clinical Support   1 0 

Clerical & Administrative - Central Functions 46 6 

Clerical & Administrative - Clinical Support 3 1 

Support Worker - Acute, Elderly & General 1 0 

Nurse Manager - Community Services 2 2 

Nurse - Community Services   1 0 

Pharmacists – Trained   4 0 

Pharmacy Technicians   5 1 

Total Staff Numbers   88 18 

*includes Governing Body executives, staff recharged by other NHS bodies, agency and temporary staff 

 

 Staff composition 

Band 
Number 

Male Female 

Local Spot Rates 9 10 

Senior Managers (Band 9) 1 3 

Other Employees 16 67 
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2.36 Sickness absence data 

The CCG maintains overall a low rate of absence when compared to others in the NHS. 

Average staff sickness level for the year was 2.38%. This is slightly higher than last year’s 

average which was 2.26%. It remains well below the average NHS sickness rate of around 

4% and compares favourably with the average rates for CCGs generally (2.8%).  

We have a sickness absence management policy to ensure the equitable, fair and sensitive 

management of employees who are unable to fulfil their contractual duties due to ill health or 

disability.  

The majority of sickness absence was short term in nature. Where there is long term staff 

sickness, we have a policy to work proactively to support staff in their return to work. This 

can involve the support of occupational health services, employee assistance programmes 

and the consideration of flexible working arrangements in accordance with CCG HR policies.  

Note 4.3 in the Financial Statements sets out details of staff sickness absence for the year. 

2.37 Staff policies 

Our responsibilities and commitments as an employer are set out in our Human Resources 

Framework. Our Framework is underpinned by a range of policies which seek to ensure 

equality and diversity within the workforce and appropriate arrangements to support all 

individuals.  

 

We are committed to working in line with current employment legislation, including the 

Equality Act 2010. This means we aim to provide a working environment free from 

discrimination, victimisation, and harassment, whether on an individual or institutional basis 

on the grounds of age, disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnerships, 

pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex (gender), sexual orientation, or any 

other grounds that infringe on Human Rights. 

 

We also aim to recruit a representative workforce from all sections of the community in order 

to commission healthcare services that respect and respond to the diverse needs of the 

people of Portsmouth.  

 

In line with the CCG equality, diversity and human rights policy anonymous staff equalities 

monitoring is used to identify trends and potential unfairness in recruitment, access to 

training and career progression. This looks at all protected characteristics and includes 

disability. If unfairness is found the CCG would use positive action to address this. 

 

2.38 Other employee matters 

The CCG surveys staff on its approach to equality and diversity as part of its broader staff 

survey approach and this feedback is incorporated into our equality and diversity annual 

report as well as informing action planning for the future.  

Information on our employee consultation and participation arrangements is reported to 

earlier in this annual report under staff engagement activities (ref X.X.).  
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The CCG has health and safety arrangements in place with specialist direction provided 

under a service level agreement from Portsmouth City Council. As part of this the CCG has 

a health and safety statement, has adopted a range of health and safety policies and 

requires all individuals to undertake relevant health and safety training.  

2.39 Consultancy expenditure 

The CCG spent £0k on Consultancy Fees during the financial year.  This compared to 

£34,000 in 2017/18. 

2.40 Off payroll engagements 

Table 1: Off-payroll engagements longer than 6 months 
 

  No. of existing engagements as of 31 March 2019 0 

Of which:   

No. that have existed for less than one year at time of reporting 0 

No. that have existed for between one and two years at time of reporting 0 

No. that have existed for between two and three years at time of reporting 0 

No. that have existed for between three & four years at time of reporting 0 

No. that have existed for four or more year at time of reporting 0 

 
 

Table 2: New off-payroll engagements 
 

 
 

No. of new engagements, or those that reached six months in duration, between 1 
April 2018 and 31 March 2019 

1 

Of which:   

No. assessed as identified by IR35 0 

No. assessed as not identified by IR35 1 

No. engaged directly (via PSC contracted to department) and are on the 
department payroll 

0 

No. of engagments reassessed for consistency / assurance purposes during the 
year 

0 

No. of engagements that saw a change to IR35 status following the consistency 
review 

0 

 
 

Table 3: Off-payroll engagements / Senior official engagements 
 

 
 

No. of off-payroll engagements of board members, and/or, senior officials with 
significant financial responsibility, during the financial year. 

0 

No. of individuals that have been deemed "board members", and/or, senior 
officials with significant financial responsibility", during the financial year. This 
figure should include both off-payroll and on-payroll engagements. 

17 
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2.41 Exit packages, including special (non-contractual payments)   

No exit packages or special (non-contractual) payments have been made by the CCG in the 

year ending 31st March 2019. 

 2.42 Audit of Accountability Report 

Auditors have reviewed the Accountability Report for consistency with other information in 

the financial statements and have provided an opinion on the following disclosures that have 

been made: 

 Single total figure of remuneration for each director/member; 

 CETV disclosures for each director/member; 

 Payments to past directors/members, if relevant; 

 Payments for loss of office, if relevant; 

 “Fair pay” (pay multiples) disclosures; 

 Exit packages, if relevant, and: 

 Staff report, staff numbers and values 

 Regulatory of expenditure (Value for Money) 

 Fees and charges 

 Remote contingent liabilities. 

 

 

Dr Linda Collie 

Chief Clinical Officer  

22 May 2019 
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SECTION 3 FINANCE REPORT  

3.1 Financial overview 
The CCG met its financial and administrative financial duties in 2018/19. The full results are 

set out within the CCGs Annual Accounts and notes to the accounts at the end of this 

document. The key results are: 

 

 An in-year revenue surplus of £0.5m against an in-year revenue resource limit of 

£319.1m (including running costs allowance); 

 A cumulative revenue surplus of £8.3m against a total revenue resource limit of 

£326.8m. 

 The cash balance at year end was £219k which was within the target set by NHS 

England. 

 The CCG incurred no capital expenditure during 2018/19. 

 

3.2 Review of the financial year 
The CCG continued to perform well financially and met all of its financial duties.  These are: 

to remain within its revenue, capital and running costs allocations, and to ensure cash at 

year end is no more than 1.25% of the cash drawdown in the month of March 2019.  

 

The CCG was required to set its 2018/19 Financial Plan in accordance with the planning 

rules and requirements set out by NHS England and set a budget to achieve an in-year 

break-even control total. During 2018/19 the CCG took advantage of the ‘2 for 1’ offer and 

increased its original control total of an in-year break-even to a surplus of £0.5m.  This will 

enable the CCG to utilise a proportion of its cumulative surplus in 2019/20. The CCG’s 

cumulative surplus, as a result of achieving the £0.5m in-year surplus, increased from £7.7m 

to £8.3m. 

The CCG received a total revenue allocation of £326.8m, which included the cumulative 

surplus from 2017/18 of £7.7m and a running cost allocation of £4.7m.  Revenue 

expenditure for the year amounted to £318.6m which provided an in-year surplus of £0.5m, 

and cumulative surplus of £8.3m.  

The CCG set aside a contingency to manage any risks around unexpected activity or cost 

pressures, particularly in relation to potential over-performance on any contracts.   

The charts show how the CCG applied this across the various commissioning areas, 

together with a breakdown of the amount spent per head of population. 

Allocation Expenditure

Surplus / 

(Deficit)

2018/19 £'000 £'000 £'000

Admin 4,717 4,181 536

Programme 314,369 314,379 (10)

Total in year 319,086 318,560 526

Brought Forward Surplus 7,733 0 7,733

Total 326,819 318,560 8,259
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Spend per head of population 2018/19 

 

Commissioning Spend 2018/19 

 

Allocation £m

£1,410 per head

Planned
49%

Emergency
51%

Running Costs
£19

Community Health
£141

Social Care and Voluntary
£51

Delegated Primary Care 
Co-Commissioning

£121

Primary Care
£167

Acute
£659

Mental Health
£171

Continuing Healthcare
£81

Expenditure £318.6m
Population 225,989

Equates to £1,410 per head of population
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During the financial year, the CCG’s major financial pressures were within  

 Acute care contracts due to increased activity in elective procedures 

 Extra-Contractual referrals relating to inpatient mental health services 

 Continuing Healthcare, caused by increasing costs of packages and continued 

increase in the number of 1:1 packages  

 

These financial pressures were offset in part by a significant underspend in medicines 

management/prescribing costs. 

 

Despite the risks, expenditure was managed within the agreed control total.  The CCG was 

able to provide investment into the acute, community and primary care sectors to improve 

flow and discharge and to help to manage demand on emergency services, thus improving 

care for patients. 

 

The CCG achieved the Mental Health Investment Standard during 2018/19, increasing 

recurrent expenditure in Mental Health by 5% compared to a 2.8% requirement. 

Whilst the CCG continues to maintain a strong financial position, this is not representative of 

all partners within the local health and social care system.  The wider system has continued 

to be under financial pressure during the year.   

 

Within the Sustainability and Transformation Partnership (STP), the CCG continues to work 

as part of the Portsmouth and South East Hampshire Integrated Care Partnership.  The  

Integrated Care Partnership is  working together to evaluate and understand the scale of the 

financial challenge, and to jointly agree work on longer term plans to enable overall financial 

balance whilst delivering sustainable healthcare.  

 

The CCG also continues to develop integration with Portsmouth City Council to enable both 

organisations to better manage financial risk as well as working more efficiently on behalf of 

our citizens. 

 

3.3 Quality, Innovation, Productivity and Prevention (QIPP) 
The NHS as a whole has to improve efficiency to offset the rising cost of healthcare from 

new technologies, population growth and complexity of need, inflation and other pressures.  

 

The national programme is now well established to release savings by improving quality, 

driving innovation in healthcare, improving productivity and preventing ill-health.  

 

The CCG was required to deliver savings of £11m (3.4% of overall allocation) during the 

year in order to achieve its control total.  These efficiencies were achieved through a range 

of measures, including the use of benchmarking information from the NHS Right Care 

initiative to remove unwarranted variation, as well as developing closer working relationships 

with operational teams in our main provider to change patient pathways and improve patient 

flow.  

 

Further savings have been achieved through the reduction of the estates footprint within 

Portsmouth and a review of back office costs within the CCG. 
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3.4 Running costs 
Each CCG is set a limit on how much it can spend on its administrative costs. For our CCG, 

this limit is £4.7m, which equates to £19 per head of population.  The CCG spent £4.2m. 

3.5 Cash 
NHS England set a cash target for each CCG, insofar as cashbook balances held should not 

exceed 1.25% of the CCGs cash drawdown for March 2019.  The CCGs target equated to a 

maximum cashbook balance of £264k, the actual cashbook balance of £219k was within the 

threshold. 

 

3.6 Better payment practice code 
The Better Payment Practice Code (BPPC) requires CCGs to aim to pay all valid invoices by 

the due date, or within 30 days of receipt of a valid invoice.  For Non-NHS invoices, we paid 

99.57% of the number of invoices in line with the BPPC (99.77% of the value), and for NHS 

invoices, we paid 99.64% of the number of invoices in line with the BPPC (99.79% of the 

value). 

 

NHS organisations are deemed to have complied with this measure if at least 95% of 

invoices are paid within 30 days or within contract terms. 

 

3.7 Fees and charges 
The CCG is able to charge a fee to individuals who exercise their right to obtain a copy of 

the information that the CCG holds about them.  This is known as a Subject Access 

Request.  The CCG operated in compliance with the cost allocation and charging 

requirements set out in HM Treasury guidance.  The CCG received no fees and charges in 

this respect during 2018/19. 

 

3.8 Financial plan 2019/20 
NHS England issued planning guidance together with updated allocations in January 2019.  

The per capita allocation for 2019/20 is £1,473 which includes the CCGs additional growth in 

allocation (compared to £1,410 in 2018/19). 

   

The planning requirements for CCGs are to apply a set of business rules in order to plan to 

achieve an agreed control total of £1m deficit (to take into account the use of a proportion of 

our cumulative surplus).  It is useful to note that an additional non recurrent allocation may 

be applied, in which case the CCG will be working to an in-year break-even.   

 

This will deliver the necessary outcomes for the CCG including above average investment in 

Mental Health and Community services, further investment in primary care and a level of 

funding in acute care to ensure activity targets can be met and that seasonal fluctuations in 

demand are adequately resourced. 

 

The financial plan estimates the required savings for 2019/20 at £10m. We must achieve this 

level of savings to maintain our future financial stability. 
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The contract negotiation process for 2019/20 is close to a conclusion and the CCG fully 

expects contracts to be signed with main providers in the near future. 

 

We will continue to work with system partners to deliver a transformation programme that will 

provide sustainable and affordable services in future years. 

 

 

 

 

 

Michelle Spandley 

Chief Finance Officer  

22 May 2019 
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SECTION 4 INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF THE GOVERNING BODY 

OF NHS PORTSMOUTH CLINICAL COMMISSIONING GROUP 

  

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of NHS Portsmouth CCG (the ‘CCG’) for the year 

ended 31 March 2019, which comprise the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure, 

the Statement of Financial Position, the Statement of Changes in Taxpayers Equity, the 

Statement of Cash Flows and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of 

significant accounting policies. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in 

their preparation is applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) 

as adopted by the European Union, and as interpreted and adapted by the Department of 

Health and Social Care Group Accounting Manual 2018-19. 

 

In our opinion, the financial statements: 

  give a true and fair view of the financial position of the CCG as at 31 March 2019 and of 

its expenditure and income for the year then ended; and 

  have been properly prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 

Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union, as interpreted and adapted by 

the Department of Health and Social Care Group Accounting Manual 2018-19; and  

  have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Health and Social Care 

Act 2012. 

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs 

(UK)) and applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in 

the ‘Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements’ section of our report. 

We are independent of the CCG in accordance with the ethical requirements that are 

relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical 

Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these 

requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 

appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Conclusions relating to going concern 

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the ISAs 

(UK) require us to report to you where: 

  the Accountable Officer’s use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation 

of the financial statements is not appropriate; or 
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  the Accountable Officer has not disclosed in the financial statements any identified 

material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt about the CCG’s ability to continue 

to adopt the going concern basis of accounting for a period of at least twelve months 

from the date when the financial statements are authorised for issue. 

Other information 

The Accountable Officer is responsible for the other information. The other information 

comprises the information included in the Annual Report, other than the financial statements 

and our auditor’s report thereon. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the 

other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not 

express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.  

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 

information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent 

with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to 

be materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material 

misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a material misstatement in the 

financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the 

work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of the other 

information, we are required to report that fact.  

We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Other information we are required to report on by exception under the Code of Audit 

Practice 

Under the Code of Audit Practice published by the National Audit Office on behalf of the 

Comptroller and Auditor General (the Code of Audit Practice) we are required to consider 

whether the Governance Statement does not comply with the guidance issued by the NHS 

Commissioning Board or is misleading or inconsistent with the information of which we are 

aware from our audit. We are not required to consider whether the Governance Statement 

addresses all risks and controls or that risks are satisfactorily addressed by internal controls.  

We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Opinion on other matters required by the Code of Audit Practice  

In our opinion:  

  the parts of the Remuneration and Staff Report to be audited have been properly 

prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union, as interpreted 

and adapted by the Department of Health and Social Care Group Accounting Manual 

2018-19 and the requirements of the Health and Social Care Act 2012; and 

  based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit of the financial statements and 

our knowledge of the CCG gained through our work in relation to the CCG’s 

arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources, 

the other information published together with the financial statements in the Annual 

Report for the financial year for which the financial statements are prepared is consistent 

with the financial statements. 
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Opinion on regularity required by the Code of Audit Practice  

In our opinion, in all material respects the expenditure and income recorded in the financial 

statements have been applied to the purposes intended by Parliament and the financial 

transactions in the financial statements conform to the authorities which govern them. 

Matters on which we are required to report by exception 

Under the Code of Audit Practice, we are required to report to you if: 

  we issue a report in the public interest under Section 24 of the Local Audit and 

Accountability Act 2014 in the course of, or at the conclusion of the audit; or 

  we refer a matter to the Secretary of State under Section 30 of the Local Audit and 

Accountability Act 2014 because we have reason to believe that the CCG,  or an officer 

of the CCG, is about to make, or has made, a decision which involves or would involve 

the body incurring unlawful expenditure, or is about to take, or has begun to take a 

course of action which, if followed to its conclusion, would be unlawful and likely to cause 

a loss or deficiency; or 

  we make a written recommendation to the CCG under Section 24 of the Local Audit and 

Accountability Act 2014 in the course of, or at the conclusion of the audit. 

We have nothing to report in respect of the above matters. 

Responsibilities of the Accountable Officer and Those Charged with Governance for 

the financial statements 

As explained more fully in the Statement of Accountable Officer's responsibilities [set out on 

pages 59 to 60], the Accountable Officer, is responsible for the preparation of the financial 

statements in the form and on the basis set out in the Accounts Directions, for being satisfied 

that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the Accountable Officer 

determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from 

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  

In preparing the financial statements, the Accountable Officer is responsible for assessing 

the CCG’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to 

going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless they have been 

informed by the relevant national body of the intention to dissolve the CCG without the 

transfer of its services to another public sector entity. 

The Accountable Officer is responsible for ensuring the regularity of expenditure and income 

in the financial statements. 

The Audit Committee is Those Charged with Governance. Those charged with governance 

are responsible for overseeing the CCG’s financial reporting process. 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements 

as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue 

an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of 

assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will 

always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or 

error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably 

be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these 

financial statements. 



99 
 

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located 

on the Financial Reporting Council’s website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This 

description forms part of our auditor’s report. 

We are also responsible for giving an opinion on the regularity of expenditure and income in 

the financial statements in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice. 

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements – Conclusion on the CCG’s 

arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of 

resources 

Matter on which we are required to report by exception - CCG’s arrangements for 

securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources 

Under the Code of Audit Practice, we are required to report to you if, in our opinion we have 

not been able to satisfy ourselves that the CCG has made proper arrangements for securing 

economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ended 31 March 

2019.   

We have nothing to report in respect of the above matter. 

Responsibilities of the Accountable Officer 

As explained in the Governance Statement, the Accountable Officer is responsible for 

putting in place proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in 

the use of the CCG's resources. 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the review of the CCG’s arrangements for securing 

economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources 

We are required under Section 21(1)(c) and Schedule 13 paragraph 10(a) of the Local Audit 

and Accountability Act 2014 to be satisfied that the CCG has made proper arrangements for 

securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources and to report where 

we have not been able to satisfy ourselves that it has done so. We are not required to 

consider, nor have we considered, whether all aspects of the CCG's arrangements for 

securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources are operating 

effectively. 

We have undertaken our review in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice, having 

regard to the guidance on the specified criterion issued by the Comptroller and Auditor 

General in November 2017, as to whether in all significant respects, the CCG had proper 

arrangements to ensure it took properly informed decisions and deployed resources to 

achieve planned and sustainable outcomes for taxpayers and local people. The Comptroller 

and Auditor General determined this criterion as that necessary for us to consider under the 

Code of Audit Practice in satisfying ourselves whether the CCG put in place proper 

arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for 

the year ended 31 March 2019, and to report by exception where we are not satisfied. 

We planned our work in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice. Based on our risk 

assessment, we undertook such work as we considered necessary to be satisfied that the 

CCG has put in place proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and 

effectiveness in its use of resources. 

http://www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities
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Report on other legal and regulatory requirements – Certificate 

We certify that we have completed the audit of the financial statements of NHS Portsmouth 

CCG in accordance with the requirements of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 

and the Code of Audit Practice. 

Use of our report 

This report is made solely to the members of the Governing Body of the CCG, as a body, in 

accordance with Part 5 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014. Our audit work has 

been undertaken so that we might state to the members of the Governing Body of the CCG 

those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other 

purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to 

anyone other than the CCG and the members of the Governing Body of the CCG, as a body, 

for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed. 

 

Signature          

Iain Murray, Key Audit Partner 

for and on behalf of Grant Thornton UK LLP, Local Auditor 

 

London 

22 May 2019 
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SECTION 5 ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 

Full accounts now follow. These have been prepared under a Direction issued by the NHS 

Commissioning Board under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended). 

Dr Linda Collie 

Chief Clinical Officer  

22 May 2019 
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NHS Portsmouth Clinical Commissioning Group - Annual Accounts 2018-19

Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure for the year ended

31 March 2019

2018-19 2017-18

Note £'000 £'000

Income from sale of goods and services* 2 (2,560) (3,384)

Other operating income 2 - -

Total operating income (2,560) (3,384)

Staff costs 4 4,163 3,997

Purchase of goods and services 5 316,632 309,290

Depreciation and impairment charges 5 39 39

Provision expense 5 - 15

Other Operating Expenditure 5 287 203

Total operating expenditure 321,121 313,545

Net Operating Expenditure 318,560 310,161

Comprehensive Expenditure for the year 318,560 310,161

N.B Due to roundings this schedule and all following schedules and notes may contain casting variances 

*2017-18 'Other operating income' has been reclassified as 'Income from sale of goods and services' due to the introduction of 

IFRS15 contract income definition in order to provide an accurate comparison to 2018-19 figures
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NHS Portsmouth Clinical Commissioning Group - Annual Accounts 2018-19

Statement of Financial Position as at

31 March 2019

2018-19 2017-18

Note £'000 £'000

Non-current assets:

Property, plant and equipment 13 78 117

Intangible assets 14 - -

Investment property 15 - -

Trade and other receivables 17 - -

Other financial assets 18 - -

Total non-current assets 78 117

Current assets:

Inventories 16 - -

Trade and other receivables 17 3,354 3,061

Other financial assets 18 - -

Other current assets 19 - -

Cash and cash equivalents 20 219 258

Total current assets 3,573 3,319

Non-current assets held for sale 21 - -

Total current assets 3,573 3,319

Total assets 3,651 3,436

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 23 (19,376) (17,217)

Other financial liabilities 24 - -

Other liabilities 25 - -

Borrowings 26 - -

Provisions 30 (326) (326)

Total current liabilities (19,702) (17,543)

Non-Current Assets plus/less Net Current Assets/Liabilities (16,051) (14,107)

Non-current liabilities

Trade and other payables 23 - -

Other financial liabilities 24 - -

Other liabilities 25 - -

Borrowings 26 - -

Provisions 30 - -

Total non-current liabilities - -

Assets less Liabilities (16,051) (14,107)

Financed by Taxpayers’ Equity

General fund (16,051) (14,107)

Revaluation reserve - -

Other reserves - -

Charitable Reserves - -

Total taxpayers' equity: (16,051) (14,107)

Linda Collie

Chief Clinical Officer

The financial statements on pages 102 to 105 were approved by the Governing Body on 22nd May 2019 and signed on its 

behalf by:
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NHS Portsmouth Clinical Commissioning Group - Annual Accounts 2018-19

Statement of Changes In Taxpayers Equity for the year ended

31 March 2019

General fund Total reserves

£'000 £'000

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2018-19

Balance at 01 April 2018 (14,107) (14,107)

Adjusted NHS Clinical Commissioning Group balance at 31 March 2018 (14,107) (14,107)

Net Recognised NHS Clinical Commissioning Group Expenditure for the Financial  Year (318,560) (318,560)

Net funding 316,616 316,616

Balance at 31 March 2019 (16,051) (16,051)

General fund Total reserves

£'000 £'000

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2017-18

Balance at 01 April 2017 (9,510) (9,510)

Adjusted NHS Clinical Commissioning Group balance at 31 March 2018 (9,510) (9,510)

Net Recognised NHS Clinical Commissioning Group Expenditure for the Financial  Year (310,161) (310,161)

Net funding 305,564 305,564

Balance at 31 March 2018 (14,107) (14,107)
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NHS Portsmouth Clinical Commissioning Group - Annual Accounts 2018-19

Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended

31 March 2019

2018-19 2017-18

Note £'000 £'000

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Net operating expenditure for the financial year (318,560) (310,161)

Depreciation and amortisation 5 39 39

(Increase)/decrease in trade & other receivables 17 (293) 187

(Increase)/decrease in other current assets - -

Increase/(decrease) in trade & other payables 23 2,159 4,461

Increase/(decrease) in other current liabilities - -

Provisions utilised 30 - -

Increase/(decrease) in provisions 30 - 15

Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Operating Activities (316,656) (305,459)

Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) before Financing (316,656) (305,459)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Grant in Aid Funding Received 316,616 305,564

Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Financing Activities 316,616 305,564

Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash & Cash Equivalents 20 (39) 105

Cash & Cash Equivalents at the Beginning of the Financial Year 258 154

Effect of exchange rate changes on the balance of cash and cash equivalents held in foreign currencies - -

Cash & Cash Equivalents (including bank overdrafts) at the End of the Financial Year 219 259
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NHS Portsmouth Clinical Commissioning Group - Annual Accounts 2018-19

Notes to the financial statements

1 Accounting Policies

NHS England has directed that the financial statements of clinical commissioning groups shall meet the accounting requirements 

of the Group Accounting Manual issued by the Department of Health and Social Care. Consequently, the following financial 

statements have been prepared in accordance with the  Group Accounting Manual 2018-19 issued by the Department of Health and 

Social Care. The accounting policies contained in the Group Accounting Manual follow International Financial Reporting Standards 

to the extent that they are meaningful and appropriate to clinical commissioning groups, as determined by HM Treasury, which is 

advised by the Financial Reporting Advisory Board.  Where the Group Accounting Manual permits a choice of accounting policy, 

the accounting policy which is judged to be most appropriate to the particular circumstances of the clinical commissioning group 

for the purpose of giving a true and fair view has been selected. The particular policies adopted by the clinical commissioning group 

are described below. They have been applied consistently in dealing with items considered material in relation to the accounts.

1.1 Going Concern

These accounts have been prepared on a going concern basis.

Public sector bodies are assumed to be going concerns where the continuation of the provision of a service in the future is 

anticipated, as evidenced by inclusion of financial provision for that service in published documents.

1.2 Accounting Convention

These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified to account for the revaluation of property, plant 

and equipment, intangible assets, inventories and certain financial assets and financial liabilities.

1.3 Acquisitions & Discontinued Operations

The Clinical Commissioning Group did not acquire of discontinue and activities during 2018-19.

1.4 Movement of Assets within the Department of Health and Social Care Group

The Clinical Commissioning Group did not undertake any trasnfers of assets or liabilities as part of a reorganisation during 2018-19

1.5 Subsidiaries

The Clinical Commissioning Group does not have any Subsidiaries.

1.6 Associates

The Clinical Commissioning Group does not have any Associates.

1.7 Joint Ventures

The Clinical Commissioning Group does not participate in any Joint Ventures.

1.8 Joint Operations

Joint operations are activities undertaken by the Clinical Commissioning Group in conjunction with one or more other parties but 

which are not performed through a separate entity. The Clinical Commissioning Group records its share of the income and 

expenditure; gains and losses; assets and liabilities; and cash flows.

The Clinical Commissioning Group has entered into three pooled budget arrangements under section 75 of the National Health 

Service Act 2006 with Portsmouth City Council.  The Clinical Commissioning Group has accounted for its share of the assets, 

liabilities, income and expenditure arising from the activities of the pooled budget, identified in accordance with the pooled budget 

arrangements.

1.9 Charitable Funds

The Clinical Commissioning Group does not hold any charitable funds

1.10 Pooled Budgets

Where the Clinical Commissioning Group has entered into a pooled budget arrangement under Section 75 of the National Health 

Service Act 2006 the Clinical Commissioning Group accounts for its share of the assets, liabilities, income and expenditure arising 

from the activities of the pooled budget, identified in accordance with the pooled budget agreement.

The Clinical Commissioning Group holds three pooled budgets with Portsmouth City Council - as detailed in Note 35.  These 

pooled budgets were not classified as Joint Operations under IFRS11 throughout 2018-19 and are therefore accounted for gross.

1.11 Critical Accounting Judgements & Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

In the application of the Clinical Commissioning Group’s accounting policies, management is required to make judgements, 

estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. 

The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. 

Actual results may differ from those estimates and the estimates and underlying assumptions are continually reviewed. Revisions 

to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the 

period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.
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1.11.1 Critical Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies

The Clinical Commissioning Group has not applied any material critical judgements whilst adhering to accounting policies during 

2018-19.

Estimations

- Prescribing accrual: The actual primary care prescribing costs for February and March are not known at the Statement of 

Financial Position date.  As such, costs for February and March are forecast based upon the first ten months expenditure as well 

as historic expenditure profiles.

- Maternity pathway payment: The Clinical Commissioning Group has made an estimate based on information supplied by NHS 

Acute Providers for payments made in accordance with Payments by Results (PbR) guidance relating to maternity activity which 

will be performed in 2019-20.

- Partially completed spells: The Clinical Commissioning Group has made an estimate based on information supplied by NHS 

Acute Providers for payments that will be made in 2019-20 in accordance with PbR guidance relating to inpatient activity performed 

in 2018-19.

- Final month NHS contract variance: Actual contracted activity costs for March are not known at the Statement of Financial 

Position date. As such, activity costs for March are estimated based upon year to date actuals extrapolated for full year actuals or 

agreed year end positions.

- Non Contracted Activity: Non Contracted Activity (NCA) for 2018-19 does not have to be invoiced to the Clinical Commissioning 

Group until the end of June 2019. The Clinical Commissioning Group consequently estimates its liability using previous month's 

data which is then extrapolated for the full year.  Estimates for the value of services outside of national tariffs, Market Forces Factor 

premiums, CQUIN payments and accounting for provisions are also taken into consideration in estimating the Clinical 

Commissioning Group's full liability.

- Co-Commissioning: Actual achievement costs for Quality Outcomes Framework and Direct Enhanced Services are not known at 

the Statement of Financial Position date.  As such, levels of achievement are estimated based on historic information.

1.11.2 Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

The following are the key estimations that management has made in the process of applying the Clinical Commissioning Group’s 

accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:

The Clinical Commissioning Group has an on-going investigation, which commenced in February 2017, regarding the employment 

classification of various off-payroll engagements.  This generated a provision with limited certainty within the 2016-17 accounts.  

The investigation continues, and the Clinical Commissioning Group continues to recognise a provision in the 2018-19 accounts in 

relation to this.  Details pertaining to this provision is included in note 30.

1.12  Revenue

The transition to IFRS 15 has been completed in accordance with paragraph C3 (b) of the Standard, applying the Standard 

retrospectively recognising the cumulative effects at the date of initial application.

In the adoption of IFRS 15 a number of practical expedients offered in the Standard have been employed. These are as follows;

• As per paragraph 121 of the Standard the clinical commissioning group will not disclose information regarding performance 

obligations part of a contract that has an original expected duration of one year or less,

• The clinical commissioning group is to similarly not disclose information where revenue is recognised in line with the practical 

expedient offered in paragraph B16 of the Standard where the right to consideration corresponds directly with value of the 

performance completed to date.

• The FReM has mandated the exercise of the practical expedient offered in C7(a) of the Standard that requires the clinical 

commissioning group to reflect the aggregate effect of all contracts modified before the date of initial application.

Revenue in respect of services provided is recognised when (or as) performance obligations are satisfied by transferring promised 

services to the customer, and is measured at the amount of the transaction price allocated to that performance obligation.

Where income is received for a specific performance obligation that is to be satisfied in the following year, that income is deferred.

Payment terms are standard reflecting cross government principles. Significant terms include payment within 30 days.

Upon a thorough review of IFRS 15 it became clear that the standards has no material impact on the 2018-19 accounts for 

Portsmouth CCG

The value of the benefit received when the clinical commissioning group accesses funds from the Government’s apprenticeship 

service are recognised as income in accordance with IAS 20, Accounting for Government Grants. Where these funds are paid 

directly to an accredited training provider, non-cash income and a corresponding non-cash training expense are recognised, both 

equal to the cost of the training funded.
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1.13 Employee Benefits

1.13.1 Short-term Employee Benefits

Salaries, wages and employment-related payments, including payments arising from the apprenticeship levy, are recognised in the 

period in which the service is received from employees, including bonuses earned but not yet taken.

The cost of leave earned but not taken by employees at the end of the period is recognised in the financial statements to the extent 

that employees are permitted to carry forward leave into the following period.

1.13.2 Retirement Benefit Costs

Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions Schemes. These schemes are unfunded, defined 

benefit schemes that cover NHS employers, General Practices and other bodies allowed under the direction of the Secretary of 

State in England and Wales. The schemes are not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their 

share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities. Therefore, the schemes are accounted for as though they were defined 

contribution schemes: the cost to the clinical commissioning group of participating in a scheme is taken as equal to the 

contributions payable to the scheme for the accounting period.

For early retirements other than those due to ill health the additional pension liabilities are not funded by the scheme. The full 

amount of the liability for the additional costs is charged to expenditure at the time the clinical commissioning group commits itself 

to the retirement, regardless of the method of payment.

The schemes are subject to a full actuarial valuation every four years and an accounting valuation every year.

1.14 Other Expenses

Other operating expenses are recognised when, and to the extent that, the goods or services have been received. They are 

measured at the fair value of the consideration payable.

1.15 Grants Payable

Where grant funding is not intended to be directly related to activity undertaken by a grant recipient in a specific period, the clinical 

commissioning group recognises the expenditure in the period in which the grant is paid. All other grants are accounted for on an 

accruals basis.

1.16 Property, Plant & Equipment

1.16.1 Recognition

Property, plant and equipment is capitalised if:

·                It is held for use in delivering services or for administrative purposes;

·                It is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential will be supplied to the clinical commissioning 

group;

·                It is expected to be used for more than one financial year;

·                The cost of the item can be measured reliably; and,

·                The item has a cost of at least £5,000; or,

·                Collectively, a number of items have a cost of at least £5,000 and individually have a cost of more than £250, where the 

assets are functionally interdependent, they had broadly simultaneous purchase dates, are anticipated to have simultaneous 

disposal dates and are under single managerial control; or,

·                Items form part of the initial equipping and setting-up cost of a new building, ward or unit, irrespective of their individual or 

collective cost.

Where a large asset, for example a building, includes a number of components with significantly different asset lives, the 

components are treated as separate assets and depreciated over their own useful economic lives.

1.16.2 Measurement

All property, plant and equipment is measured initially at cost, representing the cost directly attributable to acquiring or 

constructing the asset and bringing it to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner 

intended by management. 

Fixtures and equipment are carried at depreciated historic cost as this is not considered to be materially different from current value 

in existing use.

1.16.3 Subsequent Expenditure

Where subsequent expenditure enhances an asset beyond its original specification, the directly attributable cost is capitalised. 

Where subsequent expenditure restores the asset to its original specification, the expenditure is capitalised and any existing 

carrying value of the item replaced is written-out and charged to operating expenses.
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1.17 Intangible Assets

1.17.1 Recognition

The Clinical Commissioning Group hold no intangible assets

1.18 Depreciation, Amortisation & Impairments

Freehold land, properties under construction, and assets held for sale are not depreciated.

Otherwise, depreciation and amortisation are charged to write off the costs or valuation of property, plant and equipment and 

intangible non-current assets, less any residual value, over their estimated useful lives, in a manner that reflects the consumption of 

economic benefits or service potential of the assets. The estimated useful life of an asset is the period over which the clinical 

commissioning group expects to obtain economic benefits or service potential from the asset. This is specific to the clinical 

commissioning group and may be shorter than the physical life of the asset itself. Estimated useful lives and residual values are 

reviewed each year end, with the effect of any changes recognised on a prospective basis. Assets held under finance leases are 

depreciated over their estimated useful lives.

At each reporting period end, the clinical commissioning group checks whether there is any indication that any of its property, plant 

and equipment assets or intangible non-current assets have suffered an impairment loss. If there is indication of an impairment 

loss, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated to determine whether there has been a loss and, if so, its amount. Intangible 

assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment annually.

A revaluation decrease that does not result from a loss of economic value or service potential is recognised as an impairment 

charged to the revaluation reserve to the extent that there is a balance on the reserve for the asset and, thereafter, to expenditure. 

Impairment losses that arise from a clear consumption of economic benefit are taken to expenditure. Where an impairment loss 

subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of the recoverable amount but capped 

at the amount that would have been determined had there been no initial impairment loss. The reversal of the impairment loss is 

credited to expenditure to the extent of the decrease previously charged there and thereafter to the revaluation reserve.

1.19 Donated Assets

The Clinical Commissioning Group hold no donated assets.

1.20 Government grant funded assets

The Clinical Commissioning Group did not receive any government grants during 2018-19

1.21 Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases when substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to the lessee. All 

other leases are classified as operating leases.

1.21.1 The Clinical Commissioning Group as Lessee

Property, plant and equipment held under finance leases are initially recognised, at the inception of the lease, at fair value or, if 

lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments, with a matching liability for the lease obligation to the lessor. Lease 

payments are apportioned between finance charges and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a constant rate on 

interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are recognised in calculating the clinical commissioning group’s 

surplus/deficit.

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Lease incentives are 

recognised initially as a liability and subsequently as a reduction of rentals on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Contingent rentals are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.

Where a lease is for land and buildings, the land and building components are separated and individually assessed as to whether 

they are operating or finance leases.

1.21.2 The Clinical Commissioning Group as Lessor

The Clinical Commissioning Group dioes not hold any lessor arrangements

1.22  Private Finance Initiative Transactions

The Clinical Commissioning Group had no Private Finance Initiative, LIFT or other service concession arranegements in 2018-19

1.23  Inventories

The Clinical Commissioning Group held no inventories at 31st March 2019

1.24 Cash & Cash Equivalents

Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable without penalty on notice of not more than 24 hours. 

Cash equivalents are investments that mature in 3 months or less from the date of acquisition and that are readily convertible to 

known amounts of cash with insignificant risk of change in value.

In the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and 

that form an integral part of the clinical commissioning group’s cash management.
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1.25 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the clinical commissioning group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past 

event, it is probable that the clinical commissioning group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be 

made of the amount of the obligation. The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the expenditure required to 

settle the obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties. Where a provision is 

measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows 

using HM Treasury’s discount rate as follows:

Early retirement provisions are discounted using HM Treasury’s pension discount rate of positive 0.29% (2017-18: positive 0.10%) 

in real terms. All general provisions are subject to four separate discount rates according to the expected timing of cashflows from 

the Statement of Financial Position date:

• A nominal short-term rate of 0.76% (2017-18: negative 2.42% in real terms) for inflation adjusted expected cash flows up to and 

including 5 years from Statement of Financial Position date.

• A nominal medium-term rate of 1.14% (2017-18: negative 1.85% in real terms) for inflation adjusted expected cash flows over 5 

years up to and including 10 years from the Statement of Financial Position date.

• A nominal long-term rate of 1.99% (2017-18: negative 1.56% in real terms) for inflation adjusted expected cash flows over 10 

years and up to and including 40 years from the Statement of Financial Position date.

• A nominal very long-term rate of 1.99% (2017-18: negative 1.56% in real terms) for inflation adjusted expected cash flows 

exceeding 40 years from the Statement of Financial Position date.

All 2018-19 percentages are expressed in nominal terms with 2017-18 being the last financial year that HM Treasury provided real 

general provision discount rates.

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, the 

receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursements will be received and the amount of the receivable 

can be measured reliably.

More detailed information regarding 2018-19 provisions can be found within note 30.

1.26 Clinical Negligence Costs

NHS Resolution operates a risk pooling scheme under which the clinical commissioning group pays an annual contribution to NHS 

Resolution, which in return settles all clinical negligence claims. The contribution is charged to expenditure. Although NHS 

Resolution is administratively responsible for all clinical negligence cases, the legal liability remains with clinical commissioning 

group.

1.27 Non-clinical Risk Pooling

The clinical commissioning group participates in the Property Expenses Scheme and the Liabilities to Third Parties Scheme. Both 

are risk pooling schemes under which the clinical commissioning group pays an annual contribution to the NHS Resolution and, in 

return, receives assistance with the costs of claims arising. The annual membership contributions, and any excesses payable in 

respect of particular claims are charged to operating expenses as and when they become due.

1.28 Carbon Reduction Commitment Scheme

Due to the nature of its activities, the Clinical Commissioning Group is not a member of the Carbon Reduction Scheme.

1.29 Contingent liabilities and contingent assets

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the 

occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the clinical commissioning 

group, or a present obligation that is not recognised because it is not probable that a payment will be required to settle the 

obligation or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured sufficiently reliably. A contingent liability is disclosed unless the 

possibility of a payment is remote.

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed by the occurrence or 

non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the clinical commissioning group. A 

contingent asset is disclosed where an inflow of economic benefits is probable.

Where the time value of money is material, contingent liabilities and contingent assets are disclosed at their present value.

The Clinical Commissioning Group did not have any contingent assets or liabilities in 2018-19.

1.30 Financial Assets

Financial assets are recognised when the clinical commissioning group becomes party to the financial instrument contract or, in 

the case of trade receivables, when the goods or services have been delivered. Financial assets are derecognised when the 

contractual rights have expired or the asset has been transferred.

Financial assets are classified into the following categories:

·                Financial assets at amortised cost;

·                Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income and ;

·                Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss.

The classification is determined by the cash flow and business model characteristics of the financial assets, as set out in IFRS 9, 

and is determined at the time of initial recognition.
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1.30.1 Financial Assets at Amortised cost

Financial assets measured at amortised cost are those held within a business model whose objective is achieved by collecting 

contractual cash flows  and where the cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest. This includes most trade 

receivables and other simple debt instruments.  After initial recognition these financial assets are measured at amortised cost 

using the effective interest method less any impairment.  The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated 

future cash receipts through the life of the financial asset to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset.

1.30.2 Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income

Financial assets held at fair value through other comprehensive income are those held within a business model whose objective is 

achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets and where the cash flows are solely payments of 

principal and interest.

1.30.3 Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss

Financial assets measure at fair value through profit and loss are those that are not otherwise measured at amortised cost or fair 

value through other comprehensive income.  This includes derivatives and financial assets acquired principally for the purpose of 

selling in the short term.

1.30.4 Impairment

For all financial assets measured at amortised cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income (except equity instruments 

designated at fair value through other comprehensive income), lease receivables and contract assets, the clinical commissioning 

group recognises a loss allowance representing the expected credit losses on the financial asset.

The clinical commissioning group adopts the simplified approach to impairment in accordance with IFRS 9, and measures the loss 

allowance for trade receivables, lease receivables and contract assets at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses.  For 

other financial assets, the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses if the credit risk on the 

financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition (stage 2) and otherwise at an amount equal to 12 month 

expected credit losses (stage 1).

HM Treasury has ruled that central government bodies may not recognise stage 1 or stage 2 impairments against other government 

departments, their executive agencies, the Bank of England, Exchequer Funds and Exchequer Funds assets where repayment is 

ensured by primary legislation.  The clinical commissioning group therefore does not recognise loss allowances for stage 1 or 

stage 2 impairments against these bodies.  Additionally DHSC provides a guarantee of last resort against the debts of its arm's 

lengths bodies and NHS bodies and the clinical commissioning group does not recognise allowances for stage 1 or stage 2 

impairments against these bodies. 

For financial assets that have become credit impaired since initial recognition (stage 3), expected credit losses at the reporting 

date are measured as the difference between the asset's gross carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash 

flows discounted at the financial asset's original effective interest rate.  Any adjustment is recognised in profit or loss as an 

impairment gain or loss.

Upon a thorough review of IFRS 9 it became clear that the standard has no material impact on the 2018-19 accounts for NHS 

Portsmouth CCG

1.30.5 Loans & Receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments which are not quoted in an active 

market. After initial recognition, they are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment.  

Interest is recognised using the effective interest method.

Fair value is determined by reference to quoted market prices where possible, otherwise by valuation techniques.

The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial 

asset, to the initial fair value of the financial asset.

At the end of the reporting period, the Clinical Commissioning Group assesses whether any financial assets, other than those held 

at ‘fair value through profit and loss’ are impaired. Financial assets are impaired and impairment losses recognised if there is 

objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events which occurred after the initial recognition of the asset and which 

has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the asset.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment loss is measured as the difference between the 

asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the revised future cash flows discounted at the asset’s original effective interest 

rate. The loss is recognised in expenditure and the carrying amount of the asset is reduced through a provision for impairment of 

receivables.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event 

occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through expenditure to the 

extent that the carrying amount of the receivable at the date of the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortised 

cost would have been had the impairment not been recognised.
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1.31 Financial Liabilities

Financial liabilities are recognised on the statement of financial position when the clinical commissioning group becomes party to 

the contractual provisions of the financial instrument or, in the case of trade payables, when the goods or services have been 

received. Financial liabilities are de-recognised when the liability has been discharged, that is, the liability has been paid or has 

expired.

1.31.1 Financial Guarantee Contract Liabilities

The Clinical Commissioning Group did not hold any financial guarantee liability in 2018-19

1.31.2 Financial Liabilities at Fair Value Through Profit and Loss

Embedded derivatives that have different risks and characteristics to their host contracts, and contracts with embedded derivatives 

whose separate value cannot be ascertained, are treated as financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss. They are held at 

fair value, with any resultant gain or loss recognised in the clinical commissioning group’s surplus/deficit. The net gain or loss 

incorporates any interest payable on the financial liability.

1.31.3 Other Financial Liabilities

After initial recognition, all other financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, except for 

loans from Department of Health and Social Care, which are carried at historic cost. The effective interest rate is the rate that 

exactly discounts estimated future cash payments through the life of the asset, to the net carrying amount of the financial liability. 

Interest is recognised using the effective interest method.

1.32 Value Added Tax

Most of the activities of the clinical commissioning group are outside the scope of VAT and, in general, output tax does not apply 

and input tax on purchases is not recoverable. Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant expenditure category or included in the 

capitalised purchase cost of fixed assets. Where output tax is charged or input VAT is recoverable, the amounts are stated net of 

VAT.

1.33 Foreign Currencies

The Clinical Commissioning Group did not undertake any foreign currency transactions in 2018-19

1.34 Third Party Assets

The Clinical Commissioning Group does not hold any assets belonging to third parties.

1.35 Losses & Special Payments

Losses and special payments are items that Parliament would not have contemplated when it agreed funds for the health service or 

passed legislation. By their nature they are items that ideally should not arise. They are therefore subject to special control 

procedures compared with the generality of payments. They are divided into different categories, which govern the way that 

individual cases are handled.

Losses and special payments are charged to the relevant functional headings in expenditure on an accruals basis, including losses 

which would have been made good through insurance cover had the clinical commissioning group not been bearing its own risks 

(with insurance premiums then being included as normal revenue expenditure).

The Clinical Commissioning Group did not have any losses and special payments cases during 2018-19

1.36 Gifts

Gifts are items that are voluntarily donated, with no preconditions and without the expectation of any return. Gifts include all 

transactions economically equivalent to free and unremunerated transfers, such as the loan of an asset for its expected useful life, 

and the sale or lease of assets at below market value.

1.37 Accounting Standards That Have Been Issued But Have Not Yet Been Adopted

The DHSC GAM does not require the following IFRS Standards and Interpretations to be applied in 2018-19. These Standards are 

still subject to HM Treasury FReM adoption, with IFRS 16 being for implementation in 2019-20, and the government implementation 

date for IFRS 17 still subject to HM Treasury consideration.

● IFRS 16 Leases – Application required for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019, but not yet adopted by the 

FReM: early adoption is not therefore permitted.

● IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts – Application required for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021, but not yet 

adopted by the FReM: early adoption is not therefore permitted.

● IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments – Application required for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 

2019.
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NHS Portsmouth Clinical Commissioning Group - Annual Accounts 2018-19

2 Other Operating Revenue

2018-19 2017-18

Total Total

£'000 £'000

Income from sale of goods and services (contracts)

Education, training and research - -

Non-patient care services to other bodies* 1,593 1,784

Patient transport services - -

Prescription fees and charges - -

Dental fees and charges - -

Income generation - -

Other Contract income 967 1,601

Recoveries in respect of employee benefits - -

Total Income from sale of goods and services 2,560 3,384

Total Operating Income 2,560 3,384

3 Disaggregation of Income - Income from sale of good and services (contracts)

Non-patient 

care 

services to 

other bodies

Other 

Contract 

income

£'000 £'000

Source of Revenue

NHS 227 82

Non NHS 1,366 885

Total 1,593 967

Non-patient 

care 

services to 

other bodies

Other 

Contract 

income

£'000 £'000

Timing of Revenue

Point in time - -

Over time 1,593 967

Total 1,593 967

*2017-18 'Other non contract revenue' has been reclassified as 'Other contract income' due to the introduction 

of IFRS15 contract income definition in order to provide an accurate comparison to 2018-19 figures



114 
 

 

 

 

 

 

NHS Portsmouth Clinical Commissioning Group - Annual Accounts 2018-19

4. Employee benefits and staff numbers

4.1.1 Employee benefits
Permanent 

Employees Other Total

£'000 £'000 £'000

Employee Benefits

Salaries and wages 3,292 51 3,343

Social security costs 366 - 366

Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme 450 - 450

Other pension costs - - -

Apprenticeship Levy 5 - 5

Other post-employment benefits - - -

Other employment benefits - - -

Termination benefits - - -

Gross employee benefits expenditure 4,112 51 4,163

Less recoveries in respect of employee benefits (note 4.1.2) - - -

Total - Net admin employee benefits including capitalised costs 4,112 51 4,163

Less: Employee costs capitalised - - -

Net employee benefits excluding capitalised costs 4,112 51 4,163

4.1.1 Employee benefits

Permanent 

Employees Other Total

£'000 £'000 £'000

Employee Benefits

Salaries and wages 3,140 99 3,240

Social security costs 340 - 340

Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme 415 - 415

Other pension costs 0 - 0

Apprenticeship Levy 3 - 3

Other post-employment benefits - - -

Other employment benefits - - -

Termination benefits - - -

Gross employee benefits expenditure 3,898 99 3,997

Less recoveries in respect of employee benefits (note 4.1.2) - - -

Total - Net admin employee benefits including capitalised costs 3,898 99 3,997

Less: Employee costs capitalised - - -

Net employee benefits excluding capitalised costs 3,898 99 3,997

4.1.2 Recoveries in respect of employee benefits

There were no recoveries in respect of employee benefits during the year.

2018-19

2017-18
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NHS Portsmouth Clinical Commissioning Group - Annual Accounts 2018-19

4.2 Average number of people employed

Permanently 

employed Other Total

Permanently 

employed Other Total

Number Number Number Number Number Number

Total 60.41 13.24 73.65 60.22 14.87 75.09

4.3  Staff sickness absence and ill health retirements

2018-19 2017-18

Number Number

Total Days Lost 441 390

Total Staff Years 82 77

Average working Days Lost 5 5

4.4 Exit packages agreed in the financial year

2018-19 2017-18

There were no exit packages agreed by the Clinical 

Commissioning Group in the financial period.

There were no employees engaged in capital projects in 

2018-19 or in 2017-18.
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NHS Portsmouth Clinical Commissioning Group - Annual Accounts 2018-19

4.5 Pension costs

Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the two NHS Pension Schemes.  Details of the benefits payable and 

rules of the Schemes can be found on the NHS Pensions website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions.  Both are unfunded defined benefit 

schemes that cover NHS employers, GP practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State for Health in 

England and Wales. They are not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying 

scheme assets and liabilities. Therefore, each scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the 

NHS body of participating in each scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to that scheme for the accounting period.  

In order that the defined benefit obligations recognised in the financial statements do not differ materially from those that would be 

determined at the reporting date by a formal actuarial valuation, the FReM requires that “the period between formal valuations shall be 

four years, with approximate assessments in intervening years”. An outline of these follows:

4.5.1 Accounting valuation

A valuation of scheme liability is carried out annually by the scheme actuary (currently the Government Actuary’s Department) as at 

the end of the reporting period. This utilises an actuarial assessment for the previous accounting period in conjunction with updated 

membership and financial data for the current reporting period, and is accepted as providing suitably robust figures for financial 

reporting purposes. The valuation of the scheme liability as at 31 March 2019, is based on valuation data as 31 March 2018, updated 

to 31 March 2019 with summary global member and accounting data. In undertaking this actuarial assessment, the methodology 

prescribed in IAS 19, relevant FReM interpretations, and the discount rate prescribed by HM Treasury have also been used.

The latest assessment of the liabilities of the scheme is contained in the report of the scheme actuary, which forms part of the annual 

NHS Pension Scheme Accounts. These accounts can be viewed on the NHS Pensions website and are published annually. Copies 

can also be obtained from The Stationery Office.

4.5.2 Full actuarial (funding) valuation

The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits due under the schemes (taking into account 

recent demographic experience), and to recommend contribution rates payable by employees and employers. 

The latest actuarial valuation undertaken for the NHS Pension Scheme was completed as at 31 March 2016. The results of this 

valuation set the employer contribution rate payable from April 2019. The Department of Health and Social Care have recently laid 

Scheme Regulations confirming that the employer contribution rate will increase to 20.6% of pensionable pay from this date. 

The 2016 funding valuation was also expected to test the cost of the Scheme relative to the employer cost cap set following the 2012 

valuation. Following a judgment from the Court of Appeal in December 2018 Government announced a pause to that part of the 

valuation process pending conclusion of the continuing legal process. 

For 2018-19, employers’ contributions of £507,437 were payable to the NHS Pensions Scheme (2017-18: £464,107) were payable to

the NHS Pension Scheme at the rate of 14.38% of pensionable pay. The scheme’s actuary reviews employer contributions, usually

every four years and now based on HMT Valuation Directions, following a full scheme valuation. The latest review used data from 31

March 2012 and was published on the Government website on 9 June 2012. These costs are included in the NHS pension line of note

4.1.1.
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5. Operating expenses

2018-19 2017-18

Total Total

£'000 £'000

Purchase of goods and services

Services from other CCGs and NHS England 1,681 1,744

Services from foundation trusts 17,156 17,764

Services from other NHS trusts 182,599 178,892

Provider Sustainability Fund (Sustainability Transformation Fund 1718) - -

Services from Other WGA bodies 0 2

Purchase of healthcare from non-NHS bodies 50,685 45,937

Purchase of social care - -

General Dental services and personal dental services - -

Prescribing costs 31,289 32,681

Pharmaceutical services 124 113

General Ophthalmic services 43 18

GPMS/APMS and PCTMS 29,044 28,456

Supplies and services – clinical - -

Supplies and services – general 449 414

Consultancy services - 34

Establishment 458 457

Transport - 0

Premises 2,934 2,637

Audit fees* 41 41

Other non statutory audit expenditure

·          Internal audit services 29 29

·          Other services 10 -

Other professional fees 5 6

Legal fees 2 4

Education, training and conferences 82 61

Funding to group bodies - -

CHC Risk Pool contributions - -

 Total Purchase of goods and services 316,632 309,290

Depreciation and impairment charges

Depreciation 39 39

Total Depreciation and impairment charges 39 39

Provision expense

Provisions - 15

Total Provision expense - 15

Other Operating Expenditure

Chair and Non Executive Members 146 133

Grants to Other bodies 141 71

Total Other Operating Expenditure 287 203

Total operating expenditure 316,958 309,547

The auditor's liability for external audit work carried out for the financial year 2018/19 is limited to £500,000.

*Audit fees include VAT chargeable at 20%.  The net Audit Fee charged in 2018/19 is £34,000.
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NHS Portsmouth Clinical Commissioning Group - Annual Accounts 2018-19

6.1 Better Payment Practice Code

Measure of compliance 2018-19 2018-19 2017-18 2017-18

Number £'000 Number £'000

Non-NHS Payables

Total Non-NHS Trade invoices paid in the Year 4,645         80,665       4,592         75,166          

Total Non-NHS Trade Invoices paid within target 4,625         80,480       4,546         73,138          

Percentage of Non-NHS Trade invoices paid within target 99.57% 99.77% 99.00% 97.30%

NHS Payables

Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid in the Year 2,492         203,373     2,519         197,129        

Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid within target 2,483         202,954     2,498         196,856        

Percentage of NHS Trade Invoices paid within target 99.64% 99.79% 99.17% 99.86%

6.2 The Late Payment of Commercial Debts (Interest) Act 1998

The Clinical Commissioning Group did not incur any late payment charges during the financial period.

7. Income Generation Activities

The Clinical Commissioning Group did not undertake any income generating activities during the financial period.

8. Investment revenue

The Clinical Commissioning Group did not receive any investment income during the financial period.

9. Other gains and losses

The Clinical Commissioning Group did not experience any gains or other losses during the financial period.

10. Finance costs

The Clinical Commissioning Group did not incur any finance costs during the financial period.
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11. Net gain/(loss) on transfer by absorption

12. Operating Leases

12.1 As lessee

NHS Portsmouth CCG has entered into a lease with Portsmouth City Council over five years from February 2016 at a cost of £222k per annum.

12.1.1 Payments recognised as an Expense 2018-19 2017-18

Buildings Other Total Buildings Other Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Payments recognised as an expense

Minimum lease payments 2,915 6 2,921 2,626 5 2,631

Contingent rents - - - - - -

Sub-lease payments - - - - - -

Total 2,915 6 2,921 2,626 5 2,631

12.1.2 Future minimum lease payments 2018-19 2017-18

Buildings Other Total Buildings Other Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Payable:

No later than one year 222 1 223 222 5 227

Between one and five years 194 - 194 638 6 644

After five years - - - - - -

Total 416 1 417 860 11 871

12.2 As lessor

The Clinical Commissioning Group did not undertake any transfers of assets or liabilities as part 

of a reorganisation which required the adoption of absorption during the period.

Whilst our arrangements with NHS Property Services Limited fall within the definition of operating leases, rental charge for future years has not yet been 

agreed . Consequently this note does not include future minimum lease payments for the arrangements only

The Clinical Commissioning Group did not enter into any arrangements in the period that would constitute the Clinical Commissioning Group as being the 

lessor.
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13 Property, plant and equipment

2018-19

Information 

technology

Furniture & 

fittings Total 

£'000 £'000 £'000

Cost or valuation at 01 April 2018 77 119 195

Cost/Valuation at 31 March 2019 77 119 195

Depreciation 01 April 2018 54 24 78

Reclassifications* (24) 24 -

Charged during the year 15 24 39

Depreciation at 31 March 2019 46 71 117

Net Book Value at 31 March 2019 31 47 78

Purchased 31 47 78

Total at 31 March 2019 31 47 78

Asset financing:

Owned 31 47 78

Total at 31 March 2019 31 47 78

2017-18

Information 

technology

Furniture & 

fittings Total 

£'000 £'000 £'000

Cost or valuation at 01 April 2017 77 119 195

Cost/Valuation at 31 March 2018 77 119 195

Depreciation 01 April 2017 15 24 39

Charged during the year 39 - 39

Depreciation at 31 March 2018 54 24 78

Net Book Value at 31 March 2018 22 95 117

Purchased 22 95 117

Total at 31 March 2018 22 95 117

Asset financing:

Owned 22 95 117

Total at 31 March 2018 22 95 117

*Prior year depreciation has been adjusted across categories in accordance with remaining economic life

13.1 Economic lives

Minimum Life 

(years)

Maximum Life 

(Years)

Information technology 5 5

Furniture & fittings 5 5

Assets relate to the refurbishment of the office accommodation within the Civic Offices in order to relocate the 

Clinical Commissioning Group Headquarters. Assets are being depreciated over the 5 year duration of the 

proposed lease on a straight-line basis. There are 2 years of economic life remaining as at 31st March 2019.
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14 Intangible non-current assets

The Clinical Commissioning Group held no Intangible non-current assets during the financial period.

15 Investment property

The Clinical Commissioning Group held no investment property during the financial period.

16 Inventories

The Clinical Commissioning Group held no inventories during the financial period.
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17.1  Trade and other receivables Current Non-current Current Non-current

2018-19 2018-19 2017-18 2017-18

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

NHS receivables: Revenue 390 - 282 -

NHS receivables: Capital - - - -

NHS prepayments 965 - 1,045 -

NHS accrued income - - 615 -

NHS Contract Receivable not yet invoiced/non-invoice 534 - - -

NHS Non Contract trade receivable (i.e pass through funding) - - - -

NHS Contract Assets - - - -

Non-NHS and Other WGA receivables: Revenue 1,100 - 745 -

Non-NHS  and Other WGA receivables: Capital - - - -

Non-NHS and Other WGA prepayments 241 - 114 -

Non-NHS and Other WGA accrued income - - 237 -

Non-NHS and Other WGA Contract Receivable not yet  invoiced/non-invoice 104 - - -

Non-NHS and Other WGA Non Contract trade receivable (i.e pass through 

funding) - - - -

Non-NHS Contract Assets - - - -

Expected credit loss allowance-receivables - - - -

VAT 17 - 16 -

Other receivables and accruals 3 - 8 -

Total Trade & other receivables 3,354 - 3,061 -

Total current and non current 3,354 3,061

Included above:

Prepaid pensions contributions - -

17.2 Receivables past their due date but not impaired

2018-19 2018-19 2017-18 2017-18

DHSC 

Group 

Bodies

Non DHSC 

Group 

Bodies

DHSC 

Group 

Bodies

Non DHSC 

Group 

Bodies

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

By up to three months - 192 - 134

By three to six months 1 - - 167

By more than six months - - 50 -

Total 1 192 50 301

The Clinical Commissioning Group has not provided for the impairment of any of it's receivables as at the 31st March 2019.

17.3 Impact of Application of IFRS 9 on financial assets at 1 April 2018

Trade and 

other 

receivables -

NHSE 

bodies

Trade and 

other 

receivables - 

other DHSC 

group 

bodies

Trade and 

other 

receivables 

- external

Other 

financial 

assets

Total

£000s £000s £000s £000s £000s

Classification under IAS 39 as at 31st March 2018

Financial Assets held at FVTPL - - - - -

Financial Assets held at Amortised cost 258 - 897 982 2,137

Financial assets held at FVOCI - - - - -

Total at 31st March 2018 258 - 897 982 2,137

Classification under IFRS 9 as at 1st April 2018

Financial Assts designated to FVTPL - - - - -

Financial Assets mandated to FVTPL - - - - -

Financial Assets measured at amortised cost 258 - 897 982 2,137

Financial Assets measured at FVOCI - - - - -

Total at 1st April 2018 258 - 897 982 2,137

Changes due to change in measurement attribute - - - - -

Other changes - - - - -

Change in carrying amount - - - - -
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18 Other financial assets

The Clinical Commissioning Group held no other financial assets during the financial period.

19 Other current assets

The Clinical Commissioning Group held no other assets during the financial period.

20 Cash and cash equivalents

2018-19 2017-18

£'000 £'000

Balance at 01 April 2018 258 154

Net change in year (39) 105

Balance at 31 March 2019 219 258

Made up of:

Cash with the Government Banking Service - -

Cash with Commercial banks 219 258

Cash in hand - -

Current investments - -

Cash and cash equivalents as in statement of financial position 219 258

Bank overdraft: Government Banking Service - -

Bank overdraft: Commercial banks - -

Total bank overdrafts - -

Balance at 31 March 2019 219 258

The Clinical Commissioning Group did not hold any patient monies throughout 

the financial period. - -

21 Non-current assets held for sale

The Clinical Commissioning Group held no non-current assets held for sale during the financial period.

22 Analysis of impairments and reversals

The Clinical Commissioning Group did not incur any impairments or reversals during the financial period.
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Current Non-current Current Non-current

2018-19 2018-19 2017-18 2017-18

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Interest payable - - - -

NHS payables: Revenue 2,814 - 3,533 -

NHS payables: Capital - - - -

NHS accruals 2,459 - 2,027 -

NHS deferred income - - - -

NHS Contract Liabilities - - - -

Non-NHS and Other WGA payables: Revenue 2,162 - 2,011 -

Non-NHS and Other WGA payables: Capital - - - -

Non-NHS and Other WGA accruals 11,526 - 9,047 -

Non-NHS and Other WGA deferred income - - - -

Non-NHS Contract Liabilities - - - -

Social security costs 60 - 54 -

VAT - - - -

Tax 49 - 43 -

Payments received on account - - - -

Other payables and accruals 306 - 502 -

Total Trade & Other Payables 19,376 - 17,217 -

Total current and non-current 19,376 17,217

Other payables include £233,910 outstanding pension contributions at 31 March 2019 (£304,521 at 31 March 2018)

24 Other financial liabilities

The Clinical Commissioning Group held no other financial liabilities during the financial period.

25 Other liabilities

The Clinical Commissioning Group held no other liabilities during the financial period.

26 Borrowings

The Clinical Commissioning Group held no borrowings during the financial period.

27 Private finance initiative, LIFT and other service concession arrangements

The Clinical Commissioning Group held no Private Finance Initiative, LIFT or other service concession.

28 Finance lease obligations

The Clinical Commissioning Group held no finance lease obligations during the financial period.

29 Finance lease receivables

The Clinical Commissioning Group held no finance lease receivables during the financial period.

23 Trade and other payables
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30   Provisions

Current Non-current Current Non-current

2018-19 2018-19 2017-18 2017-18

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Pensions relating to former directors - - - -

Pensions relating to other staff - - - -

Restructuring - - - -

Redundancy - - - -

Agenda for change - - - -

Equal pay - - - -

Legal claims - - - -

Continuing care - - - -

Other 326 - 326 -

Total 326 - 326 -

Total current and non-current 326 326

Other Total

£'000 £'000

Balance at 01 April 2018 326 326

Arising during the year - -

Utilised during the year - -

Reversed unused - -

Unwinding of discount - -

Change in discount rate - -

Transfer (to) from other public sector body - -

Transfer (to) from other public sector body under absorption - -

Balance at 31 March 2019 326 326

Expected timing of cash flows:

Within one year 326 326

Between one and five years - -

After five years - -

Balance at 31 March 2019 326 326

The reported provision relates to an ongoing HMRC investigation into the employment classification of off-payroll employees which 

commenced in February 2017 but relates to the period April 2013-March 2016.  The provision has been held during 2018-19 as the 

investigation outcome is still awaited.  It is anticipated that this matter will be concluded during 2019-20.
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31 Contingencies

The Clinical Commissioning Group held no contingencies as at 31st March 2019.

32 Commitments

The Clinical Commissioning Group held no capital commitments or other non cancellable financial commitments as at 31st March 2019.

33 Financial instruments

33.1 Financial risk management

33.1.1 Currency risk

33.1.2 Interest rate risk

33.1.3 Credit risk

33.1.4 Liquidity risk

33.1.5 Financial Instruments

NHS clinical commissioning group is required to operate within revenue and capital resource limits, which are financed from resources voted 

annually by Parliament. The NHS clinical commissioning group draws down cash to cover expenditure, as the need arises. The NHS clinical 

commissioning group is not, therefore, exposed to significant liquidity risks.

As the cash requirements of NHS England are met through the Estimate process, financial instruments play a more limited role in creating and 

managing risk than would apply to a non-public sector body.  The majority of financial instruments relate to contracts to buy non-financial items 

in line with NHS England's expected purchase and usage requirements and NHS England is therefore exposed to little credit, liquidity or 

market risk.

Financial reporting standard IFRS 7 requires disclosure of the role that financial instruments have had during the period in creating or changing 

the risks a body faces in undertaking its activities.

Because NHS clinical commissioning group is financed through parliamentary funding, it is not exposed to the degree of financial risk faced by 

business entities. Also, financial instruments play a much more limited role in creating or changing risk than would be typical of listed 

companies, to which the financial reporting standards mainly apply. The clinical commissioning group has limited powers to borrow or invest 

surplus funds and financial assets and liabilities are generated by day-to-day operational activities rather than being held to change the risks 

facing the clinical commissioning group in undertaking its activities.

Treasury management operations are carried out by the finance department, within parameters defined formally within the NHS clinical 

commissioning group standing financial instructions and policies agreed by the Governing Body. Treasury activity is subject to review by the 

NHS clinical commissioning group and internal auditors.

The NHS clinical commissioning group is principally a domestic organisation with the great majority of transactions, assets and liabilities being 

in the UK and sterling based. The NHS clinical commissioning group has no overseas operations. The NHS clinical commissioning group and 

therefore has low exposure to currency rate fluctuations.

The clinical commissioning group borrows from government for capital expenditure, subject to affordability as confirmed by NHS England. The 

borrowings are for 1 to 25 years, in line with the life of the associated assets, and interest is charged at the National Loans Fund rate, fixed for 

the life of the loan. The clinical commissioning group therefore has low exposure to interest rate fluctuations.

Because the majority of the NHS clinical commissioning group and revenue comes parliamentary funding, NHS clinical commissioning group 

has low exposure to credit risk. The maximum exposures as at the end of the financial year are in receivables from customers, as disclosed in 

the trade and other receivables note.
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33 Financial instruments cont'd

33.2 Financial assets

Financial Assets 

measured at 

amortised cost

Equity Instruments 

designated at 

FVOCI Total Total

2018-19 2018-19 2018-19 2017-18

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Equity investment in group bodies - - -

Equity investment in external bodies - - -

Loans receivable with group bodies - - -

Loans receivable with external bodies - - -

Trade and other receivables with NHSE bodies 388 388 774

Trade and other receivables with other DHSC group bodies 573 573 123

Trade and other receivables with external bodies 1,168 1,168 982

Other financial assets 3 3 8

Cash and cash equivalents 219 219 258

Total at 31 March 2019 2,350 - 2,350 2,145

33.3 Financial liabilities

Financial 

Liabilities 

measured at 

amortised cost Other Total Total

2018-19 2018-19 2018-19 2017-18

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Loans with group bodies - - -

Loans with external bodies - - -

Trade and other payables with NHSE bodies 337 337 476

Trade and other payables with other DHSC group bodies 10,433 10,433 5,084

Trade and other payables with external bodies 8,193 8,193 11,560

Other financial liabilities 306 306 -

Private Finance Initiative and finance lease obligations - -

Total at 31 March 2019 19,267 - 19,267 17,120

34 Operating Segments

The nature of the Clinical Commissioning Group's service is the commissioning of healthcare services. Accordingly, the Clinical 

Commissioning Group operates a single segment: Healthcare.
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35 Joint arrangements - interests in joint operations

The CCG has disclosed information in relation to joint arrangements below.

35.1 Interests in joint operations

Name of arrangement
Parties to the 

arrangement

Description of 

principal activities
Expenditure Expenditure

£'000 £'000

Better Care Fund
NHS Portsmouth CCG and 

Portsmouth City Council

Joint health and social 

care initiatives
                   18,531                     18,364 

Continuing Care
NHS Portsmouth CCG and 

Portsmouth City Council

Continuing Healthcare 

Pooled Budget
                   18,299                     16,702 

Health and Care Portsmouth 

Commissioning

NHS Portsmouth CCG and 

Portsmouth City Council

Single integrated 

commissioning  team
                        267                         300 

36 NHS Lift investments

The Clinical Commissioning Group had no LIFT investments during the financial period.

Amounts 

recognised in 

Entities books 

ONLY

Amounts 

recognised in 

Entities books 

ONLY

2018-19 2017-18
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37 Related party transactions

Payments 

to 

Related 

Party

Receipts 

from 

Related 

Party

Amounts 

owed to 

Related 

Party

Amounts 

due from 

Related 

Party

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Portsmouth Primary Care Alliance Ltd 2,793 0 0 0

NHS England

NHS Foundation Trusts

NHS Trusts 

NHS Commissioning Support Units

NHS Litigation Authority

NHS Business Services Authority

2018-19 

Payments 

to 

Related 

2017-18 

Payments 

to Related 

Party

£'000

Queens Road Surgery 0 179            

Trafalgar Medical Group *# 2,417      1,940         

Craneswater Group Practice * 1,375      1,364         

Southsea Medical Centre 1,024      1,067         

Kirklands Surgery 923         883            

Lake Road Practice * 1,845      1,900         

Sunnyside Surgery * 1,654      1,537         

Drayton Surgery 2,358      1,987         

North Harbour Medical Group 1,004      982            

Hanway Group Practice 1,546      1,448         

Derby Road Group Practice 1,408      1,299         

Portsdown Group Practice 5,558      5,465         

Devonshire Practice 676         637            

John Pounds Surgery* 641         988            

East Shore Partnership * 1,670      1,612         

The University Surgery 1,538      1,435         

Eastney Health Centre *# 150         588            

Guildhall Walk Centre Practice 961         957

* Practice representatives work as part of the Clinical Executive Team

# Eastney Health Centre merged with Trafalger Medical Group during 2018-19

As of 1st April 2015 the Clinical Commissioning Group accepted delegated co-commissioning arrangements whereby 

spend has been transferred to the Clinical Commissioning Group by NHS England. This expenditure is shown within 

the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure statement.

The transactions listed below are in relation to GP practice members listed within the constitution for expenditure in 

relation to the delegated Co-Commissioning and Primary Care Commissioning arrangements.

Details of related party transactions with individuals are as follows:

Portsmouth Primary Care Alliance Ltd has related transactions with the following individuals: Dr Linda Collie, Dr Anne Eggins, Dr Elizabeth 

Fellows, Dr Jonathan Lake, Dr Nicholas Moore, Dr Jonathan Price and Dr Kevin Vernon.

The Department of Health is regarded as a related party. During the year the Clinical Commissioning Group has had a significant number of 

material transactions with entities for which the Department is regarded as the parent department, for example:

The Clinical Commissioning Group had a significant number of transactions with Portsmouth Hospitals NHS Trust and Solent NHS 

Trust.

In addition, the Clinical Commissioning Group has had a number of material transactions with other government 

departments and other central and local government bodies. Most of the these transactions have been with 

Portsmouth City Council. 



130 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

NHS Portsmouth Clinical Commissioning Group - Annual Accounts 2018-19

38 Events after the end of the reporting period

39 Third party assets

The Clinical Commissioning Group held no third party assets during the financial period.

40 Financial performance targets

NHS Clinical Commissioning Group have a number of financial duties under the NHS Act 2006 (as amended).

NHS Clinical Commissioning Group performance against those duties was as follows:

2018-19 2018-19

Target Performance

Achieved / 

Unachieved

Expenditure not to exceed income 329,379 321,121 8,258

Capital resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions - -

Revenue resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions 326,819 318,560 8,259

Capital resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed the amount specified in 

Directions - -

Revenue resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed the amount specified in 

Directions 28,824 27,380 1,444

Revenue administration resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions 4,717 4,181 536

2017-18 2017-18

Target Performance

Expenditure not to exceed income 321,278 313,544 7,734

Capital resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions - -

Revenue resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions 317,894 310,160 7,734

Capital resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed the amount specified in 

Directions - -

Revenue resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed the amount specified in 

Directions 28,278 26,692 1,586

Revenue administration resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions 4,683 4,381 302

The in-year underspend against the CCG's resource limit was £526k

41 Impact of IFRS

There was no impact on the results of the Clinical Commissioning Group during the period as 

a result of accounting under IFRS.

42 Analysis of charitable reserves

The Clinical Commissioning group held no charitable reserves during the financial period.

There were no events after the end of the reporting period that had a material effect on the financial statements.

Surplus 

(Deficit)

Surplus 

(Deficit)
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SECTION 6 GLOSSARY 

Some of the terms used in this report may be ones that you are not familiar with. This guide 
may help… 
 
  

A&E Accident and Emergency Department, often referred to now as 
the Emergency Department or ED 

A&E Four Hour Target A nationally set target requiring 95% patients attending an A&E 
department to be seen, treated, admitted or discharged in under 
four hours. 

ACS/Accountable Care System Accountable Care System – a group of NHS care provider 
organisations and commissioners working together to provide 
care to local people over a particular geographical area – in our 
case Portsmouth, South Eastern Hampshire and 
Fareham/Gosport. Can sometimes also be referred to as a Local 
Delivery System (LDS). Accountable Care Systems might further 
evolve into Accountable Care Organisations at some point in the 
future (ie a single employing entity for everyone working in an 
ACS.) The NHS Five Year Forward View Next Steps document 
provides more information. 

BCF Better Care Fund 

Better Local Care The name given to the programme of work in our CCG area to 
develop new models of care,  uner our MCP vanguard 
programme, particularly in bringing primary and community care 
to work more closely together. 

BME Black and minority ethnic 

CAMHS Child and adolescent mental health services 

CCG Clinical Commissioning Group 

CHC NHS continuing healthcare  

COMPACT This is the term that refers to three CCGs in the South East 
Hampshire working collectively together. The COMPACT is a 
formal agreement signed by all three. 

COPD Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease 

CQC Care Quality Commission  

CQUIN Commissioning for Quality and Innovation Payment – allows 
commissioners to reward excellence, by linking a proportion 
healthcare providers' income to the achievement of local quality 
improvement goals. 

CSU Commissioning Support Unit 

ED Emergency Department (see A&E above) 

E&D Equality and diversity 

EIA Equality Impact Assessment 

EPRR Emergency Preparedness, Resilience and Response – how we 
plan to respond to major incidents or intense pressure on 
services 

Equality delivery system Linked to the Public Sector Equality Duty, this is a tool that helps 
local NHS organisations review and improve their performance 
for people with characteristics protected by the Equality Act 
2010. 

ESR Electronic staff record 

FOI Freedom of Information  

FFT Friends and family test 

FT Foundation Trust 
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FTE Full time equivalent (for staff purposes) – sometimes referred to 
as Whole Time Equivalent (WTE) 

FYFV (also 5YFV) NHS Five Year Forward View document 

Governing Board/Governing Body All CCGs are required to have a Governing Body and locally we 
refer to ours as a Governing Board. 

GBAF Governing Body Assurance Framework 

GMS General medical services (contract) 

GP General Practitioner 

HASC/HOSP Local authority monitoring and scrutiny bodies – the Hampshire 
Health and Adult Social Care Select Committee and the 
Portsmouth Health Overview and Scrutiny Panel. 

Health and Care Portsmouth/HCP The name given to the programme of work in Portsmouth to 
develop new models of care, particularly in bringing primary and 
community care to work more closely together. 

Health and Wellbeing Board A forum where key leaders from the health and care system 
work together to improve the health and wellbeing of their local 
population and reduce health inequalities. 
 

HCAI/CDIFF Health Care Acquired Infection (one such example is CDIFF or 
clostridium difficile) 

ICP Integrated Care Partnership - a partnership for Portsmouth and 
South East Hampshire which includes all NHS providers (including 
primary care) delivering health services for people for the area. 
Local authorities are also involved. 

IG Information Governance 

IT/ICT Information technology/Information Communications 
Technology. However ICT can also refer to our Integrated 
Commissioning Team which is developing closer working links 
between health and local authority commissioners. 

JSNA Joint Strategic Needs Assessment 

LA Local authority 

LES Local enhanced service 

LMC  Local medical committee 

LSP Local strategic partnership 

MAU Medical assessment unit 

MCP/Multi-specialty community 
provider 

Multispecialty community providers (MCPs) and integrated 
primary and acute care systems (PACSs) are both population-
based new care models that aim to improve the physical, mental 
and social health and wellbeing of their local population. Both 
are based around the general practice registered list, and apply a 
new model of enhanced primary and community care. 

MCP contract The fully integrated MCP contract will be the means by which 
new models of care will be delivered in future. It is essentially a 
new streamlined hybrid of the NHS standard contract and a 
contract for primary medical services. It will set national and 
local service requirements and standards. Contract duration will 
be much longer than is usual for an NHS standard contract: 10 or 
15 years. 

MIU Minor injuries unit 

NHSE NHS England 

NHS Five Year Forward View The NHS Five Year Forward View, published in October 2014, sets 
out a vision for the future of the NHS. It articulates why change is 
needed, and how we can achieve it, defining the actions required 
at local and national level to support delivery. 

NHS Long Term Plan Successor publication to the NHS Five Year Forward View 
published in January 2019 by NHS England. More information is 
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available here. 

NHS South, Central and West 
Commissioning Support Unit (CSU) 

The body that provides a range of support services to CCGs in the 
Hampshire area, including Portsmouth 

OOH Out of hours 

PACS/Primary and Acute Care System Multispecialty community providers (MCPs) and integrated 
primary and acute care systems (PACSs) are both population-
based new care models that aim to improve the physical, mental 
and social health and wellbeing of their local population. Both 
are based around the general practice registered list, and apply a 
new model of enhanced primary and community care. 

PAM Patient activation measure 

PAS Patient administration system 

PCN Primary care network (see NHS Long Term Plan Jan 2019) 

PDP Personal development plan 

PFI Private finance initiative 

PHE Public Health England 

PHT Portsmouth Hospitals NHS Trust – provider of acute health 
services locally 

PMS Personal medical services 

Portsmouth Primary Care 
Alliance/PPCA 

A formal body representing the interests of GP practices in the 
city 

PPE/PPI Patient and public engagement/involvement 

Public Sector Equality Duty The duty came into force in April 2011 and covers age, disability, 
gender, gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, race, 
religion or belief and sexual orientation. In summary, those 
subject to the general equality duty must have due regard to the 
need to: 

- Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and 
victimisation 

- Advance equality of opportunity between different 
groups 

- Foster good relations between different groups 
 

QIPP The Quality, Innovation, Productivity and Prevention (QIPP) 
programme drives forward quality improvements in NHS care, at 
the same time as ensuring efficiency savings. 

QOF Quality and outcomes framework 

RAG Red, amber, green assessment rating 

RTT Referral to treatment – a nationally set target. The Referral to 
Treatment (RTT) operational standards are that 90 per cent of 
admitted and 95 percent of non-admitted patients should start 
consultant-led treatment within 18 weeks of referral 

SCAS South Central Ambulance Service 

Section 75 agreement An agreement made under section 75 of National Health Services 
Act 2006 between a local authority and an NHS body in England. 
Section 75 agreements can include arrangements for pooling 
resources and delegating certain NHS and local authority health-
related functions to the other partner(s) if it would lead to an 
improvement in the way those functions are exercised. 

SIRI Serious incident requiring investigation 

SLA Service level agreement 

STP/Sustainability and Transformation 
Plan/Partnership 

NHS Shared Planning Guidance in 2016 asked every local health 
and care system in England to come together to create their own 
ambitious local plan for accelerating the implementation of the 
Five Year Forward View (5YFV). These blueprints, called 
Sustainability and Transformation Plans (STPs), will be place-

https://www.england.nhs.uk/long-term-plan/
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based, multi-year plans built around the needs of local 
populations. STPs will help drive a genuine and sustainable 
transformation in health and care outcomes between 2016 and 
2021. Our local plan covers Hampshire and the Isle of Wight. 
The NHS Five Year Forward View Next Steps document refers to 
Sustainability and Transformation Partnerships – these will 
oversee the national move towards more integrated care, at a 
local level. 

STP footprint See above. The ‘footprint’ reference denotes the geographical 
area covered by each separate STP. 

SystmOne The shared patient record system used in the city 

TARGET Local training sessions for GPs. 

Vanguard/MCP Vanguard The CCG was selected as one of 14 national MCP Vanguard sites 
(see Better Local Care) to be at the forefront of work to deliver 
new models of care that met with the aspirations set out in the 
NHS Five Year Forward View. 

WGA Whole Government Accounts 

WRES Workforce race equality standard 
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If you would like to get in touch… 
 
We value your views on your local NHS. We particularly welcome comments about all 

patient services, as these help us to monitor the quality of the services we commission and 

to make improvements. 

 

We would also be interested in your views on this annual report so we can improve it next 

time. You can also request this annual report in the following versions: 

 

Translated 

Large print 

Braille 

Audio 

 
You can contact us through our website 

www.portsmouthccg.nhs.uk 

or by emailing us at 

pccg.enquiries@nhs.net 

You can also follow us on Twitter 

@nhsportsmouthccg 

 

If you are interested in getting involved in helping us plan, develop and deliver NHS services 

in the Portsmouth area why not join our online Healthy Discussions group or join a Patient 

Participation group through your GP surgery. Details are on our website. 

 
NHS Portsmouth CCG 
CCG Headquarters, 4th Floor, 1 Guildhall Square, Portsmouth, PO1 2GJ 

 

 

mailto:pccg.enquiries@nhs.net

